

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Social Capital and Food Insecurity in Two Counties in Wisconsin

Yvonne Denise Greer Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons, and the Quantitative, Qualitative, Comparative, and Historical Methodologies Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Sciences and Public Policy

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Yvonne Greer

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Patrick Tschida, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Hebatullah Tawfik, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. Michael Furukawa, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Social Capital and Food Insecurity in Two Counties in Wisconsin

By

Yvonne D. Greer

MPH, University of Minnesota, 2000

BS, University of Wisconsin - Stevens Point, 1976

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Public Health

Walden University

November 2022

Abstract

Hunger and food insecurity are public health issues, with 38 million people in the US struggling with food hardship. This study examined if there was a relationship between four types of social capital (SC) (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, and community structural-informal), income, and food insecurity risk (FIR), in two counties in Wisconsin. A quantitative descriptive correlational study design involving multiple linear regression analysis, and the integral model framework was conducted with crosssectional secondary data from the 2014-2016 Survey of the Health of Wisconsin. Participants were from Milwaukee (n = 335) and Dane County (n = 235). Results revealed that in Milwaukee County, community structural formal SC (e.g., WIC, SHARE) was positively associated ($\beta = .135$, p = .015) with FIS risk, while community structural informal SC (e.g., farmers market, supermarkets) was inversely associated ($\beta =$ -.190, p = .028) with FIS risk. In Dane County, only bonding SC was inversely associated $(\beta = -.283, p < .001)$ with FIS risk. When examining income, social capital, and food insecurity risk, for both Milwaukee (MIL) and Dane (DA) County, significant inverse correlations were found for bonding SC (MIL, $\beta = -.152$, p =.025), (DA, $\beta = -.178$, p = .024); 200% of federal poverty level & below (MIL, $\beta = -.346$, p < .001), (DA, $\beta = -.418$, p < .001); and education attained, (MIL, $\beta = -.187$, p = .013), (DA, $\beta = -.157$, p = .021). By adopting targeted actions into nutrition and health practice that enhance the food insecure's bonding relationships, sense of belonging, awareness/access to community food resources, and self-efficacy, while promoting public policy reforms for greater education attained and a living wage, positive social change can be achieved.

Social Capital and Food Insecurity in Two Counties in Wisconsin

by

Yvonne D. Greer

MPH, University of Minnesota, 2000

BS, University of Wisconsin - Stevens Point, 1976

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Public Health

Walden University

November 2022

Dedication

This research is dedicated to my Mom and Dad for helping me to dream of the possibilities of what I could accomplish from a very young age.

My mother, Louise McKinnie, my first health and nutrition teacher, helped me to explore the health professions that I could pursue after I told her that I wanted to reach as many people as possible to help them to live long and healthy lives.

My dad, Henry X (aka, Abdul Wali Suluki) always spoke of the importance of getting a college education and encouraged me to dream big. He proclaimed that by dreaming big you can accomplish great things, versus dreaming small, you will never accomplish anything.

These two individuals provided me with the strong foundation needed to excel and to always believe that I could accomplish whatever my mind could envision despite any obstacles that may arise.

Thank you both for your direction, support, and unconditional love!

Acknowledgments

Thanks to the entire Walden University faculty and administrators who shared their knowledge and encouragement, especially Dr. Gregory Breedon, Dr. Kashef Ijaz, Dr. Donna L. White, and Dr. Zin Htway. My Chair, Dr. Patrick A. Tschida, was so knowledgeable and supportive. Thanks for your patience and understanding. Committee members, Dr. Vibha Kumar, Dr. Heba Tawfik, and URR, Dr. Michael Furukawa, thanks for your swift and thorough reviews, and clear directives. Dr. Nancy K. Rea, Program Director DrPH and PhD Programs, and Dr. Tammy L. Root, Academic Research Coordinator, thanks for being so approachable and listening, without judgement.

And, Jacob Mays, my amazing SPSS Video Tutor, your expertise was so essential to completion of my data analysis. What a blessing you were on my doctoral journey.

To family and friends, all were a source of support and encouragement. However, I will give a heartfelt "shout out" to these three. First, to my daughter, Vanessa D. Johnson, thanks for pushing me in the right direction when I wanted to give up; having faith that I could do this! You inspired me to continue. Next to my son and IT guy, Duane A. Greer, II, thanks for being a lifesaver when my computer crashed and getting me back up and running in less than a day. Your calm demeanor and practical advice always keep me grounded. And finally, to my dear grade school friend, Deborah (Zollicoffer) Dills, your steadfast support, and weekly calls, let me know that there are unique bonds that can't be broken with distance or time. Thanks for always being in my corner and a sounding board when I needed a sympathetic ear.

Table of Contents

List of Figures
Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review
Background of the Problem
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses 24
Theoretical or Conceptual Framework
Definitions of Terms
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations
Assumptions
Limitations
Delimitations
Significance of the Study
Reduction of Gaps
Implications for Social Change45

A Review of Professional and Academic Literature	46
Literature Review	47
Transition and Summary	111
Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection	112
Research Design and Rationale	113
Methodology	120
Data Organization Techniques	132
Research Questions and Hypotheses	160
Reliability and Threats to Validity	163
Reliability	163
Validity	164
Transition and Summary	165
Section 3: Presentation of Results and Findings	166
Overview of Study	167
Presentation of the Findings	168
Transition and Summary	195
Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change	196

Implications for Social Change	203
Recommendations for Action	207
Recommendations for Further Study	212
Reflections	215
Summary and Study Conclusions	218
References	220
Appendix A: Notification of Approval to Proceed to Final Study Stage	274
Appendix B: SHOW Student Research Application and Approval Letter	278
Appendix C: Number of Children and Number of People in the Household	288
Appendix D: Data Dictionary Table for SCFIS Analysis	291
Appendix E: SHOW Data Summary	307

List of Tables

Table 1. Descriptions of Food Security & Insecurity Categories	
Table 2. Social Determinants of Health	65
Table 3. Household Budget for Raising a Young Child in a Two Child House	ehold at
Various Income Levels	102
Table 4. Primary Independent Variables	116
Table 5. Confounding Variables on Social and Environmental Issues	118
Table 6. Demographic Variables	118
Table 7. Population Size and Food Insecurity Prevalence	127
Table 8. Target SHOW Population, Poverty, and Race	127
Table 9. Power Analysis: A Priori to Compute Required Sample Size	131
Table 10. SHOW Survey Questionnaire – Food Security	134
Table 11. SHOW Survey Questionnaire – Social Capital	139
Table 12. SHOW Survey Questionnaire – Income	148
Table 13. SHOW Survey Questionnaire – Neighborhood Characteristics	150
Table 14. SHOW Survey Questionnaire – Adverse Life Experiences	151
Table 15. SHOW Survey Questionnaire – Milwaukee Supplemental	152
Table 16. SHOW Survey Questionnaire – Demographics	153

Table 17. Statistical Analysis Based on Research Questions 157
Table 18. Descriptive Statistics: Demographics, Milwaukee and Dane Counties
Table 19. Mean Number of Children and Persons in Household 172
Table 20. Descriptive Statistics – Key Variables for Milwaukee and Dane Counties173
Table 21. RQ1 Model Summary Table - Social Capital and Food Insecurity in Milwaukee
County
Table 22. RQ1 Regression ANOVA Table – Social Capital and Food Insecurity in
Milwaukee County
Table 23. RQ1 Regression Coefficients Table - Social Capital and Food Insecurity in
Milwaukee County 178-179
Table 24. RQ2 Model Summary Table - Social Capital and Food Insecurity in Dane
County
Table 25. RQ2 Regression ANOVA Table – Social Capital and Food Insecurity in Dane
County
Table 26. RQ2. Regression Coefficients Table - Social Capital and Food Insecurity in
Dane County
Table 27. RQ3. Model Summary Table - Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in
Milwaukee County, Controlling for Neighborhood Characteristics, Adverse Life Events,
and Milwaukee Specific Inquiry

Table 28. RQ3. Regression ANOVA Table – Social Capital, Income, and Food Insecurity
Risk in Milwaukee County, Controlling for Neighborhood Characteristics, Adverse Life
Events, and Milwaukee Specific Inquiry
Table 29. RQ3. Regression Coefficients Table - Social Capital, Income, and Food
Insecurity Risk in Milwaukee County, Controlling for Neighborhood Characteristics,
Adverse Life Events, and Milwaukee Specific Inquiry187
Table 30. RQ4. Model Summary Table - Social Capital, Income, and Food Insecurity
Risk in Dane County, Controlling for Neighborhood Characteristics and Demographic
Variables191
Table 31. RQ4. Regression ANOVA Table – Social Capital, Income, and Food Insecurity
Risk in Dane County, Controlling for Neighborhood Characteristics and Demographic
Variables192
Table 32. RQ4. Regression Coefficients Table - Social Capital, Income, and Food
Insecurity Risk in Dane County, Controlling for Neighborhood Characteristics and
Demographic Variables
Table 33. Integral Model Summary, Significant Findings, and Recommendations for
Future Actions
Table C1. Number of Children 0-17 Living in the Household 288
Table C2. Number of People of Any Age Living in the Household

Table D1.	Data Dictionary	Table for Social	Capital and Fo	od Insecurity (SCFI	(S)
Analysis					

List of Figures

Figure 1. Food Insecurity IM Map
Figure 2. Maslow's Hierarchy of Human Needs
Figure 3. Research Process Flow Diagram
Figure 4. RQ1 Histogram of Standardized Residuals - Social Capital and Food Insecurity
in Milwaukee County176
Figure 5. RQ1. Plots of Standardized Residuals and Standardized Predictive Values -
Social Capital and Food Insecurity in Milwaukee County176
Figure 6. RQ2. Plots of Standardized Residuals and Standardized Predictive Values -
Social Capital and Food Insecurity in Dane County
Figure 7. RQ2. Histogram of Standardized Residuals - Social Capital and Food Insecurity
in Dane County
Figure 8. RQ3. Plots of Standardized Residuals and Standardized Predictive values -
Social Capital and Food Insecurity in Milwaukee County
Figure 9. RQ3. Histogram of Standardized Residuals - Social Capital and Food Insecurity
in Milwaukee County
Figure 10. RQ4. Plots of Standardized Residuals and Standardized Predictive Values -
Social Capital and Food Insecurity in Dane County190

Figure 11. RQ4. Histogram of Standardized Residuals - Social Capital and Foo		
Insecurity in Dane County		190

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

Addressing hunger and food insecurity has been recognized as a global public health issue for decades, with reports of starving children in drought and war-torn countries such as Bangladesh or Somalia (Biswas et al., 2017; World Food Programme, 2017). Worldwide, approximately 795 million individuals were classified as undernourished in 2015 (Biswas et al., 2017; Food and Agriculture Organization [FAO] et al., 2015). This translated to about one in every nine individuals across the globe who were food insecure and not able to eat the food needed for optimal health and longevity (FAO et al., 2015).

By 2017, 815 million undernourished people were reported, indicating an upward trend (FAO et al., 2017). This was attributed to factors including food insecurity, climate change resulting in higher food costs, conflicts due to war, and more recently, severe effects due to the COVID-19 pandemic (FAO et al., 2017; US Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service [USDA ERS], 2022; World Food Programme, 2017; World Food Programme et al., 2011). Currently within the United States, 38.3 million people continue to struggle with food insecurity, which includes 6.1 million children who live in households where both the children and adults are food insecure (USDA ERS, 2022). Although rates were beginning to trend downward, this was still significantly higher than in 2006 (i.e., 35 million) prior to the recent 2007 recession period (USDA ERS, 2018b).

The emergence of hunger as a critical public health issue in the United States can be traced back to the Great Depression that occurred between 1929-1935, during which widespread hunger, severe undernutrition, and starvation were issues which required the government to intervene (Hoefer & Curry, 2012; O'Brien et al., 2004). As companies failed, unemployment rose to 24.86%, with hundreds standing in bread lines due to lack of work (O'Brien et al., 2004). Farmers, having no markets for their crops, had to leave crops in the fields to be plowed over (O'Brien et al., 2004).

Problems experienced during this time along with ineffective policies that were implemented contributed to the election of Franklin D. Roosevelt with his New Deal reforms. He enacted the Federal Emergency Relief Administration (FERA) and Federal Surplus Relief Corporation (FSRC), which involved obtaining excess agricultural commodities and redistributing them to states and local cities in order to be given to the poor and less fortunate (Hoefer & Curry, 2012; O'Brien et al., 2004). Its concept formed the foundation for the Commodity Supplemental Food Program (CSFP), implemented in 1973, and the Temporary Emergency Food Assistance Program (TEFAP), reestablished in 1981.

Inadequacies with commodity distribution programs during the Depression era led to the creation of the food stamp program (FSP) in 1939. However, early FSP required payment for food vouchers, with additional vouchers given out to obtain commodities surpluses as a supplement (O'Brien et al., 2004). The early FSP pay system and CSFP stayed in place until 1943, when the programs ended during the war years. Although the programs were no longer in force, hunger was still an issue, and people turned to charity handouts to help feed their families (O'Brien et al., 2004). Policy officials were aware of ongoing hunger issues, as 40% of war draftees were turned away due to poor physical condition (Hoefer & Curry, 2012; O'Brien et al., 2004). Hunger was now viewed as a problem affecting national security. Therefore, due to concern for poor and starving children, the federal government, with strong support by both parties enacted the National School Lunch Act of 1946, establishing school lunch programs (SLP) throughout the nation.

During the post-war period, as the economy recovered, all food assistance programs but the National School Lunch Act were abandoned (O'Brien et al., 2004). It was not until the 1960s, when presidential candidate Senator John F. Kennedy brought attention to the hidden hunger seen in many communities, particularly in the mountains of West Virginia, that the government's focus turned back to the plight of poor families in America. Therefore, to address the hunger issue, his first action as president was to expand the commodities program and establish a new food stamp pilot program that was no longer tied only to commodities, allowing for expanded food choices (Hoefer & Curry, 2012; O'Brien et al., 2004). During the Johnson presidency that followed, the Food Stamp Act of 1964 was established as part of a larger farm support bill.

Over the course of the next 15 years, various food assistance programs would be enacted based on the goal of eradicating hunger in the US. In 1966, the School Breakfast Program (SBP) was created and became permanent in 1975. In 1968, after a citizens' board of inquiry documented widespread starvation and hunger throughout US counties, and a TV documentary entitled *Hunger in American* reported on malnutrition in the southwest and south, the government enacted the Summer Food Service Program (SFSP) and Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP). These programs were geared to poor children to ensure healthy meals over the summer months when school was not in session (Hoefer & Curry, 2012; O'Brien et al., 2004).

In 1969, the first White House conference on food and hunger was held. From that conference, it was established that malnutrition and hunger were critical problems in the United States, and not rare. Because of the hearing, two new programs were established. The Food Stamp Reform Act of 1970, the entitlement framework used today, with reforms seen in 1977 removing the pay requirement and expanding eligibility (Hoefer & Curry, 2012; O'Brien et al., 2004). In 1975, the advocacy group Food Research and Action Center (FRAC) was activated and provided advocacy support for expansion of food stamp allotments.

The second food assistance program established because of the White House conference was the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC). WIC provides healthy food allocations, medical assessments, and instructions for low to moderate income (up to 185% of the federal poverty level) pregnant and breastfeeding women, infants, and children under 5. Currently, WIC is fully funded and viewed as one of the most successful health promotion programs; for every \$1 spent in WIC, there can be as much as a \$3.00 savings in terms of diverted healthcare costs (O'Brien et al., 2004; USDA Food and Nutrition Service [FNS], 2013).

In 1979, the FRAC conducted the landmark Childhood Hunger Identification Project (CCHIP) to document the extent of childhood hunger in the US. The CCHIP concluded that approximately four million youth under 12 were going hungry, and almost 10 million youth were at risk for hunger (O'Brien et al., 2004). Poor children who experienced hunger had higher rates of school absenteeism due to illness, more school nurse visits due to headaches, anger and behavioral issues, and poor school achievement due to lack of concentration as compared to poor children who were well nourished (Hoefer & Curry, 2012; O'Brien et al., 2004). This led to reforms of the school meals program to include free and reduced meals for low-income families. Over time, it expanded to include the Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program (FFVP) and Farm to School program.

Also in 1979, with the financial backing of the federal Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), Second Harvest was formulated as a nationwide collaboration of food banks. It functioned as the largest clearing house of surplus food for use by food pantries and other food relief organizations. Over the years, Second Harvest would go through various name changes to became Feeding American. In addition to providing wholesale food resources, it serves as a food information hub to connect farmers to consumers and hunger advocates in order to address food policy issues, demographic and food access data, and anti-hunger promotional tools (Feeding America, 2018; Weinfield et al., 2014).

During all of the 1980's and early years of the 1990's food assistance expanded with enhanced services and food options. Then, in 1996, Bill Clinton was elected president on a platform to end welfare as it was currently structured. Through a series of reforms, funding for many food safety net programs were reduced, such as the FSP, WIC, SLP, and SBP (O'Brien et al., 2004). Due to the robust economy in 1998, there was not the political will to address the issue of food insecurity. Although the unemployment rate was low and poverty rates were reducing, the rate of decline in food stamp rolls was nearly threefold more (O'Brien et al., 2004). The reduction in food stamp rolls did not indicate lower food insecurity, but rather suggested that private sector food relief charities saw increased families requesting help (Friedens Community Ministries, 2017; Hoefer & Curry, 2012; O'Brien et al., 2004).

At the start of the Obama presidency, a call to end childhood hunger by 2015 was met with an expansion of the food safety net system. In 2010, the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids (HHFK) Act was enacted, which reauthorized funding for federal childhood nutrition programs run by the USDA, including the SLP, SBP, WIC, SFSP, and CACFP. The Act allowed the USDA to make program innovations, which included the allocation of funding for research to address the gaps in access and coverage. The goals of reforms were to improve the nutritional profile of meals and expand the hunger safety net for youth (National Research Council [NRC] and Institute of Medicine [IOM], 2013; FNS, 2013).

Currently, there are 15 food assistance programs in the US food safety net system (Hoefer & Curry, 2012; O'Brien et al., 2004). However, this is still not sufficient to address the needs of very low food insecure households. Moreover, state reforms, such as the work requirement for single adult SNAP recipients enacted in 2015 by the state of Wisconsin, have led to thousands being deemed ineligible for assistance (Beck, 2015). This resulted in capacity concerns for charitable food pantries as participation counts rose (Beck, 2015; Friedens Community Ministries, 2017; Weinfield et al., 2014). Hunger

assistance agencies, nutritionists, and public health practitioners concluded that social and environmental conditions need to be addressed in order to achieve food security for all (Anderson et al., 2016; Coleman-Jensen et al., 2017).

Introduction to Social Capital and Society

In looking to understand the range of thought related to the concept of social capital's influence on society, I reviewed three pioneer sociologists, James Coleman (1926-1995), Pierre Bourdieu (1930 – 2002), and Robert Putnam (1941-) (Claridge, 2004). Coleman, an American sociologist, was interested in different types of capital and their interaction, such as human, physical, economic, and social capital (Claridge, 2004); Coleman, 1986). He utilized the concepts of rational action from the economist to examine social capital and the actions of individuals (Claridge, 2004; Coleman, 1986). Coleman believed that social capital resided in the social construct of relationships among people. He saw it mostly as a public good where the actions of individuals connecting benefited society as a whole (Claridge, 2004; Coleman, 1986). He conceptualized social capital as a collective asset of the group, exerting a positive impact on not only the individuals who were actively engaged, but also those that were not (Claridge, 2004; Coleman, 1986). Strong families and communities occurred as a consequence of strong social bonds among trusted members. Coleman made little provisions for the inequality that could result or that causes differential power and status within society, such as economic or racial inequality (Claridge, 2004; Coleman, 1986).

Pierre Bourdieu was a French sociologist and public scholar. He, in contrast to Coleman, was primarily concerned with the dynamics of power in society and the uneven distribution of social capital between individuals (Bourdieu, 1986; Claridge, 2004. Bourdieu viewed social capital as reproducing social inequity and stressed that there was structural limits and unequal access to systemwide resources based on social class, sex, and racial affiliation (Bourdieu, 1986; Claridge, 2004). Social capital was seen as personal property rather than a group collective (Bourdieu, 1986; Claridge, 2004). The individual may exert power on the group, who in turn utilizes the resources.

Opposite of Coleman, Bourdieu believed that social capital was not evenly distributed, but provided to those who expended the effort in gaining it by advancing to higher levels of power and status or by promoting good will (Bourdieu, 1986; Claridge, 2004). Thus, social capital was tied to class and other forms of division. His work on the sociology of culture is still recognized, particularly his concepts on social stratification that relate to status (Claridge, 2004). A key contribution was the relationship between types of capital, including economic, cultural, social, and symbolic status (Claridge, 2004). Bourdieu viewed social capital as having both positive and negative aspects which could lead to greater disparities in society (Bourdieu, 1986; Claridge, 2004).

Robert Putnam, a professor of public health at Harvard, is known for his work in the social sciences, authoring several best-selling books and reports related to social capital (Putnam, 2000; Putnam, 2001). He contended that as a result of advances in technology, coupled with the social and financial changes that has occurred in the 1960s, there was an extreme decline in Americans' supply of social capital (Claridge, 2004; Putnam, 2000, Putnam 2001). This decline in social interaction was seen in many forms, including lower civic engagement, lower voting rates, less membership in social clubs, people were disconnected from their families, and there was less eating out together or with friends (Claridge, 2004; Putnam, 2000; Putnam, 2001). Although people were bowling more than ever, they were found to be *bowling alone* and not on bowing leagues. These changes seem to usher in an era where neighbors were disconnected, and the moral fabric of American society was fading (Claridge, 2004; Putnam, 2000).

However, Putnam, like Coleman, ultimately believed in social capital as a public good, which encompassed the level of participation, civic engagement, and trusting relationships within local communities, states, and countries (Claridge, 2004; Putnam, 2001). He traveled around the country and noted the innovative ways that people were beginning to reinvent community through new connections that brought hope to society (Putnam, 2001). For example, in Philadelphia, seniors and youth were united in a mentoring and reading project yielding mutual benefit – youth got assistance in reading while the seniors achieved more fulfilled, purposeful lives (Putnam, 2001).

Putnam convened a Harvard working group of 30 scholars from across the US and compiled a report which called for a nationwide campaign to redirect the downward spiral of civic apathy (Claridge, 2004; Putnam, 2001). New ways for rebuilding community ties and restoring civic engagement for the future well-being of society were offered (Putnam, 2001). Putnam was given credit for popularizing the concept of social capital as used today (Claridge, 2004; Putnam, 2001).

From the social theories of these and other researchers, the concept of addressing the social determinants of health and disparities was advanced (Claridge, 2004; Putnam, 2001). Examining and building social capital is being employed as a strategy for solving complex societal issues (Claridge, 2004; Givens et al., 2018). Today, assessing social connectedness and building social networks can be found in guidance documents as best practice strategies to be incorporated into individual and community health promotion plans (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Claridge, 2004; Givens et al., 2018; MCOPP, 2022).

Background of the Problem

In health promotion guidance documents developed by the World Health Organization (e.g., 2000-2015 Millennium Development Goals [MDGs]; 2016-2030 Sustainable Development Goals [SDGs]), priorities for addressing both hunger and poverty were outlined (FAO et al., 2015; United Nations; World Health Organization [WHO], 2015). The SDGs have placed emphasis on broad global, comprehensive interventions to promote change in the social, economic, and environmental elements that impact health which are integrated in all phases of human development (United Nations; WHO, 2015). Addressing food insecurity is grounded in the values of food as a human right and health equity for all people. WHO advocates for the creation of policies and practices by all countries that enable optimal population health through an adequate food safety net system (FAO et al., 2015; WHO, 2015). Additionally, in several guidance documents that addressed hunger in the US (e.g., 2020-2025 Dietary Guidelines for Americans; Healthy People [HP] 2020; Hunger in America 2014; National Prevention Strategy [NPS]; Plan to End Hunger in America), focusing on the social determinants that contribute to food insecurity were highlighted as key public health strategies (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017). This included creating targeted supports to vulnerable groups and making access to healthy and affordable food convenient to all households (Healthy People, 2018; National Prevention Council, 2011; Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion [ODPHP], 2021; Weinfield et al., 2014). Examining the relationship of social capital to food insecurity in Milwaukee and Dane Counties assisted in the development of targeted interventions and advocacy strategies to impact hunger and risk of food insecurity in Wisconsin (HP, 2018; National Prevention Council [NPC], 2011).

Food Insecurity, Health Promotion, and the Social Determinants of Health

It has been discovered that there is a need for more research to better understand the social determinants of health present within a community for the creation of effective strategies and actions to overcome the obstacles to achieving optimal health and wellbeing (American Diabetes Association, 2017; Brennan Ramirez et al., 2008; ODPHP, 2021). Health promotion professionals have concluded that it is not enough to just provide food and economic support (Anderson et al., 2016; Pellmar et al., 2002). Examining a complex health problem from all spheres of influences, such as those outlined in the socio-ecological model (SEM) or the newer integral model (IM) used in this proposal, was recommended.

Uncovering the specific issues impacting the rates of health disparities and chronic diseases within a community, such as the factors related to risk of diabetes, heart disease, or cancer would help in creating positive health outcomes (American Diabetes Association, 2017; Best & Holmes, 2010; Lundy, 2010; ODPHP, 2021; Pellmar et al., 2002). When applied to the food insecurity issue, the expanded knowledge would in turn lead to enhanced nutrition and health coaching practices and tailored interventions that empower the food insecure household (Lundy, 2010; ODPHP, 2021; Pellmar et al., 2002). Moreover, building community capacity for addressing food insecurity would create a collective impact for positive social change (Anderson et al., 2016; Johnson et al., 2015; Jordan, 2013; ODPHP, 2021).

Fundamental to health and well-being is having access to an adequate and appropriate food supply (Brown et al., 2015; ODPHP, 2021). Yet, significant disparities have been seen in the ability of households to access healthy food. The quality and types of food that are affordable may be limited, leaving many to suffer food hardships (Hoefer & Curry, 2012). Food hardship is defined as a measure of household food insecurity brought about by not having enough money to purchase sufficient amounts of food or having to go without food due to lack of funds (Curtis et al., 2014).

Undernutrition and hunger can affect both physical and mental health status (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Hoefer & Curry, 2012; Lende, 2012). These affects have been shown to be long lasting, altering health trajectory and limiting life achievement (Chilton et al., 2016; Dube et al., 2001; Halfon, 2009; Hoefer & Curry, 2012; Lende, 2012). Even when nutrition education and health counseling are provided, other forces such as social isolation and low social connectedness has been shown to limit the food options or opportunities for meeting the household nutritional and health needs, altering perceptions of well-being (Anderson et al., 2016; Jordan, 2013; Martino et al., 2017; Pellmar et al., 2002). Examining food insecurity and the impact of social capital may assist in developing tailored strategies that promote nutrition and health equity along with improved self-efficacy for healthy practices within at-risk households and communities (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Johnson et al., 2015; Martino et al., 2017; Pellmar et al., 2002).

Children, Hunger, and Food Insecurity

Addressing the high rates of food insecurity takes on a different connotation when it is discovered that about 6.8 million or one-fourth of the US food insecure individuals are children (Gundersen & Iliac, 2014; Nord et al., 2014; USDA ERS, 2018b & 2022). According to the 2015 Gallup-Healthways Well-Being Index, conducted with 177,281 household units, 1 in 6 US households with children were food insecure (Nord et al., 2014). Among the factors shown to contribute to these elevated levels include lowincome status, lower educational levels, high racial and ethnic health disparities, single parent households, homebound elderly status, living with a disabled person in the household, higher prices of food items, and lower wage employment (Chang & Hickman, 2017; Coleman-Jensen et al., 2014; Coleman-Jensen et al., 2017; Dean et al., 2011; Hoefer & Curry, 2012; Nord et al., 2014).

Developing a healthy and nurturing environment for optimal growth and development in childhood includes the provision of an adequate and sufficient food supply within the household. In addition, strong social connections are needed within the home and community networks (Benson et al., 2012; Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014; Martino et al., 2017; ODPHP, 2021; Sheffield & Landrigan, 2011). Establishing a healthy relationship with food is grounded in the cultural norms and food traditions that are passed down through the family, household unit, and affiliated community, which is influenced by several factors (Mill et al., 2020; ODPHP, 2021; Swierad et al., 2017; Whitt-Glover et al., 2017).

Racial inequalities have contributed to the higher hunger rates of 10.4% to 6.7% for African American and Hispanic households in the US, respectively, compared to hunger rates of 4.5% for white households (Chilton & Doar, 2015). Having strong social networks, such as seen in two parent households, has a significant impact on food hardship, even after taking into account various demographic and socio-environmental factors (Claridge, 2020; Willis & Fitzpatrick, 2019). Strong networks may blunt the effects of poverty and limited access to affordable food (Claridge, 2020; Willis & Fitzpatrick, 2019).

Chilton et al. (2017) said food insecurity can be recycled from one generation to the next due to the adverse childhood experiences (ACE) of hunger and malnutrition. Nutritional deprivation can negatively affect the level of school achievement, the ability to concentrate or to conduct complex tasks, emotional stability, and self-control. Moreover, it may affect the ability to get along with classmates or coworkers, and limits future income potential (Chilton et al., 2017; Dube et al., 2001; The Nutrition-Cognition National Initiative, 1994; Walsh & Theodorakakis, 2017). Lente (2012) developed the "poverty poisons the brain" model to illustrates how social factors, like the negative effects of low social class and racism, can lead to physical impairment in growth and development of the brain during childhood (Claridge, 2020; Willis & Fitzpatrick, 2019; Pieterse et al., 2011). (Lente, p.185)

Brain changes can evolve from hunger, prolonged poor nutrition, limited bonding with parents, and other ACE issues encountered within the child's social environment (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; American Academy of Pediatrics [AAP], 2012; Lente, 2012). Mental scars that affect social functioning may develop from the toxic stress that is endured (AAP, 2012; Dube et al., 2001; Lente, 2012; Olff, 2012; Pellmar et al., 2002; Walsh & Theodorakakis, 2017). Moreover, the long-term effects of both the physical and mental trauma may negatively affect the entire life course, altering health trajectory throughout adulthood (AAP, 2012; Chilton et al., 2017; Dube et al., 2001; Halfon, 2009; Association of Maternal and Child Health Programs, 2015; Pellmar et al., 2002; Pinderhughes, 2017; Walsh & Theodorakakis, 2017).

Adverse neighborhood characteristics have been shown to predict an increased risk of food insecurity, which is strongly effected by low social capital and safety concerns (Jackson et al., 2019). The risk of food insufficiency in youth and households living in extremely high-risk environments could be significantly lowered through engagement in informal and formal food safety net programs and nutritional support services (Jackson et al., 2019; King, 2017). It has been proposed that food insecurity be included in neighborhood renewal planning, with incorporation of community fruit and vegetable gardens (Furness & Gallaher, 2018; Jackson et al., 2019).

In rural communities, those with less social ties experience higher rates of hunger (Dean et al., 2011; Whitley, 2013). Disparities have been seen in participation in food programs based on the level of social connectedness and engagement (Whitley, 2013). Targeted approaches are needed as food insecurity may present differently in rural settings versus urban settings due to high transportation and elevated food expenses (Dean et al., 2011; Whitley, 2013).

The Home Environment: A Child's First Teacher

The home environment is where children receive their first lessons on what foods should make up a healthful meal (Benson et al., 2012). Parents and caregivers play key roles in modeling healthy eating and appropriate food selections, preparation, and food safety practices to the children and teens in their environment (Knoblock-Hahn et al., 2017; Mills et al., 2020; ODPHP, 2021). Establishing healthy family meals has been viewed as a key health promotion strategy for children and teens (ODPHP, 2021). The familial social structure centered around the family meal is acknowledged as the primary influencer for healthy childhood growth and development as well as reduced risk-taking behaviors by teens (Knoblock-Hahn et al., 2017; O'Connor et al., 2009; ODPHP, 2021).

Informed parents can take advantage of teachable moments at the dinner table to educate on the nutritional content of the family meal, where food comes from, and what it does in the body (O'Connor et al., 2009; ODPHP, 2021). However, when there is food insecurity in the household, the variety of healthy foods available may be limited (Hoefer & Curry, 2012; O'Connor et al., 2009). The parental relationship with food when funds are scarce centers primarily around survival or coping practices versus for optimal health and nutritional well-being, limiting dietary biodiversity (Anderson, et al., 2016; Kuxzmarski et al., 2017). Stretching the food dollar with low cost, low nutrient, calorie dense foods to feed the family with reduction of protein rich foods, fruits, and vegetables, have led to higher rates of obesity and chronic disease in the food insecurity populations (Anderson, et al., 2016; Burke et al., 2017; Hoefer & Curry, 2012; Kuxzmarski et al., 2017; National Minority Consortium of Public Television & Joint Center Health Policy Institute, 2008).

Problem Statement

Hunger and food insecurity are considered modern-day markers for malnutrition and poor diet quality, indicating a need for further health risk evaluation (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Condon-Paoloni, 2011; Ding et al., 2014; Hoefer & Curry, 2012; Jensen et al., 2018; Lillioja et al., 2013; Salvador Castell et al., 2015). Jensen et al. (2018) reported on the consensus recommendations of the Global Leadership Initiative on Malnutrition (GLIM) for the establishment of a standardized global criterion for defining and characterizing malnutrition. The GLIM convened a consensus conference with nutrition and health leaders from all over the world to look at the clinical diagnosis of malnutrition in the adult hospitalized patient. Given the broad array of conditions that manifest nutrient deficiencies, both phenotypic criteria (e.g., unintentional weight loss, muscle wasting) used to assess severity of the condition and etiological criteria (e.g., low food intake and food hardship, disease states with inflammation) used to provide context to the malnourished state which can impact intervention strategies and potential outcomes, were proposed (Jensen et al., 2018).

The health of individuals and households reflects on the health of the entire community (Pellmar et al., 2002; Wong et al., 2016). Those experiencing food insecurity have presented with higher self-reported poor health along with higher prevalence rates of prediabetes, diabetes, obesity, cardiovascular, dental caries, and other acute or chronic diseases (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; American Diabetes Association, 2017; Chi et al, 2014; City of Milwaukee Health Department [MHD], 2016; Ding et al., 2014; Hoefer & Curry, 2012; Greer et al., 2013; Kruger et al., 2015; Lo et al., 2012). Food insecurity contributes to higher healthcare expenditures, with higher emergency room visits and hospitalizations, adding to the burden on society (Pabalan et al., 2015; Tarasuk et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2011). In a report by Gregory and Coleman-Jensen (2017) that looked at food insecurity and chronic disease in lower income working adults (i.e., those living at or below 200% of the federal poverty level), it was reported that there was an 18.6% higher number of disease condition in individuals with low food security than individuals reporting high food security. There was also a 10.5% higher hypertension rate in individuals reporting high food insecurity (Gregory & ColemanJensen, 2017). It was concluded that food security status is more strongly predictive of chronic illness than income level. While financial status was positively related to only 3 out of the 10 chronic conditions reviewed (i.e., hepatitis, arthritis, and lung disease), all 10 conditions were related to food insecurity. The chronic diseases of focus included high blood pressure, heart conditions, liver impairment, stroke, cancer, asthma, diabetes, arthritis, lung disease, and kidney disorders (Gregory & Coleman-Jensen, 2017).

Health promotion, engagement, and communication through our social interactions and the power of the word of mouth is grounded in the connectedness that exists within the household, the community, the greater society, and the world (Dean et al., 2014; Martino et al., 2017; Mettler et al., 2014; Pellmar et al., 2002). Beliefs, perceptions, health practices, traditions, and ways of doing are influenced by the social structures in place and how they function to support the behaviors that are seen whether the behaviors promote or hinder achievement of optimal health (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; DeBiasse et al., 2017; Greer & Nelson, 2014; Pellmar et al., 2002). The social environment may affect the types of foods that are popular, which new foods are accepted or adopted into the family meals consumed, and how often they are prepared (American Diabetes Association [ADA], 2017; Goldberg et al., 2017; Knoblock-Hahn et al., 2017; Mills et al., 2017; Swierad et al., 2017).

Conversely, social isolation and low social support have been correlated to higher risks of mortality, comparable to that attributed to cigarette smoking or lack of physical activity (Martino et al., 2017; Pellmar et al., 2002). Households with lower incomes, low social ties and networks, and low community connections are at higher risk for food

insecurity and other health risks, both physical and mental (Cattell, 2001; Cruwys et al., 2013; Leung et al., 2015; Luke & Harris, 2007; Mertens et al., 2015). In addition, community forces external to the household can also exert pressure on the food choices and practices that are seen. Examples may include when food prices go up because of crops being wiped out due to severe flooding or droughts, or the limited availability of healthy foods outlets within some neighborhoods, referred to as a food desert (Brown et al., 2015; Darmon & Drewnowski, 2015; Guidry, 2014; Center for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC] et al., 2010; Jerry et al., 2014; Jilcott et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2013-b).

Understanding the social and physical environment that influence the ability to secure the appropriate food needed by the household can help the nutritional or health coach establish tailored strategies and innovative programs to combat the detrimental effects of food insecurity (Darmon et al., 2015; Guidry, 2014; Knoblock-Hahn et al., 2017; Leung et al., 2015; Mettler et al., 2014; ODPHP, 2021; Olsho et al, 2017; Smalls et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2016). To this end, this study sought to examine if there was a relationship between social capital and the risk of food insecurity within two counties in Wisconsin (Milwaukee and Dane County). Additionally, it explored if there was a relationship between income (i.e., federal poverty level) and social capital and risk of food insecurity. A variety of descriptive and confounding variables (e.g., neighborhood characteristics, adverse life events) were used as controls when assessing the extent of these relationships.
Purpose Statement

The findings of this quantitative retrospective descriptive correlational study that examined if there was a relationship between types of social capital and risk of food insecurity within two counties in Wisconsin (Milwaukee and Dane County), was intended to serve two major purposes. First, it aimed to inform nutrition and health coaches about the elements that could be tailored and incorporated into coaching encounters to address food insecurity, build social capital, and support networks (Benson et al., 2012). The goal was to use the results to empower the households experiencing food insecurity through increased awareness, skill-building, motivational and social support, and improved selfefficacy for achieving healthy meal patterns (Ivens & Edge, 2016; Johnson et al., 2015; ODPHP, 2021).

The research also identified areas for enhanced public policy, advocacy, and collective action to create social and environmental change that support equitable access to healthy and affordable food by all citizens, regardless of income level, social status, race/ethnicity, or neighborhood location (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Amed et al., 2015; ADA, 2017; Best & Holmes, 2010). Given that the African American population has the highest rates of food insecurity in the State of Wisconsin, with the highest population densities located within Milwaukee and Dane Counties, these two counties were selected as a primary focus for analysis to explore the assets or needs in social capital to be addressed (Curtis et al., 2014; Greer et al., 2013; Heckman, 2016).

Nature of the Study

In this study, I used a quantitative retrospective descriptive correlational analysis design. This research was prompted by the significant disparities in food insecurity rates seen within the state of Wisconsin. The overall state of Wisconsin's food insecurity rate was 11.3%, which is lower than the US rate of 14.1% (Heckman, 2016). Yet, when taking a closer view of the food hardship levels in the state by Congressional Districts, it was recorded that District 4, which encompasses Milwaukee's lower SES inner-city zip codes, had the highest levels with a food hardship rate of 22.1%; while Congressional District 5, which encompasses the higher SES zip codes located on the outer edges of Milwaukee County and surrounding counties, had the lowest food hardship levels of 9.9%. Additionally, District 2, which includes Dane County had a food hardship rate of 12.2% (Curtis et al., 2014; Heckman, 2016; Greer et al., 2013; Gundersen et al., 2018).

These disparities seen within this close geographic location justified the need for more in-depth analysis of what could be discovered about the social capital present, both internal and external to the households experiencing food insecurity in Milwaukee and Dane Counties (MHD, 2016; Heckman, 2016; Greer et al., 2013; Gundersen et al., 2018). Results were used to develop tailored strategies to promote improved nutrition and health coaching, healthy food access, social support, and well-being within the at-risk communities (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Briscoe et al., 2014).

The quantitative, cross-sectional study design was chosen given the availability of a Wisconsin specific health database, the Survey of the Health of Wisconsin (SHOW).

SHOW provides information on household and community connections. It also includes the availability and utilization of health and community resources (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). The quantitative analysis provided baseline information needed to target appropriate resources for awareness, outreach, advocacy, and self-empowerment nutritional and health coaching (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Soriano, 2013).

Given the large amount of data and the variety of variables reviewed, conducting a quantitative analysis through this secondary data source led to a timely and comprehensive formative analysis of the types and levels of social capital present and their impact on food insecurity risk (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Soriano, 2013). Future qualitative studies that explore the perceptions of the individuals in the households experiencing food hardship related to social capital such as the quality or effectiveness of their bridging social support relationships (e.g., perceived strength of the relationship with their healthcare provider) would be a logical next step in completion of the IM Map (Lundy, 2010; Soriano, 2013). However, this was not addressed in this study (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Soriano, 2013).

The four variables of social capital that were reviewed in exploring the relationship of social capital to risk of food insecurity included bonding social capital (intimate individual or family connections such as spouse, significant other, children, friends, neighbors); bridging social capital (health and social services connections including physician, nurse practitioner, or registered dietitian; medical care utilization); community structural formal social capital (utilization of governmental food safety net resources such as WIC or SNAP; political engagement; access to employment); and

community structural informal social capital (connections to community food pantry resources and other food resources, including access to healthy food outlets, farmers markets, food co-ops; sense of community/civic engagement) (Greer et al., 2013; Lu et al., 2016; Nord, 2013; Rummo et al., 2015; School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017; Smith et al., 2013-b; USDA Food and Nutrition Service [USDA FNS], 2013; USDA FNS, 2014).

Additionally, the relationship of income and social capital and risk of food insecurity was examined through looking at the percent of federal poverty levels, while controlling for access to various characteristics within the neighborhood, adverse life events within the household, and various demographic variables (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). Specific Milwaukee county inquiry variables included in the SHOW that assessed housing status and other social and environmental factors were examined . The demographic variables included marital status, gender, age group, race/ethnicity, household size (i.e., number of persons and number of children in the household 0-17), education attained, transportation, geographic location (urban/rural), and type of residence.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

This study involved using the following research questions:

RQ1: Is there a relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee County?

 H_01 : There is no significant relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee County.

 H_a1 : There is a significant relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity in Milwaukee County.

RQ2: Is there a relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity within Dane County?

 H_02 : There is no significant relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity within Dane County.

 H_a2 : There is a significant relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity in Dane County.

RQ3: Is there a relationship between federal poverty level ratio and social capital and risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee County, controlling for neighborhood characteristics, adverse life events, and Milwaukee specific inquiry?

 H_03 : There is no relationship between federal poverty level ratio and social capital and risk of food insecurity in Milwaukee County, controlling for neighborhood characteristics, adverse life events, and Milwaukee specific inquiry.

 H_a3 : There is a relationship between federal poverty level ratio and social capital and risk of food insecurity in Milwaukee County, controlling for neighborhood characteristics, adverse life events, and Milwaukee specific inquiry.

RQ4: Is there a relationship between federal poverty level ratio and social capital and risk of food insecurity within Dane County when controlling for neighborhood characteristics?

 H_0 *4*: There is no relationship between federal poverty level (ratio) and social capital and risk of food insecurity in Dane County when controlling for neighborhood characteristics.

 H_a 4: There is a relationship between federal poverty level ratio and social capital and risk of food insecurity in Dane County when controlling for neighborhood characteristics.

Theoretical or Conceptual Framework

The premise of the IM is that in order for real transformational change to occur, both theory and practice must be integrated into actions that are accountable to each other, creating a new paradigm from which health promotion is forged (Lundy, 2010; Weber, 2000). Integral refers to being a thorough, complete, and inclusive analysis of a problem, balanced to include all issues that impact human existence in all its complexity (Lundy, 2010). Ken Weber, an integral theorist, developed the IM as a paradigmatic framework that combines various theoretical and practice approaches to health promotion to create a comprehensive analysis map for examining complex societal issues that span across disciplines and thought (Lundy, 2010). The results are intended to lead to effective and sustainable actions for the health improvement of all people. Its adoption aspires to lead to a new era of health promotion grounded on a foundation of patient-centered care, applied research, interdisciplinary collaboration, health equity, evidence-based practice, public policy reform, and advocacy (Lundy, 2010). The IM is being utilized throughout the world in both academic and practice settings as an effective meta-theory given that it blends concepts from multiple theories to achieve a comprehensive whole to enhance human development which can potentially impact the entire lifecycle (Lundy, 2010).

The IM combined with constructs of the theory of planned behavior (TPB), were used in this research study. These models helped to identify targeted strategies to increase awareness, enhance social capital and connectedness, and influence perceived ability to access community food resources by low to moderate-income households experiencing food hardship within Milwaukee and Dane County, Wisconsin (Baranowski et al., 2003; Blue, 2007; Johnson et al., 2010; Lundy, 2010; Martino et al., 2017). The IM is considered a comprehensive logic model that guides purposeful assessment and evidence gathering from multiple perspectives to address the complexity of a health issue (Lundy, 2010). The dimensions of the IM are intended to take a holistic and systematic examination of the factors that affect a health issue from various domains of influence (Lundy, 2010).

There are four specific domains that make up the IM Map, which includes: a) the intrapersonal, inner self – the mind, how do they feel about their health, which includes their knowledge, skills, perceived abilities, and stressful/adverse life circumstances; b) the intrapersonal, outer self – the body, their physical or mental health status (e.g., hunger, malnutrition) and resources (e.g., medical home); c) the community, inner-cultural groups, norms, social connections and networks (e.g., family bonds; sense of community); and d) the community, outer – environmental, food access, social determinants (e.g., housing, safety), public policy (e.g., rules/regulations, political will), job market, and wages (e.g., low or high income) (Lundy, 2010). Conducting a comprehensive assessment that includes elements from each of these domain areas is recommended to provide a clear picture for the development of appropriate intervention strategies and prioritized actions (Lundy, 2010; Pellmar et al., 2002).

The IM map structure as outlined in Figure 1 promoted a systematic assessment of both the intrapersonal and community context related to social capital and food insecurity in Milwaukee and Dane County, Wisconsin. Essential to the effectiveness of the IM would be to have informed transformational, participative leaders or cochampions from multiple disciplines to facilitate the integration and connections to the various stakeholders involved, including the engaged individuals at risk (Lundy, 2010; The Academy Quality Management Committee, 2018). The goal would be to create a unified conceptual framework to guide the jointly identified priority actions through to the desired collective impacts and life course transformations (Amed et al., 2015; Chilton et al., 2017; Lundy, 2010; Pellmar et al., 2002). A position paper on food insecurity by the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (2017) identified the nutrition professional as having the unique qualities needed to fill this leadership role but concluded they may need additional training, which could include enhanced coaching skills, to assure quality and confidence.

Figure 1

Food Insecurity IM Map



Adapted From: "A Paradigm to Guide Health Promotion into the 21st Century: The Integral Idea Whose Time Has Come. Lundy, T. (2010). *Global Health Promotion*, *17*(3), 44–53. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757975910375169

In looking at the TPB, increasing perceived ability to access healthy food and to prepare and serve healthy family meals (e.g., increased knowledge, social connections, and awareness of community support services) may require a transformation of the at-risk individual's thought process from minimal survival mode, towards empowered selfefficacy for health promotion and disease prevention (Baranowski et al., 2003; Leischik et al., 2016). However, before self-empowerments can be achieved, other issues may need to be addressed such as emotional concerns, financial and food resource management abilities, and mental health issues (Cruwys, 2013; Dun et al., 2016; Gundersen & Garasky, 2012; Leischik et al., 2016; Pieterse et al., 2011).

Emotional issues such as post-traumatic stress syndrome and psychosis from years of persistent poverty and income stagnation due in part to perceived racism have been reported in African Americans populations (Pieterse et al., 2011). Financial literacy, which is now viewed as a health promotion strategy given its impact on overall stress levels, may also need to be addressed. This may include the ability to manage the food budget effectively to purchase the healthy food required to meet the nutritional needs of all household members (Gundersen & Garasky, 2012; Leischik et al., 2016). Moreover, food has been used to soothe the feeling of depression and loneliness from not having enough money to participate in leisure activities along with lack of social support from significant others (Cruwys, 2013). The TPB places emphasis on the attitudes, supportive norms, and perceptions surrounding the intentions and perceived behavioral control for participating in a healthy practice, such as accessing healthy foods outlets and awareness of community food safety net resources (Baranowski et al., 2003; Blue, 2007; Dean et al., 2011; Jordan, 2013). Bridging social relationships, such as nutritional or health coaching relationships, may serve to increase the client's sphere of influence, with increased knowledge, skills, and abilities that feed the inner self while enhancing awareness and connections to the community inner and outer support resources (Jordan, 2013; Lundy, 2010). The coaching relationship can also serve as a bridge to build self-confidence for participating in community outer activities through connections to supportive networks for advocacy and public policy activism (Jordan, 2013; Mettler et al., 2014). These constructs were incorporated into the IM Map to identify specific areas to target for tailored nutritional coaching, community interventions, and advocacy (Blue, 2007; Jordan, 2013; Lundy, 2010).

Strategies to increase both perceived control for securing recommended healthy foods along with connections to informal and formal nutrition safety net and healthy food resources within the community were identified through this research study (Best & Holmes, 2010; Blue, 2007; Dean et al., 2011; Jordan, 2013; Lundy, 2010; Mettler et al., 2014). The new health literacy instructional model developed by Dunn et al. (2016), which provided evidence that supports looking at social capital as a strategy for addressing health literacy and health promotion, was considered along with the IM Map to guide the study's recommendations (Lundy, 2010). It concluded that both emotional and social support need to be addressed before educational instructions could be internalized (Dunn et al., 2016).

Through the utilization of these frameworks in examining the relationship of the types of social capital to the risk of food insecurity in Milwaukee and Dane County, Wisconsin, specific formative strategies were formulated (Blue, 2007; Dunn et al., 2016; Lundy, 2010). Given the heterogenic nature of the food access and insecurity landscape, the methods used in this research may serve as a model for exploring the specific needs of other racial, ethnic, or high-risk groups (e.g., adults living with a disability) residing within the State of Wisconsin in the future (Best & Holmes, 2010; Greer et al., 2013; Grimm et al., 2013; Heckman, 2016; Lundy, 2010). A further qualitative exploration of the perceptions and emotional state of those experiencing food insecurity would aid in completing the IM map, providing a comprehensive view of additional issues related to food insecurity that could be addressed, but are beyond the scope of this quantitative research study.

Definitions of Terms

Community Capacity

Overall level of human capital, community assets and resources, and social capital that is present in a community which can be mobilized to address common issues and enhance the quality of life of the community (Cattell, 2001; Pellmar et al., 2002). Actions may be taken through formal or informal social interactions, community-based participatory action, and/or advocacy for public policy reforms (Claridge, 2020; Cattell,

2001; Dean et al., 2014; Leischik et al., 2016; Onyx & Leonard, 2010; Pellmar et al., 2002).

Community Food Security

State in which all people within the community have equitable access to appropriate amounts of nutritious, safe, and culturally acceptable food for optimal growth, health, and wellness through a sustainable food system with high levels of community capacity and social supports that enhances community self-efficacy, social justice, and working together for collective impact (Hamm & Bellows, 2003).

Community Social Capital

Diffuse exchanges of trust and reciprocal respect that binds people to their communities (Claridge, 2020; Onyx & Leonard, 2010; Pellmar et al., 2002). These circles of engagement may include various formal and informal governmental or civic agencies such as emergency food programs, neighborhood meal sites, community farmer's markets, faith-based food pantries, social clubs, and other programs as well as neighbor to neighbor interactions that provide food supports to those experiencing food hardship (Claridge, 2020; Cattell, 2001; Dean et al., 2014; Leischik et al., 2016; Onyx & Leonard, 2010).

Core Food Security Module (CFSM)

A series of 18 questions (10 if no children reside in the household) that ask whether the household faces difficulties feeding adults and children over the past year because of a lack of food (Anderson et al., 2016; Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014; US Department of Agriculture [USDA\, 2016). Each question was qualified by the stipulation that the food hardship was caused by the lack of money (USDA, 2016).

CFSM is part of the Current Population Survey (CPS), a nationally representative monthly survey conducted by the US Census Bureau (Anderson et al., 2016; Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014; US Department of Agriculture, 2016). The survey has been consistent since 2001, with some additions beginning with 2016 (USDA,, 2016). It is currently a part of the nationally representative 50,000-household December supplement to CPS (Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014; USDA,, 2016). Table 1. outlines the food security & insecurity categories used in the CFSM.

Table 1

USDA categories	Descriptions of CFSM responses
Fully Food Secure	No positive responses
Marginally Food Secure	1 or 2 positive responses
Food Insecure	3 or more positive responses
Very Low Food Security	6 or more positive responses (households without children)
	8 or more positive responses (households with children)
Food Insecurity among Children	2 or more positive responses to child-referenced questions
Very Low Food Security among Children	5 or more positive responses to child-referenced questions

Descriptions of Food Security & Insecurity Categories

From: "Childhood Food Insecurity in the U.S.: Trends, Causes, & Policy Options," by C. Gundersen, and J.P. Ziliak, 2014, *The Future of Children: Princeton-Brookings*,1-19, p.2. https://futureofchildren.princeton.edu/sites/futureofchildren/files/media/childhood_food_insecurity_researchreport-fall2014.pdf

Food Hardship

A measure of food insecurity obtained through a bi-annual survey of households that assesses if the household has difficulty obtaining the food needed due to not having enough money (Feeding Wisconsin, 2015).

Food Insecurity

Inability to secure adequate and appropriate amounts of healthy food needed for optimal health and wellness through normally acceptable channels (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2014; Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014; Heckman, 2016; Nord et al., 2014). A working definition used by the USDA states that "food insecurity is present when food access is insufficient or uncertain for at least one person in the household at some point in the year." (Heckman, 2016, p.2)

Food Security

Condition in which there is sufficient food for healthy and active living for all household members at all times (Heckman, 2016, p.2).

Healthy Family Meals

Meals that are planned to meet the nutritional needs of the various family members, which include the appropriate amounts adjusted based on age, growth, health, and wellness needs (ODPHP, 2021). Included in the concept of healthy family meals is the influence of the social structure and support through eating together as a family, parents' role modeling healthy behaviors, the values placed on healthy eating and active living practices, the meal as a teaching tool, and food traditions (ODPHP, 2021). A sense of belonging and love are reinforced through the sharing of food and the priority of having a set mealtime and place (ODPHP, 2021).

Healthy Nutritional Intake

Ingestion of the macro and micronutrients that the body needs in the right proportions for optimal human development, functioning, and longevity (Buttriss et al., 2014; ODPHP, 2021). Various healthy eating plans have been identified, including the MyPlate Food Guide, The DASH Diet Plan, and the Mediterranean Eating Pattern, which serve as guides to healthy meal planning to meet individual and household nutritional requirements (Buttriss et al., 2014; ODPHP, 2021). Having connections to the food safety net system such as participation in the SNAP and WIC Programs have been correlated to higher nutrient intake by food-insecure households (Kaiser et al., 2015; USDA FNS, 2013; Whitmore Schanzenbach, 2016).

Human Capital

Overall knowledge, skills, and abilities that an individual possesses that aid in navigating through life (Onyx & Leonard, 2010; Pellmar et al., 2002). Individuals with a high level of social connections and support networks have a greater potential to build human capital through our propensity for lifelong learning (Bolin et al., 2003).

Social Capital

Interrelationships and bonds that exist among individuals or groups, both inside and outside the family or household unit (Pellmar et al., 2002). As people in a community connect with one another, they create social capital (Cattell, 2001; Pellmar et al., 2002). Social capital can promote the enhancement of human capital through reciprocal knowledge exchanges, can influence human behavior, perceptions of well-being, links to resources, and enhance community capacity through civic engagement and advocacy (Bolin et al., 2003; Cattell, 2001; Claridge, 2020; Dean et al., 2014; Leischik et al., 2016; Pellmar et al., 2002).

Structural Competency

Having the knowledge, skills, and capabilities necessary to intervene when interacting with individuals or groups with unmet social issues to reduce health inequalities. This may include addressing the social, organizational, and environmental determinants of health that impact well-being and the quality of life (Jordan, 2013; Pellmar et al., 2002).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Given the limited qualitative data available on the strength of the social networks, an underlying assumption is that as social connectedness goes up, so does the level of social support, and the quality of the interactions that evolves (Pellmar et al., 2002). Another assumption, due to limited data, is that participants had access to nutritional or health coaches.

Limitations

One limitation is that this quantitative research design that utilizes cross-sectional secondary data doesn't include an examination of qualitative interviews of the affected households so that the perceived quality of the social connections and support could be extensively explored. Future follow-up research could focus on perceptions of overall health, fitness practices, discrimination experiences, and extent of PTSD in those at-risk for food insecurity that could yield valuable information. Also, given the highly segregated and diverse racial and ethnic populations seen within the counties in Wisconsin, the results of the examination of social capital, food insecurity, and the influence of income differences within Milwaukee and Dane County, may not be generalizable to other Wisconsin counties (Logan & Stults, 2011).

Delimitations

The scope of the study is bound by data that were collected through secondary data sources, which were primarily quantitative in nature. The dataset includes limited data on access to nutrition professionals, awareness of healthy meal planning skills, and knowledge of nutritional recommendations for the preparation of household meals. The study was not able to fully explore the emotional state of those experiencing food insecurity, nor distinguish the severity of food insecurity by categories (e.g., very low food insecurity) within each county or food hardship districts. Also, although countywide level SHOW data was available for Milwaukee and Dane County, they were not available for many surrounding counties, limiting further regional comparisons. Given the vast disparities seen within and between counties (e.g., racial/ethnic, income), results may not be generalizable to the entire State.

Significance of the Study

Reduction of Gaps

The state of Wisconsin boasts a lower overall food insecurity rate (11.6%) compared to the 14.4% rate of the US population (Curtis, Barfeld, & Lessem, 2014; Heckman, 2016). However, this rate doesn't reveal the significant racial and ethnic inequities present within the State, with the white population having a much lower food insecurity rate of 8.7% (Curtis et al., 2014; Heckman, 2016). The African Americans and Hispanic populations have rates as high as 34.6% which is higher than both the State and national food insecurity levels (Heckman, 2016). Heckman (2016) recognized these disparities and offered a list of strategies to address the problem.

Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (2017) said, in a position paper that addressed food security in the US:

Because of the tremendous dietary and health implications associated with food insecurity, it is paramount that nutrition and dietetics practitioners take a leadership role in identifying, addressing, and preventing food insecurity within their scope of practice. RDNs [Registered Dietitian Nutritionist] and NDTRs [Dietetic Technician Registered Nutritionist] should also advocate for the inclusion of dietetics practitioners in community-based initiatives and research. RDNs and NDTRs are uniquely positioned to address food loss and waste within the food system. In addition, RDNs and NDTRs can facilitate referrals, provide targeted education, and empower individuals struggling with food insecurity. Specifically, RDNs and NDTRs can help those struggling with food insecurity to access and connect with existing programs and social services aimed at improving food and nutrition security and other areas (e.g., employment, housing, and transportation assistance). (p. 1999)

Although the Academy's position statement provided clear guidance and support for the involvement of the nutrition professional in addressing food insecurity in education and practice, research, advocacy, and policy, there was no direct mention of assessing social capital, social isolation, or social connectedness which has been shown to be key factors to promoting motivation, empowerment, or self-efficacy (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Leischik et al., 2016; Pellmar et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2013-a). This represented a significant gap in the practice of dietetics that this research study sought to address.

In Milwaukee County, low socio-economic status (SES) issues have contributed to higher levels of food insecurity as well as health disparities in the inner city, low income, African American neighborhoods, calling for expanded emergency food pantry services (Cunningham et al., 2017; Friedens Community Ministries, 2017; Greer et al., 2013). Milwaukee County has the highest population of African Americans in the State of Wisconsin. Dane County, which includes Madison, WI, the State Capital, has the second-highest African American population with food insecurity rates higher than the state average (MHD, 2016; Heckman, 2016). Milwaukee County also has the congressional districts with both the highest and lowest food hardship rates in the State, District 4, and District 5, respectively (Curtis et al., 2014; Feeding Wisconsin, 2015; Greer et al., 2013; Heckman, 2016). The highest food hardship district encompasses the inner city, low income, African American neighborhoods (Curtis et al., 2014; Greer et al., 2013; Heckman, 2016).

Research was warranted that informs and prioritizes specific issues that could be included in prevention and coaching efforts to impact food insecurity and enhance awareness and access to healthy food resources (Grimm et al., 2013; Kaiser, 2013). Examining if social capital is related to risk of food insecurity seen within Wisconsin, through examination of Milwaukee and Dane County, assisted in developing strategies to empower households experiencing food insecurity in meeting their nutrition and health needs (Curtis et al., 2014; Gregory & Coleman-Jensen, 2013; Jordan, 2013; Lo et al., 2012; Martino et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2013). This study also led to assess-based community development (ABCD) initiatives, a strength-based approach to building community capacity for achieving food security for all (Ennis & West, 2010).

ABCD entails the practitioner having a constructionist worldview in which all people are believed to have an innate toolkit of strengths, assets, and abilities which can be mobilized to positively impact their lives (Ennis & West, 2010). It is sensitive to the internal psychodynamics of knowledge, understanding, and self-efficacy, as well as the external influences of social, environmental, cultural, traditional, and policy factors that affect actions. Among the key elements identified in ABCD are the importance of relationship-building to inspire and provide choices from which the individual has the freedom and power to select (Ennis & West, 2010; Mettler et al., 2014).

Assessing knowledge, capabilities, and the extent of social connectedness through social networks has helped in setting realistic, achievable goals that are long-lasting and sustainable (Ennis & West, 2010; Mettler et al., 2014; Pellmar et al., 2002). The results of the study were used to tailor nutritional coaching interactions and inform social or environmental change strategies for greater healthy food access, personal empowerment, and building community capacity (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Brown et al., 2015; Ennis & West, 2010; Leischik et al., 2016; Mettler et al., 2014; Minkler et al., 2003; Pellmar et al., 2002).

As a registered dietitian (RD) and health promotion advocate as well as an active member and nutritional advisor to the Milwaukee County Organizations Promoting Prevention (MCOPP; formerly the Milwaukee Childhood Obesity Prevention Program), I have sought to discover and advance innovative ways to improve the nutrition and fitness practices of the residents of the Milwaukee community (Behlmann & Brennan, 2014; Christens et al., 2016; Greer & Nelson, 2014; Hunter et al., 2014; Nelson et al., 2015; Young et al., 2014). Furthermore, as a former Board member of the Frieden's Community Ministries, Food Pantry Network, I assisted in running four food pantries located throughout the city of Milwaukee (Frieden's Community Ministries, 2017).

In addition, I remain an active partner in statewide health promotion initiatives, including some that are centered in Dane County (i.e., Madison, WI). Two include the Wisconsin Diabetes Advisory Group of the Wisconsin Department of Health Services Chronic Disease Prevention Program (WDHS CDPP) and healthTIDE Wisconsin, State Obesity Prevention Initiative (Adams et al., 2016). Both are striving to create collective impact initiatives that lower the chronic disease and childhood obesity rates as seen within the state of Wisconsin (Adams et al., 2016). Both are also involved in implementing the state health plan (Wisconsin Department of Health Services [WDHS], 2018).

Nutrition and physical activity promotion are included as one of the five priority areas in the five-year (2015-2020) Wisconsin state health improvement plan. Priority action teams (PATs) have been established for each priority area to lead and coordinate progress. The nutrition and physical activity PAT include members and associates of healthTIDE (myself included) and the Wisconsin Breastfeeding Coalition (WDHS, 2018). These groups lead the statewide efforts to achieve the goal of "all Wisconsin residents eating healthier and moving more though increased intake of healthy foods and drinks, increased breastfeeding initiation and duration, and increased physical activity." (WDHS, 2018, p.26) Another strategy included supporting current community coalitions and organizations in implementing key nutrition strategies as well as helping to establish new alliances where none are present (WDHS, 2018)

Social change would be forged through the promotion of community engagement and collaborative wavemaker leadership (e.g., healthTIDE members) using a systems mindset (Mui et al., 2019; Nelson et al., 2015). Evidence-informed strategies would be developed and implemented from the grassroots ground up level, as well as at the wider organizational and societal levels through linking the actions of diverse coalitions (e.g., MCOPP) with environmental and policy transformations (Adams et al., 2016; Bolin et al., 2003; Nelson et al., 2015; Pellmar et al., 2002).

This research study was able to fill the gaps in knowledge related to the social influences on food insecurity that exist within Milwaukee and Dane counties, in Wisconsin (Greer et al., 2013; Heckman, 2016). Although general demographic information was available on the rates of food insecurity and food hardship by Congressional district or by racial/ethnic groups, there was a limited analysis of the specific types of social capital networks or connectedness on the risk of food insecurity (Greer et al., 2013; Heckman, 2016). It remained unknown whether there was a relationship between income level and social capital and risk of food insecurity. A greater understanding was gained of the social capital assets and needs of the at-risk community to impact the effectiveness of the future interventions that were proposed (Behlmann & Brennan, 2014; Johnson et al., 2010; Nelson et al., 2015; Pellmar et al., 2002).

Therefore, the specific intent of this research was to promote the incorporation of the results and recommendations formulated into nutritional and health coaching practices as well as in MCOPP and healthTIDE strategic planning. Tailored strategies related to social capital and food insecurity risk would also be woven into future grant proposals, developed in collaboration with committed partnering agencies and food pantry networks within Milwaukee and Dane County (Adams et al., 2016; Frieden's Community Ministries, 2017). The goal would be to build the capacity of health promotion staff, health and nutritional coaches, policy advocates, and the community at large for addressing food insecurity through enhancing social capital awareness, social connectedness and engagement, and community support networks (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Adams et al., 2016; Frieden's Community Ministries, 2017; Hunter et al., 2011; Pellmar et al., 2002).

Implications for Social Change

Findings from this research study which promoted an increased awareness of social capital networks and supports, both from the individual and community context, in two counties in Wisconsin (Milwaukee and Dane County), aided in informing strategies for tailoring nutritional or health coaching practices (Curtis et al., 2014; Jordan, 2013; Smith et al., 2013). Understanding the relationship between income level and social capital and risk of food insecurity informed strategies for addressing the high cost of food and managing the household food budget to achieve recommended healthy eating patterns for optimal health and well-being (Gregory et al., 2013). Enhancing social support networks and community capacity for addressing food insecurity may also have an impact on reducing other health risks through enhancement of self-efficacy, such as prediabetes and heart disease, thus reducing the healthcare burden on society (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Bolin et al., 2003; Jordan, 2013; Wong et al., 2011).

For children, improved health, growth patterns, learning, and school achievement may be seen which could positively influence their entire life course (Martino et al., 2017; USDA Food and Nutrition Service, 2013). Informed nutritional coaches may aid in creating an integrated health promotion and food security system that builds social capital for empowered individuals, households, and communities (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Behlmann & Brennan, 2014; Bolin et al., 2003; Christens et al., 2016; Leischik et al., 2016). These empowered social networks may forge a collective impact that advocates for access to the healthy food resources and service linkages that are needed for achievement of sustainable community food security (Adams et al., 2013; Adams et al., 2016; Dean et al., 2011; Jordan, 2013; Leischik et al., 2016; Minkler et al., 2003).

A Review of Professional and Academic Literature

In conducting an extensive literature review, I used the following databases: CINAHL, Medline, PubMed, ProQuest Centra, SAGE Journals, Science Direct, Taylor & Francis Online, and Google Scholar. I used the following search terms: *food insecurity*, *food hardship*, *social capital*, *social network*, *nutritional coaching*, *health promotion*, *patient-centered care*, and *health equity*. I also searched for sources published between 2018 and 2022 and foundational articles that were included in the references of key selected publications as well as articles included as similar topics in search engines to thoroughly explore the subject area being reviewed. Given the use of the IM for this research study, a broad and comprehensive review of factors related to social capital and food insecurity was conducted.

Literature Review

In examining the literature that looked at the issue of social capital and food insecurity several themes emerged.

First, the limitations of food hardship and the household's ability to act on the health promotion and nutrition messages received, brought a consideration of the functional mode of the at-risk household in relationship to Maslow's hierarchy of needs and others foundational theories of human development and health promotion. Particular attention was given to where social interaction and connectedness fit in the needs model, the overall promotion of optimal health, including relational health, and its effect on the growth and development of children and teens.

Next, I looked at the ways nutritional and health coaching was used to address the needs of the at-risk population, including standards of nutrition care and the knowledge to action (KTA) exchange distinctions between nutrition education, counseling, and coaching. Examples of interventions to promote improved nutritional status through building social capital and supportive environments were provided.

Continuing in this review is a look at how culture, racial and ethnic identity, and types of social connections may impact the social determinants of health and health disparities, with an introduction to structural competency skills for working to meet the unmet needs of the low income and food insecure population. Moreover, I sought to examine the literature related to the use of building social capital as an intervention strategy to promote food security, health equity, and to build community capacity, with a review of high-risk groups included.

Finally, the economic impact of food insecurity as compared to the food secure was explored through a review of the household budget at various income levels related to the cost of raising a child. This also included the influence of the high cost of food to meeting nutritional recommendations and the importance of skill-building initiatives to further reveal the gaps that this research study seeks to bridge.

The Importance of Social Capital to Human Development and Health Promotion

Many theorists have provided insight on the human need for social interactions for healthy human development and health promotion (Khan Academy, 2018; Koltko-Rivera, 2006; Winston, 2016; Winston et al., 2017). Among these, Maslow's hierarchy of needs has been viewed as one of the key foundational works that explains human's functioning and motivation in the presence of adversity or abundance, from those that are suffering to excelling (Khan Academy, 2018; Koltko-Rivera, 2006; Winston, 2016; Winston et al., 2017). In the 1940s and '50s, Abraham Maslow, a psychologist, and scholar of humanism studied exceptional individuals such as Albert Einstein to understand their motivation to achieve (Maslow, 1943). He went on to develop the five stages of human needs which are usually depicted in a pyramid diagram (Khan Academy, 2018; Maslow, 1943). Humanism is a theory of motivation that postulates that humans are inherently good but driven by free will (Khan Academy, 2018; Winston, 2016; Winston et al., 2017). Motivation is spurred on by a conscious decision to meet basic needs along with a drive for the achievement of self-actualization, reaching human's fullest potential (Khan Academy, 2018; Koltko-Rivera, 2006). The Maslow's model premise is that each level builds up to the next such that the lower level one (bottom tier – basic needs) must be achieved to proceed up to level 5 (top tier- self-actualization and transcendent)(Khan Academy, 2018; Koltko-Rivera, 2006; Maslow, 1943). Figure 2 outlines the five stages of Maslow's hierarchy of needs.

Figure 2



Note: The lower-level basic needs must be met before moving to the next level. *Level 5 – Self-actualization, able to meet full potential, morality focused, creative, relaxed, motivated to compete and excel. Adapted from: "Theories of Personality." *Khan Academy (2018)*. <u>https://www.khanacademy.org/test-prep/mcat/behavior/theories-personality/v/biological-theory</u>

Food insecure households must meet basic survival and social needs before health promotion actions are feasible which is at a higher functional level (Koltko-Rivera, 2006; Maslow, 1943). The nutritional coach would need to assess the spheres of influence and extent of social connectedness so that effective strategies and actions could be formulated that are tailored to the individual's or household's unique situation (Mettler et al., 2014). Low social capital and limited spheres of influence are predictive of low social support, with lower coping capabilities for life challenges encountered and an inability to reach optimal functioning or potential (Dube et al., 2001).

Another humanistic psychologist, Carl Rogers characterized self-actualization as emanating early in life from a constant growth-promoting environment in which two elements must be in place (Khan Academy, 2018). First, the individual must be free to be their genuine true self without fear. This involves having trusting relationships with others and not being bound by conditions or expectations. A key element of selfconception is an understanding of the question of who am I? Understanding self allows the individual to open-up and learn (Khan Academy, 2018).

The second concept needed for self-actualization is acceptance from others. Growth flourishes through the positive acceptance of others. Thus, essential to the achievement of self-actualization and reaching one's highest potential is an environment that allows exploration of self as well as having genuine social relationships with others (Khan Academy, 2018). Both humanistic theories provide support for the examination of social capital in addressing food insecurity by nutrition and health promotion coaches as strategies for achieving nutrition and wellness goals (Khan Academy, 2018). The complex issues of social capital and social determinants of health were outlined in a seven-part documentary series (National Minority Consortium of Public Television & Joint Center Health Policy Institute, 2008). The series looked at the root causes of socioeconomic and racial inequities in health. They highlighted the health impacts of the social circumstances that are present at birth as well as related to where individuals live and work. It was illustrated, through looking at the lives of individuals in four districts of Louisville, Kentucky, that there were as much as a ten-year difference in life expectancy between the wealthiest and the lowest income districts (National Minority Consortium of Public Television & Joint Center Health Policy Institute, 2008).

Chronic stress along with economic and racial inequities were cited as contributing to disparities (National Minority Consortium of Public Television & Joint Center Health Policy Institute, 2008). Strategies to address these social determinants of health are being proposed in Louisville and communities throughout the US that focus not on more medical solutions but on transforming social practices and public policies to achieve health equity (National Minority Consortium of Public Television & Joint Center Health Policy Institute, 2008). The following is a summary of the different levels of social functioning of the individuals based on income, social status, and capabilities for meeting individual and household needs for healthful living and well-being:

Very low-income individuals and families (Maslow's Basic Level 1)- may be suffering when basic needs for food, clothing, and shelter are not routinely met. Food hardship with money only for necessities may be seen with low cost, low nutrient, highcalorie foods consumed. These individuals may present with limited transportation, low leisure activities, higher stress levels, lower educational levels, higher perceived poor health, and high risk for chronic disease, mental health disorders, and premature death.

Lower wage income households (referred to as the working poor) (Maslow's Basic Level 2) - may be viewed as surviving such that some minimum needs and desires are being met such as cell phone, food extras, housing, and transportation may be less of a problem. There may be more disposable money but tight with participation in spectatorsports, but money still limited for recreation and trips. There may be low food insecurity or marginal food security, still having issues of obtaining the healthy food that is needed. Stress levels may be high, with a high risk of chronic disease. May present with low levels of health and financial literacy.

Moderate income households (Maslow's Social Level) - with more household money and community connections, can purchase or obtain a variety of healthy foods to meet the recommended healthy meal patterns for health and longevity. Strong social connections with family, friends, and relatives are key to meeting life's challenges. They are connected to a church and other social outlet. They also have medical insurance and a relationship with their health care provider. Yet, they still may not have enough income to plan for the dream vacation that they desire.

High-income households (Maslow's Esteem Level) - are thriving and may have money that can be used for other wants (e.g., cable TV, electronics) and money that can be used for vacations and weekend getaways. A fitness lifestyle is perceived as feasible, with participation in fun fitness and active leisure activities with family and friends. Can consume a wide variety of foods regardless of price. They are not worried about

52

necessities. They hold high paying jobs that provide them with respect and responsibility, which is desirable but stressful.

Wealthy households (Maslow's Self-actualization Level) - are said to be excelling when all dimensions of holistic health can be met with high social capital, high social connections and support, high disposable income for leisure activities, vacations, and socializing with family, friends, and colleagues. Morality and social responsibility focused through monetary donations are now feasible. Housing and environmental aspects are conducive to achieving a healthy lifestyle. High educational attainment with higher health and financial literacy is apparent (Koltko-Rivera, 2006; Maslow, 1943; National Minority Consortium of Public Television & Joint Center Health Policy Institute, 2008).

Other behavioral theories used in nutrition, obesity, and physical activity interventions contend that the extent of social relationships and interactions along with environmental factors exert significant impacts on health practices of individuals and groups (Baranowski et al., 2003). In the social cognitive theory (SCT), the reciprocal interplay of personal and environmental influences, with social context as a component of the environment, were viewed as critical constructs in the development of health practices (Bandura, 1995; Baranowski et al., 2003; Nieuwenhuijsen et al., 2006). The individual's attention level, memorization, imitation, expectations, and motivation all combine to affect knowledge, skills, and self-efficacy for health practices (Nieuwenhuijsen et al., 2006). Byrd-Bredbenner et al. (2011) reported that the SCT constructs of self-efficacy, self-regulation (e.g., goal setting, self-reward, self-monitoring, and environmental structuring), outcome expectations, and coping were used in the examination of 201 mothers related to BMI and diet quality. Using a Likert scale and statistical analysis, all SCT constructs were evaluated to see if there were differences in BMI or diet quality from mothers in the highest, middle, and lowest-ranked groups. Results indicated that the lowest quadrant had an intake of significantly lower fiber, vitamin C, magnesium, potassium, fruit, and vegetables than the highest quadrant as well as significantly more calories, fat, and cholesterol (Byrd-Bredbenner et al., 2011). Environmental findings showed that TV viewers at dinner had significantly lower consumption of fiber, vitamin C, magnesium, potassium, fruits, and vegetables than those that didn't watch television at dinnertime (Byrd-Bredbenner et al., 2011).

Through regression analysis, self-monitoring, environmental structuring, selfreward, and outcome expectations were shown to be significant positive predictors of self-efficacy (Byrd-Bredbenner et al., 2011). And self-monitoring was a positive predictor of outcome expectations (Byrd-Bredbenner et al., 2011). It was concluded that given the significant results between the SCT constructs, differences in nutritional intake, and BMI levels, it suggests a need to include strategies to build self-efficacy, selfregulation, outcome expectations, and coping skills in mothers to enhance health promotion efforts (Byrd-Bredbenner et al., 2011).

Social network theory (SNT) looks at the extent to which an individual, household, or organization are connected to others and their environment, with particular

54

attention to the levels of social connections observed (Ennis & West, 2010). Social networks form the framework that supports the existence of social capital which can be robust when considering the larger community or minimal when mapping out a smaller household unit (Claridge, 2020; Ennis & West, 2010). A visual matrix can be drawn by using nodes or points to represent the players or network members and attaching lines to show the connections based on a certain type of relationship, resource, or service being reviewed (Ennis & West, 2010). Those with a high number of social connections are assumed to have a high level of social support which has been linked to higher coping skills for handling adverse life consequences, such as food insecurity (Claridge, 2020; Ennis & West, 2010). The SNT analysis process can be used to develop enhanced strategies for asset-based community development through building upon the social networks and potential community connections that are identified (Ennis & West, 2010).

The SEM uses the interpersonal environment that surrounds the individual to understand the health or social determinate issues to be addressed (Baranowski et al., 2003). This includes exploring the social interactions and spheres of influence at various levels from the interpersonal to the societal levels (Baranowski et al., 2003). SEM takes a systems approach to create supportive environments and policies that enhance desired behaviors and establish new cultural norms (Baranowski et al., 2003).

In articles that outlined the social relationship factors that exert influence on food intake and activity practices in obese individuals, social elements included: role modeling (practices acquired through emulating the actions of others); behavioral and cultural norms (health habits routinely conducted by the social groups); facilitating (initiating or halting an activity according to the coordination with others); and influencing strategies (trying to impact others health thoughts through behavior modification techniques) (Baranowski et al., 2003; Nieuwenhuijsen et al., 2006; Smith et al., 2013-a). Key to the SEM is the involvement of the at-risk population and looking at the issue from all levels of influence so that the most effective strategies can be implemented (Baranowski et al., 2003; Nieuwenhuijsen et al., 2006; Smith et al., 2013-a).

Health coaching is grounded in the ontological, constructionist worldview where learning is generated from the lived experiences of the individual, household, or community (Lundy, 2010; Smith et al., 2013-a). It encompasses a strength-based, patientcentered approach to health promotion such that if given a voice, the individual (or community residents) can tell the health coach (or community-based participatory researcher) what they need, what has worked best, and what they would like to see implemented (Minkler et al., 2003). The role of the health coach, in this case, is more of a content expert, data communicator, facilitator, and support person (Smith et al., 2013-a). There are two-way learning exchanges and power is shared through the mutually respectful, trusting relationship that is formed (Smith et al., 2013-a).

Using a patient-centered approach has been shown to yield positive results by addressing the problem from the ground up, through the lived experience of the individual or group (Minkler et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2013-a). Co-producing knowledge about a complex problem through "engaged scholarship" is consistent with a systemsthinking lens (Minkler et al., 2003; Mui et al., 2019; Nelson et al., 2015). The I that was used in this research study, provided a broader systems approach of viewing complex
health issues, such as food insecurity, which has multiple elements of influence. Through the IM map, a comprehensive assessment of variables from the intrapersonal and community context was considered in determining the most feasible strategies to implement (Lundy, 2010). It is important for the health coach to understand the social and environmental context of the individual or groups to be served so that targeted messages, appropriate guidance, and support can be provided (Minkler et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2013-a).

Social Capital Impacts Child and Adolescent Growth and Development

Social relationships have been shown to play significant roles in childhood impacting overall health and development (<u>Garner & Yogman, 2021</u>; Pellmar et al., 2002). The parent-child interaction can influence the types of foods consumed as well as the child's relationship towards eating through the food environment that is created (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017). The home feeding environment may be influenced by several factors including the parent's responsiveness to their child as well as their ability to cope with adverse life events (<u>Garner & Yogman, 2021</u>; Jackson & Vaughn, 2017; O'Connor et al., 2009).

Early feeding interactions between mother and infant may result in more positive feeding experiences and produce greater maternal sensitivity and responsiveness to infant needs (Davies et al., 2006; Satter, 2014). The pioneering work of Ellen Satter (1986-a-b; 2004; 2014) and her work in conjunction with Davies et al. (2006) related to the parentchild feeding relationship and the division of responsibilities in feeding between parent

57

and child highlighted the importance of setting a positive social environment for feeding. Understanding the child's need for autonomy to develop a healthy relationship with food without forcing or limiting food would be needed (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Davies et al., 2006; Satter, 2014). O'Connor et al. (2009) looked at parental feeding styles using self-reported data from a cohort of Head Start parent-child dyads. It was documented that higher fruit and vegetable intake was associated with parents in the non-directive food parenting cluster that used practices that increased availability and access of fruits and vegetables as well as those that used teachable moments to engage their children in thinking about the benefits of eating fruits and vegetables. These parents used a lower amount of firm discipline, allowing the child to exercise autonomy (O'Connor et al., 2009). Low intake of fruits and vegetables were associated with authoritarian parents who practice lower engagement during feeding with a high amount of directive eating through firm discipline external to the child, such as treats, rewards, pressure to eat, and restrictions (O'Connor et al., 2009).

Breastfeeding has been associated with improved mother-infant bonding (Anderson et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2014-a). Active bonding (i.e., verbal interactions during feeding) may protect against childhood internalizing disorders (Liu et al., 2014-a; Olff, 2012). Research has shown that childhood internalizing disorders, such as depression and anxiety, can affect up to 20% of children and adolescents and can increase the risk of future psychological problems in adulthood (Liu et al., 2014-a; Olff, 2012). A study by Liu et al. (2014-a) found that breastfed babies with mothers that were highly interactive had the lowest rates of internalizing behaviors (mean = 10.01, SD = 7.21) as compared to

babies that were not completely breastfed or not breastfed (mean = 12.79, SD = 8.14). African American mothers and mothers that are low income have the lowest rates of breastfeeding in the US (CDC, 2013; Hess et al., 2015). In 2013, it was reported that a low of 30.1% of African American infants were still breastfeed at 6 months as compared to 46.6% of non-Hispanic white infants and 45.2% of Mexican American infants (CDC, 2013; Hess et al., 2013; Hess et al., 2015).

Financial strain in the household and food hardship can affect the child's physiological development which may lead to failure to thrive, impaired brain development, and strained relational health development (American Academy of Pediatrics [AAP], 2012; Lente, 2012; Olff, 2012; Walsh & Theodorakakis, 2017; Wong et al., 2016). Strong relational health in which children establish secure attachments to their caregivers are fostered through exposure to engaged, responsive caregivers in a safe, stable, and nurturing emotional environments (Garner & Yogman, 2021; Liu et al., 2014-a). Formation of relational health is an essential protective factor for the development of emotional regulation, resilience, and the ability to cope with adversity throughout life (AAP, 2012; Dube et al., 2001; Garner & Yogman, 2021; Lente, 2012; Olff, 2012; Pellmar et al., 2002).

Parent's poverty-related stress can lead to depression and marital conflict which can activate the child's stress response system, including the child's immune system (AAP, 2012; Cattell, 2001; Lente, 2012; Olff, 2012; Walsh & Theodorakakis, 2017). Stress-induced changes in the immune response can contribute to inflammatory, infectious, and auto-immune health disorders (Pellmar et al., 2002). Prolonged exposure to toxic stress due to adverse childhood experiences (ACE), including hunger and food insecurity, can lead to impaired learning, behavioral problems, and the inability to form bonding relationships with others that can last throughout adult life (AAP, 2012; Dube et al., 2001; <u>Garner & Yogman, 2021;</u> Lente, 2012; Olff, 2012; Walsh & Theodorakakis, 2017; Wong et al., 2016). In a study that used data from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study – Birth Cohort (ECLS-B), Jackson and Vaughn (2017) said that parent's history of negative life circumstances can increase the likelihood of childhood food insecurity and hunger through its influence on social functioning, such as the parentchild interactions, as well as risks to the household environment. Disruptive life events that posed a significant risk to childhood food security included the experience of parent being suspended or permanently banned from school as a teen, a job loss, maternal depression, parental illness or hospitalization, and parental incarceration, among others (Jackson & Vaughn, 2017).

Children brought up in households that are food insecure have been found to have more emotional issues, such as anxiety, problems handling stress, and a higher suicidal propensity (Dube et al., 2001; <u>Garner & Yogman, 2021</u>; Jackson & Vaughn, 2017). In addition, those that are food insecure have been linked to asthma, recurrent hospital admissions, high weight status, and lower academic achievement (Jackson & Vaughn, 2017). It was concluded that to address food insecurity, health care providers or public health need to not only look at addressing the immediate unmet food needs but should also look deeper into the disruptive life events that can be manifested within the household's social environment (<u>Garner & Yogman, 2021</u>; Jackson & Vaughn, 2017).

In adolescence, social connections have been shown to influence weight and fitness practices (Anderson Steeves et al., 2016; Garner & Yogman, 2021). This has been associated with a youth's propensity to conform to the social norms, role models, and the trends of their peer groups (Anderson Steeves et al., 2016). Adolescents may also gain greater control over their food choices due to increased amounts of personal funds to buy food which could have both positive and negative consequences on food intake patterns (Anderson Steeves et al., 2016). Anderson Steeves et al. (2016) conducted a convergent parallel, mixed-method design study to examine the social roles that parents, friends, and significant others play on the food consumption and physical activity habits of low income, African American youth, ages 9 to 15 years. The study was a sub-study of the B'more Healthy Communities for Kids (BHCK), an obesity prevention initiative conducted in the food desert neighborhoods of Baltimore, MD, USA. Structural questionnaires (quantitative data) were completed by 297 youth with combined comprehensive interviews (qualitative data) from 38 youth and 10 parents. The results showed that parents and caregivers (e.g., grandparents) play several major roles that impact the food consumption patterns and activity level of youth such as establishing household health promotion parameters, creating a healthy food environment, and being a role model for active living (Anderson Steeves et al., 2016; ODPHP, 2021).

An issue that emerged in managing the home food environment was the parents' will for establishing a healthy food environment (Anderson Steeves et al., 2016; <u>Garner</u> <u>& Yogman, 2021</u>). The types of foods purchased were influenced by the cost of grocery items as well as their knowledge of the nutritional value of foods (Anderson Steeves et al., 2016).

al., 2016). Some parents purchased a sugary juice drink versus 100% juice because of the lower cost without concern for or understanding of the nutritional contribution it provided (Anderson Steeves et al., 2016).

Other significant people such as friends and relatives (e.g., Aunt) may also influence the youth through such things as being partners for active play or providing exposure to new foods, respectively (Anderson Steeves et al., 2016; <u>Garner & Yogman</u>, <u>2021)</u>, Teachers and healthcare providers were shown to mainly provide information to enhance knowledge on eating and fitness with little other strategies used to promote healthy behaviors (Anderson Steeves et al., 2016). It was concluded that more research was needed to identify effective strategies to build on and to impact social support relationships that influence minority youths' health practices (Anderson Steeves et al., 2016; <u>Garner & Yogman</u>, 2021).

Health Promotion and Social Capital

Health is molded by both the extent to which an individual is capable to pursue health through the resources that are available as well as their self-efficacy for making use of the opportunities for health that is available (Martin et al., 2017; Weaver et al., 2013). Some resources may be exchanged for other resources that promote health, such as financial resources for healthy food or exercise equipment (Bolin et al., 2003; Cattell, 2001). Social and cultural connections could be used to gain job positions, housing, or other supports that are needed, including food. It can also be used in shaping the health beliefs and traditions that are passed down through the generations that influence cultural health and wellness practices (Bolin et al., 2003; Cattell, 2001; Weaver et al., 2013).

In a qualitative study that looked at the influences of economic, social, and cultural resources on the dietary management of diabetes, Weaver et al. (2013) said those with low resources were the least equipped to manage their diabetes with lack of economic, social, and cultural supports having a negative impact compared to those with high resources. Those with high resources were highly motivated to achieve a healthy eating lifestyle with a sufficient quantity of financial, social, and cultural support to empower positive health promotion efforts. Thus, it was concluded that acquiring greater insight on how all three components (i.e., economic, social, cultural) influence the health capabilities of low resource groups were viewed as critical to the development of strategies to improve self-efficacy, disease management, and wellness practices (Weaver et al., 2013).

Several public health recommendations and documents called for more universal and targeted interventions geared to those that are disproportionally burdened by poor health (Givens et al., 2018; Healthy People [HP], 2018; Minkler et al., 2003; National Prevention Council, {NPC] 2011). Health disparities in the US are closely linked to social, economic, and environmental factors (Givens et al., 2018; HP, 2018; Minkler et al., 2003; NPC, 2011; Pellmar et al., 2002). Enhancing social relationships and social connectedness have motivated people to be more proactive in participating in healthy lifestyle practices, including active living, healthful eating, controlling stress, and healthy decision making (Givens et al., 2018; HP, 2018; Mills et al., 2017; NPC, 2011; Onyx & Leonard, 2010; Pellmar et al., 2002). Various initiatives have shown that through such things as community building, community organizing, and community based participatory action, the communities were empowered to address the social conditions that impacted the achievement of healthy behaviors (Garcia et al., 2013; Hoeft et al., 2014; Minkler et al., 2003; Onyx & Leonard, 2010; Pellmar et al., 2002).

Building social capital was effective through the trust and social cohesiveness that was developed (Hunter et al., 2011; Minkler et al., 2003; Onyx & Leonard, 2010). The collective impact that was generated promotes community ownership of the outcomes achieved (Hunter et al., 2011; Minkler et al., 2003; Onyx & Leonard, 2010). Some elements highlighted to build social capital included: retraining of professional staff to enhance coaching skills; open-ended transformational community building funding (versus traditional narrow targeted funding); involvement of the community in setting the direction of the initiative from the ground up; addressing adverse childhood experiences (ACE) through trauma-informed interventions, and supportive and engaged policymakers and community champions to provide leadership to community-driven public policy reform efforts (Garcia et al., 2013; Givens et al., 2018; Hoeft et al., 2014; Minkler et al., 2003; NPC, 2011; Onyx & Leonard, 2010).

Impacting Social Determinants of Health through Addressing Social Capital

Social capital has been extensively researched over decades in the social and behavioral sciences but has received renewed attention by health promotion and public health researchers looking at ways to combat the social determinants of health, moving upstream to address root causes of health disparities (Brennan Ramirez et al., 2008; Garcia et al., 2013). Table 2. reveals the complex array of social issues that may need to be addressed to impact an individual's achievement of optimal health and well-being.

Table 2

Housing	Single Parenting
Employment	Medical and Mental Health Services
Poverty/ Working Poor	Environmental Hazard (e.g., Lead in Water)
Hunger & Malnutrition	Transportation
Healthy Food Access in Community	Walkable Communities
High Food Costs	Quality Schools, Higher Education
Health Disparities	Recreational Facilities
Neighborhood Crime/Safety	Active Faith Community
Drug, Alcohol, Tobacco Abuse	High School Dropouts; School Achievement
Incarceration	A Person with a Disability in the Household

Social Determinants of Health

Adapted from: "Promoting Health Equity: A Resource to Help Communities Address Social Determinants of Health," L.K. Brennan Ramirez et al., 2008. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dch/programs/healthycommunitiesprogram/tools/pdf/sdoh-workbook.pdf

Social capital has been viewed as a mediator between the social determinates of health that pose health risks and the extent of positive health outcomes achieved (Hunter et al., 2011). The strengths of social relationships whether within the household or community may impact the ability to navigate through life's hardships (Pellmar et al., 2002; Social Capital Research and Training, 2018). Effectively managing adversity has been shown to impact health and perception of the quality of life (Pellmar et al., 2002; Social Capital Research and Training, 2018).

Households with high social connections were shown to have greater trusting relationships and more resilience in dealing with adversity (Hunter et al., 2011; Onyx & Leonard, 2010; Pellmar et al., 2002). While, those households that were more socially isolated, having few social networks, had less social support and less ability to cope with the hardships of life leading to higher health impairment, mental health issues, and higher mortality (Hunter, et al., 2011; Leung et al., 2015; Onyx & Leonard, 2010; Pellmar, et al., 2002). Even in poor communities, those with high levels of social connections had the least chronic disease and higher perceived quality of life (Hunter, et al., 2011).

Baiden et al. (2014), conducted a secondary data study using the Statistic Canada's 2012, Canadian Community Health Survey. They examined the association between a sense of community belonging to unmet healthcare needs of Canadian individuals, once adjustments were made for predisposing, enabling, and need factors related to use of health services. The sample included 21, 257 individuals, 12 years and older, using logistic regression statistical analysis (Baiden et al., 2014).

Results indicated that 10% of the individuals reported having unmet health care needs with community belonging having a significant effect (Baiden et al., 2014). Those with lower levels of community belonging were 1.27 times more likely to report unmet needs. Those shown to be more likely to have unmet needs included individuals that were younger, females, had more education, did not have a primary care physician, were in poor physical and mental health, were limited in activities of daily living, and presented with chronic health conditions (Baiden et al., 2014). Researchers concluded that health programs should be developed to meet both the specific needs of individuals as well as to promote a sense of community belonging (Baiden et al., 2014).

Pantell et al. (2013) examined the effect of social isolation on mortality risk as compared to traditional mortality risk factors (i.e., smoking, hypertension, high weight, and elevated cholesterol) to ascertain its relative predictive value. The study was conducted using an adult cohort from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) and the National Death Index. They found that those that were considered socially isolated had higher mortality from all causes as compared with those that were more socially connected (Pantell et al., 2013).

Furthermore, social isolation had a significant predictive value for mortality risk compared to that of smoking and high blood pressure in both men and women. Social isolation factors included being unmarried, limited church participation, low social contacts, and low club or agency memberships (Pantell et al., 2013). It was concluded that findings support the importance of evaluating an individual's level of social isolation (Pantell et al., 2013).

Building up social connections can occur over a shorter timeline than changing the broader social determinants of health such as impacting poverty levels, promoting income equality, or changing educational achievement rates (Hunter et al., 2011). This shorter timeline for realizing social change through the building of social capital lends itself well to local public health initiatives which need to show the effective use of public health funding (Hunter et al., 2011). Sustainability of social change may be positively impacted when the household and the community are empowered to take a leadership role in shaping their social environment. Through the forging of trusted relationships, new connections for support and resources, and collective civic engagement, the social conditions that affect health can be addressed (Garcia et al., 2013; Hunter et al., 2011; Minkler et al., 2003; Onyx & Leonard, 2010; Pellmar et al., 2002).

Dean et al. (2011) examined the influence of collective social functioning on food insecurity levels in older adults, which encompassed both community and familial social capital as well as perceived social disparity. They concluded that higher levels of food insecurity were associated with women, African Americans, households with low or poverty-level incomes, those that perceived their situation as worse than others, and those with low familial social capital (Dean et al., 2011). Lower risk of food insecurity was related to being older, those with a partner, and those with higher incomes (Dean et al., 2011).

Types of Social Capital

Social capital has been described in several ways based on the types of relationships that it encompasses (Claridge, 2004; Pellmar et al., 2002). Dean et al. (2014) reviewed the various social networks that could be accessed by older adults to deal with food needs. These social relationships included intimate social networks (e.g., familial, friendship, neighbors), community social relationships (e.g., civil groups with food pantries, home or community gardens, faith-based meal programs), and governmental capital which includes the formal food safety net system (e.g., SNAP; Senior Congregate Meals). They concluded the mix of these social networks, and the strengths of their connections can assist the low-income elderly to remain food secure whether living in urban or rural settings (Dean et al., 2014).

Additional types of social relationships or social connections have also been categorized by Villalonga-Olives et al., (2016) as belonging to two major categories, either bonding or bridging relationships. Bonding social relationships were those which included personal close relationships within an individual's immediate cultural circle, which includes family, friends, and other close individuals. Bridging social relationships includes individuals or groups outside the person's immediate social circle. They serve to educate or connect the individual to support services and affordable community resources, such as a trusted health professional, teacher, or community champion (Claridge, 2004; Onyx & Leonard, 2010; Villalonga-Olives et al., 2016).

A third type of social relationship, known as linking social capital, is viewed as an extension of bridging relationships that encompass the norms of respectful decorum and reciprocal trustful interactions that are formed amongst individuals and groups networking through formal structures or systems of higher power or hierarchy positions in civic society (Claridge, 2004; Villalonga-Olives et al., 2016). This type of linking relationship might be seen between a non-profit agency and grant administrators or elected officials and can be vital in building community capacity (Claridge, 2004; Onyx & Leonard, 2010).

Nutritional Care and Enhancement of Social Capital

Within the nutrition and dietetic field, assessment of the social and environmental factors that influence health and well-being are key elements of the nutritional care process and model (NCPM) (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2018). The NCPM is used as the practice guide for the dietetic profession as developed by the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (the Academy) (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2018; Stein, 2016). NCPM entails a systematic cyclical four-step process of nutritional assessment, nutritional diagnosis, nutrition intervention, and nutritional monitoring with outcome evaluation in a continuous feedback loop (Stein, 2016).

The NCPM is intended to work well in all practice settings to address health issues (Stein, 2016). This includes whether clinical treatment or community health promotion settings (Stein, 2016). In keeping with the intent of the NCPM to provide guidance to the dietetic professional, the Academy's Public Health/Community Nutrition Dietetic Practice Group (PHCN-DPG) developed specific Standards of Practice (SOP) and Standard of Professional Performance (SOPP) for those working in prevention and community nutrition (Bruening et al., 2015; Stein, 2016).

The SOP and SOPP are meant to assure that the public health and community nutrition professionals are providing nutrition education, counseling, coaching, and food services that are effective, evidence-based, client-centered, and appropriately planned to impact the nutritional issues encountered, which may include hunger and food insecurity (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2018; Bruening et al., 2015; Stein, 2016). The standards provide a framework for self-evaluation and enhancement of practice through continuing professional education, skill-building, and resources to demonstrate competency (Bruening et al., 2015). The Academy also supports on-going research so that new practice innovation can be included for continuous quality improvement to promote positive social change through evidence-based healthy eating strategies (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2018; Stein, 2016).

In a position statement guidance to nutrition professionals working with food insecure at-risk populations, the Academy (2017) said:

Systematic and sustained action is needed to achieve food and nutrition security in the U.S....Effective interventions are needed along with adequate funding for and increased utilization of food and nutrition assistance programs...RDN's and DTR's can play a significant role in addressing food insecurity and are uniquely positioned to make contributions through competent and collaborative practice, provisions of comprehensive food and nutrition education and training, innovative research related to all aspects of food insecurity, and advocacy efforts at the local, state, regional, and national levels. (p. 1991)

The parameters of the NCPM also forms the foundation of the Accreditation Council of Education in Nutrition and Dietetics (ACEND) knowledge and skills competency standards that were established in 2012 and recently updated in 2017 to guide dietetic educational programs (Turner et al., 2016). These standards are intended to meet the elements of the IOM recommended core competencies establish in 2003 to guide all health professions to more efficient and effective health services (Turner et al., 2016). The IOM emphasized five core competencies for incorporation into all health profession's instructions which included: using a patient-centered care framework, working in interdisciplinary teams, the use of evidence-based practices, centering on quality improvement, and utilizing informatics. (Turner et al., 2016, p. 1710).

The new ACEND competency standards-2017 places an emphasis on patientcentered care which is framed around enhancing the cultural competence of the practitioner and tailoring of the nutritional care plan based on the patients individual cultural, financial, and environmental needs (Turner et al., 2016). Although assessment of culture, age appropriateness, literacy levels, affordability, acceptability, and population diversity were directly mentioned in the ACEND standards, no direct reference to social capital, social connectedness, social support, social isolation, or social structures were found (Turner et al., 2016). This presented a gap that was addressed through this research study for expanded patient-centered care assessment and coaching recommendations when working with individuals experiencing or at-risk for food hardship.

Turner et al. (2016) conducted an online survey to examine to what extent has the IOM core competencies been incorporated into ACEND dietetic educational programming as compared to other health disciplines. The survey was e-mailed to 535 ACEND dietetic program heads throughout the US, with a 35% return rate, or a total of 186 individual program representatives responding. A variety of nutrition and dietetic program types were represented including coordinated undergraduate (7%); undergraduate didactic (38%); dietetic internship (49%), and dietetic technician (6%) programs (Turner, et al., 2016). Previously conducted surveys of the Association of Schools of Allied Health (2009) and Schools of Doctor of Pharmacy Programs (2012) were used as a comparison.

The ACEND dietetic survey revealed that a high percentage of the nutrition and dietetic program respondents have implemented the core competencies of patientcentered care (84%) and evidence-based practice (92%), respectively, which were like the levels seen in the other health professions (Turner et al., 2016). Much lower levels were found in the remaining three competencies, with interdisciplinary teams receiving 59% from both ACEND Programs and Allied Health, and a low 34% from Pharmacy Programs. Quality Improvement received 42% (ACEND), 67% (Allied Health) and 29% (Pharmacy). And informatics received 51% (ACEND), 46% (Allied Health) and 36% (Pharmacy). These lower levels revealed that there was still work needed to ensure the quality of services provided as well as to improve the connectedness and collaboration that exist within the healthcare system (Turner et al., 2016).

Differences between nutrition education and nutritional counseling versus nutritional coaching may be viewed in terms of the knowledge to action (KTA) framework. The KTA framework outlined three levels of knowledge transfers - the traditional linear, transactional, and multilevel transformational knowledge exchanges (Best & Holmes, 2010; Noland & Richards, 2014). When applied to nutritional exchanges, traditional nutrition education and nutritional counseling uses a linear and/or transactional transfer of knowledge from the teacher (or counselor) to the student (or patient) with the professionals viewed as the experts and yielding the power in the relationship (Best & Holmes, 2010; Noland & Richards, 2014)).

Nutrition counseling is more transactional for disease control or risk reduction using the framework of the NCPM (Stein, 2016). Through the transaction of the patient complying with the diet instructions provided by the nutrition practitioner, the patient can manage their disease or achieve health maintenance (Best & Holmes, 2010; Stein, 2016). Some transactional considerations may also be given to the food preferences of the patient that are honored, although the nutritional expert maintains the primary role of development of the nutritional care plan. The patient is expected to follow the nutritional care plan, as designed, or be deemed non-compliant (Stein, 2016). Achievement of transactional exchange goals is dependent on the patient having appropriate access to the resources, including food, needed to accomplish the tasks promoted (Best & Holmes, 2010).

In contrast to linear and transactional knowledge exchanges, nutritional coaching is more transformational, empowering, and motivating, resulting in behavioral changes and self-efficacy that transforms or elevates the individual to a higher functional state of overall health and wellbeing (Best & Holmes, 2010; Jordan, 2013; Smith et al., 2013-a). In the nutritional coaching relationship, which uses a patient-centered approach, the power is shifted more to the patient for what gets implemented (Best & Holmes, 2010; Jordan, 2013; Noland & Richards, 2014; Smith et al., 2013-a). Both coach and patient exchange their knowledge and experiences to establish mutually agreed-upon goals to guide the health action plan that is perceived to be achievable (Best & Holmes, 2010;

Jordan, 2013). The patient-centered, multilevel exchange framework requires the active engagement of the individual patient with an adequate degree of knowledge, skills, and capabilities (Smith et al., 2013-a).

The nutritional coach will need to use an expanded set of abilities and skills such as behavioral modification techniques (e.g., motivational interviewing, mindful eating), goal setting, assessment of perceptions of health, guidance for accessing healthy affordable food outlets, and being a cheerleader of successes (Jordan, 2013; Noland & Richards, 2014; Smith et al., 2013-a). These enhanced skills sets would enable a nutritional coach to assess, guide, and support the areas of desired learning and behavioral change identified by the patient in creating acceptable options for their health improvement plan (Jordan, 2013; Noland & Richards, 2014; Smith et al., 2013-a). Nutritional coaching of the food insecure may assist individuals in moving to a different level of functioning through the expansion of awareness of viable choices for connecting to resources and building supportive networks (Jordan, 2013; Martinez-Donate et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2013-a). Coaching may also help to increase the perceived ability of the individual/community to impact their current situation and provide motivation to increase their health promotion practices (Jordan, 2013; Smith et al., 2013-a).

Using a coaching model, such as the integrative health coaching (IHC) model developed by Duke University, involves being skilled in active listening and thoughtprovoking questioning to enable individuals to reflect on their personal desires and explore the external resources available to enhance personal growth (Noland & Richards, 2014; Smith et al., 2013-a). Individuals are assisted in the use of goals setting, motivational interviewing, mindfulness, and planning techniques to mold their healthy lifestyles. IHC supports humanistic psychology promoting patient-centered interaction, on-going learning, and achieving self-actualization by revisiting core values and purpose (Noland & Richards, 2014; Smith et al., 2013-a). Jordan (2013) said the health coaching model could break through the social isolation and loneliness of the homeless adult and low-income individuals with chronic health problems. The coaching encounters helped individuals develop the capacity to meet their short-term health goals (Jordan, 2013). It was effective in promoting increased use of community health services through inspiring more empowered individuals with firsthand knowledge of available preventative health services (Jordan, 2013). Five coaching tasks involved assessing and enhancing social interactions to support health behavioral change (Jordan, 2013; Noland & Richards, 2014; Smith et al., 2013-a).

Nutritional coaching may also be influential in impacting the household social functioning around the family meal (Greer & Nelson, 2014; Hunter et al., 2014). Practitioners will need to be aware of and incorporate tailored strategies into their practices to address food hardship and build social capital for healthy eating (Greer & Nelson, 2014; Hunter et al., 2014). Nutritional coaching interventions have been shown to be effective in empowering individuals in weight loss programs to achieve healthier eating habits, although results were varied due to limited cultural diversity, age disparities, and differing health priorities (Adams et al., 2013; Foley et al., 2013; Greer & Nelson, 2014; Heimendinger et al., 2007; Karhula et al., 2015). In looking to enhance understanding of health literacy skills in patients with cardiovascular disease and diabetes, both McKenna et al. (2020) and Dunn et al. (2016) highlighted the importance of addressing the issues of emotional and social support before instructional concepts could be internalized. McKenna et al. (2020) concluded that the bridging support of the health care provider was key to promoting both emotional stability and motivation to address the health concerns, impacting all aspects of health literacy achievement, including the care plan decisions. Having strong social support formed the foundation of successful chronic disease self-management whether addressing cancer, CVD, or diabetes conditions (Dunn et al., 2016; Jordan, 2013; McKenna et al., 2020).

In looking at the broader community context, KTA has been used in conjunction with systems thinking and community based participatory action to promote greater community capacity for addressing social determinants of health, including food insecurity (Best & Holmes, 2010; Kaiser, 2013; Minkler et al., 2003; Mui et al., 2019; Nelson et al., 2015; Pellmar et al., 2002). Bateman et al. (2017) conducted a preintervention survey to gain an understanding of the extent to which policies, systems, and the environment (PSE) affect the fruit and vegetable intake patterns of limited income African American residents of Jefferson and Mobile counties of Alabama and Forrest County in Mississippi. Using a modified Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) tool, which encompassed an ecological framework with multiple factors of influence, 256 participants were surveyed over the summer of 2015 (Bateman et al., 2017). Results showed that meeting the recommended fruit and vegetable intake level was associated with having children who participated in schools or childcare facilities with active wellness protocols. Also, being connected to a food safety net program, and individuals that could recall nutrition-related marketing campaigns showed positive results (Bateman et al., 2017). In addition, those that were active in or had a relative which attended a health advocacy meeting within a 24-month period also were shown to achieve adequate fruit and vegetable intake levels (Bateman et al., 2017). It was concluded that health interventions with a focus on policy advocacy have the potential to improve the health practices of the targeted at-risk community, including the low-income African American population (Bateman et al., 2017; Kaiser, 2013).

From 2009 to 2011, the Academy (formerly known as the American Dietetic Association) conducted an Evidence Analysis Library (EAL) Project to systematically review the issue of health disparities (HD) and what nutrition professionals can do to make an impact. Four key topics were selected for extensive literature review. The four HD areas of focus included: availability and access to nutritional care, cross-cultural communications, effectiveness of nutrition interventions methods, and food insecurity (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2018; Greer, 2011; Greer & Longstreet, 2010).

Only limited research (2 studies) that directly looked at the extent of access to nutrition services were found although it was not specified if the registered dietitian provided the service (Croxley & Herwehe, 2002; Hasnain-Wynia et al., 2007). Hasnain-Wynia et al. (2007) reviewed teaching hospitals across the US and found that patients of racial and ethnic backgrounds presenting with congestive heart failure (CHF) were significantly less likely to receive CHF discharge counseling (including nutritional instructions) than white patients with CHF. It was concluded that patients of racial and ethnic backgrounds were routinely provided reduced quality of healthcare, that the differences in levels of care were often related to the sites where individuals seek services, and that differences in discharge counseling rates were still significant after controlling for place of care (Hasnain-Wynia et al., 2007).

When looking at the broader health practitioner team pool which included physician, nurses, registered dietitian nutritionist, psychologists, peer educators, and community health workers, intervention methods that included one-on-one counseling, group education, support groups, creating buddy systems, faith-based interventions, and tailoring of health messages based on the culture context of the target population were effective in promoting positive health outcomes in diabetes, cardiovascular disease, obesity prevention, and in breastfeeding promotion (Anderson et al., 2007; Elmer et al., 2006; Funk et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2009; Lesley, 2007; McCarthy et al., 2007; Scisney-Matlock et al., 2006). In addition, skills-building education such as food preparation workshops and fitness classes, increasing availability to fresh fruits and vegetables, exercise sites, and fitness tools yielded positive outcomes. Effective communication modes included video technology (e.g., fitness tapes, videotaped discussions with community role models), telephone follow-up, and tailored written educational handouts (Elder et al., 2006; Garvin et al., 2004; Gilmer, et al., 2005; Utz et al., 2008).

Addressing social issues such as childcare during workshops and transportation, enhancement of self-efficacy and self-management skills, plus strategies for building

79

family and social support were also highlighted (Elder et al., 2006; Garvin et al., 2004; Gilmer et al., 2005; Kennedy et al., 2009; Liebman et al., 2007). Furthermore, in analyzing food insecurity research, it was concluded that more targeted research was needed on how to empower the food insecure individuals and households to healthy eating practices, community engagement, and outreach strategies, public policy and advocacy reform needs, and increasing access to healthy foods within at-risk neighborhoods (Kennedy et al., 2009; Lohman et al., 2009; Martin, et al., 2004; Pan & Jensen, 2008; Rose, 2007).

Cultural and Structural Competency: Addressing Unmet Social Needs

Culture functions as the vehicle that guides the acceptable ways of doing, including the beliefs, social norms, family traditions, and skills for engaging in a society which is passed down through the ages and affects behavior (Campinha-Bacote, 2009; Swierad et al., 2017). These factors are then bound together through the collective interplay of social and environmental connections (Swierad et al., 2017). Swierad et al. (2017) sought to develop a richer understanding of the role of culture and other psychological, social, and environmental factors influencing African American health behaviors. They contended that a willingness to participate in healthy living activities by African Americans were dependent on the array of interconnectedness at was found at various levels, from the individual, social, and the environment spears of influence.

Yet, culture was also said to be adaptable, having aspects that can change, with both fixed and fluid qualities (Campinha-Bacote, 2009; Swierad et al., 2017). Fixed aspects were the communal or personal identification factors that are passed down from one generation to the next. Whereas the fluid aspects of culture were those that evolve as the social environment changes and become more diverse such as acculturation to new foods that are introduced cross-culturally (Swierad et al., 2017). Culture affects how food is prepared, as well as what is eaten and the context surrounding how it is consumed by creating social norms surrounding these practices (e.g., what is served on a special occasion) (Greer, & Nelson, 2014; ODPHP, 2021) . It was stressed that African Americans may have to function "bi-culturally" through influences of both their ethnic culture as well as the societal or mainstream culture. (Swierad et al., 2017, p.2)

Understanding the influences of African American ethnic culture and mainstream culture in the context of the facilitators of and barriers to healthy food intake and physical activity is crucial for effective health promotion (Greer, & Nelson, 2014; ODPHP, 2021; Swierad et al., 2017). Yet, it was also important to look at other practical considerations beyond culture, including economics, food affordability, and access. Swierad et al. (2017) reported:

The cultural traits of resilience and strength were identified as positively impacting healthy behaviors and happiness. Respondents stated that "making it a culture of speaking and engaging with each other about the things that are relevant to our health, happiness, and healthy eating habits is important. And once we can spread the word, we can make that become more of a culture in the Black community in terms of what we eat. (p. 7) Church and spirituality were factors that helped people engage in healthy eating and physical activity. It served as an essential social support system for health and wellbeing. It promoted a sense of community by bringing people together for a unified purpose and motivated each other to lead healthier lives (Swierad et al., 2017; Young et al., 2014).

Traditional cultural foods strengthened the ties within their families and community but were also said to be unhealthy (e.g., traditional soul food). The soul food cuisine was reported as one of the most important cultural factors that compromise healthy food intake within African American communities. Preparing healthy makeovers of some of the less healthy dishes was found to be quite popular. This suggested that African Americans may embrace learning to adjust their cooking styles to the healthier versions to improve their health while maintaining the connection with their cultural traditions (Greer, & Nelson, 2014; ODPHP, 2021). (Swierad et al., 2017, p.9).

Perceived lack of caring or support by mainstream culture for African American health and wellness contributed to negative health practices (). It was believed that not doing any new or innovative programming for the African American community to promote healthy lifestyle behaviors emanates from the prejudice viewpoint that African Americans are not human beings and not part of humanity. "The experience of discrimination was one of the biggest issues that compromise health" (Swierad et al., 2017, p.12)

Strong social support increased personal health activities. The social environment (e.g., family and friends) was a powerful motivator for healthy behaviors (.<u>Garner &</u>

<u>Yogman, 2021;</u> Swierad et al., 2017). Some respondents stated that various significant others, including friends, were their source of inspiration for healthy eating and physical activity as well as helped to resist the consumption of low nutrient foods, with the following statements, "If your friends are running, you are more likely to run too…My friends and I really encourage each other." (Swierad et al., 2017, p.12)

Generational influences on healthy behaviors were seen by both the young and the elderly in the family through role modeling healthy practices (<u>Garner & Yogman, 2021;</u> Swierad et al., 2017). A respondent said, "She will be making smoothies or going to the gym more if I'm with her...Companionship helps her to be more inclined to work out...I'm always talking about eating healthy and you know, they joke around with me about it, but I influence them. They lean more towards the healthy side because of me." (Swierad et al., 2017, p. 13)

The concept of bicultural identity integration (BII) is consistent with the act of picking and choosing healthy behaviors from both the ethnic culture and mainstream culture to normalize a healthy lifestyle for the African American population (Swierad et al., 2017). Engaging in both ethnic and mainstream cultural behaviors by African Americans would create a wider range of healthy options to select from as opposed to relying on just one source of general information about health and well-being. Being active in the selection of healthy choices can enhance the individual's motivation and perceived self-management, which may promote the achievement of behavioral change goals (Greer, & Nelson, 2014; ODPHP, 2021; Swierad et al., 2017).

The influence of both cultures should be examined in relation to the broader social context which is consistent with the ecological models of health behaviors. The effectiveness of tailored dietary messages may depend on an individual's connection to their cultures, as well as differences within the cultures (Greer, & Nelson, 2014; Hams, & Bellows, 2003; ODPHP, 2021; Swierad et al., 2017). For African Americans, this could mean that their willingness to consume healthy makeovers may depend on their level of social connectedness to both their ethnic and mainstream cultures (Greer, & Nelson, 2014; Swierad et al., 2017).

Economic status was identified as impacting the types and the amount of healthy food eaten by African Americans. The willingness to eat more fruits and vegetables, which is highly promoted in mainstream culture, was dependent on the affordability and access to these types of foods in local markets (Greer, & Nelson, 2014;. Lack of affordable food and exercise options was a major barrier to healthy living for African Americans. There was a dilemma to either pay more for a smaller quantity of healthier food or pay less for a larger quantity of unhealthy food (e.g., \$1.00 for an apple vs \$1.00 for a fast-food meal; or \$4.00 for tomatoes vs \$4.00 for 4 McDonalds hamburgers) (Greer, & Nelson, 2014; ODPHP, 2021). Healthier choices would need to be more affordable. In many low-income families, the cost-benefit value of a food item gets judged based on what is going to make the family feel fuller. (Swierad et al., 2017).

The need for health education – knowledge of healthy living practices, ways to plan and cook healthful menus, and affordable places to exercise or to purchase healthy foods were identified as common issues (Greer, & Nelson, 2014; Hams, & Bellows, 2003; ODPHP, 2021; Swierad et al., 2017). Respondents stated, "Education [is needed] on where people can find affordable food that is healthier within the community, so you don't have to travel so far is key...Showing people how to incorporate different food into their diets is important... They don't know what to eat, how food affects their bodies, or how to cook them...Education [is needed] on what constitutes a healthy lifestyle." (Swierad et al., 2017, p.14)

It was concluded that effective health initiatives should key on healthy practices already accepted by the ethnic culture, instead of only focusing on reducing risky health behaviors (Greer, & Nelson, 2014; Hams, & Bellows, 2003; ODPHP, 2021; Swierad et al., 2017). The African American culture exerted positive influences on healthy lifestyle practices through resilience, reliance on spirituality, dance and music, and strong social support networks (Swierad et al., 2017). Changing from a risk reduction model to a strength-building model promotes cultural empowerment and acknowledges their experiences without demonizing their health practices (Briscoe et al., 2014; Campinha-Bacote, 2009; Swierad et al., 2017). It was suggested that additional research was warranted to examine the effectiveness of integrating practices from both cultures in enhancing the health and wellbeing of African Americans (Swierad et al., 2017). Health promotion projects could be developed to assist individuals in selecting healthy options from both cultural contexts (ethnic and mainstream) preserving their right to pick and choose among options including healthy makeovers of favorite cultural foods (Swierad et al., 2017). Being able to choose may contribute to greater self-efficacy which can be

empowering and leading to positive achievement of health outcomes (Swierad et al., 2017).

The importance of cultural competency in health promotion and nutritional care has been established as a pillar of patient-centered care (Campinha-Bacote, 2009; ODPHP, 2021; Swierad et al., 2017)). Yet, Jordan (2013) emphasized the concept of "structural competency" as possibly being even more important in working with the poor or at-risk populations. (p.82) Structural competency refers to the ability of the health coach or community outreach worker to direct appropriate guidance to positively impact health disparities by addressing the social norms, organizational frameworks, and environmental landscape that influence the mental and physical status and well-being (Jorden, 2013). Structural competency acted as the foundation for addressing the social and economic conditions that were presented, regardless of the client's cultural background (Jorden, 2013). Although still important, being culturally competent was not enough when the individual lacked the functional capacity and resources to manifest their cultural traditions due to extreme poverty or other social determinants such as very low food insecurity (Anderson et al., 2016; Campinha-Bacote, 2009; Jorden, 2013; Swierad et al., 2017).

In a project by Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (2011) that surveyed 1000 physicians from across the US (i.e., 690 primary care physicians, 310 pediatricians), it was discovered that while 85% of physicians were able to identify the unmet social issues that affected their patients, only one in five (20%) felt competent to address their needs. In addition, four in five respondents (85%) believed that these unmet social issues were directly contributing to poor health outcomes for the US population; while three in four physicians (76%) expressed a desire for the health care network to pay the expense related to connecting individuals to the social services that the healthcare provider deemed necessary to meet their overall health goals (Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2011). Efforts have been initiated to assist the health care professional in creating greater structural competency in addressing social determinants of health and unmet social needs (Baden et al., 2014; Campinha-Bacote, 2009; Greer et al., 2021; MCOPP, 2022; Jordan, 2013; Swierad et al., 2017).

These surveys and reports confirm that our current system of care, with a focus on medical treatment, underestimates the impact that social networks and connectedness exert on achieving optimal health and well-being (Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014; MCOPP, 2022; Minkler et al., 2003; NPC, 2011; Pascoe et al., 2016; Weaver et al., 2013). Social factors such as poor living conditions, low paying jobs, limited access to healthy food or food hardship in purchasing food, safety concerns, and low community resources may lead to higher usage of emergency room, longer hospital visits, and poor health status (Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014; Pabalan et al., 2013; Smalls et al., 2015; Whitmore Schanzenbach, 2016; WDHS, 2011). This higher usage can add to the burden on the health care system and society (Pabalan et al., 2013; WDHS, 2011). In this research study, through exploring the relationship of the four types of social capital to risk of food insecurity in Milwaukee and Dane County, Wisconsin, findings were used to develop recommended future actions to enhance the nutritional coach and health practitioner's

skill level, including cultural and structural competency, to impact the unmet needs encountered

Nutritional Interventions with a Focus on Socal Capital

The level of social capital has been linked to increased self-efficacy for disease control and prevention, including healthy food practices (Dean et al., 2011; Jordan, 2013). Social capital covers both internal and external connections needed for nutrition and health promotion (Jordan, 2013; Pellmar et al., 2002). In considering food insecurity, increasing awareness of and self-efficacy for accessing healthy and affordable food resources within the community setting were shown to be vital for the nutritional coach or health practitioner to understand (Jordan, 2013; Leroy et al., 2015; Nguyen et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2013-b).

In a study by Farajzadegan et al. (2013), it was pointed out that social capital had a protective influence on risk-taking habits and disease outcomes in Iran. The social capital parameters of "trust and solidarity" and "empowerment and political action" determined the extent of self-management of diabetes that was observed. (Farajzadegan et al., 2013, p.101) Those individuals exhibiting more trust and civic engagement, showed improved blood glucose control. It concluded that addressing social capital could have wide application for several medical and social issues (Farajzadegan et al., 2013). It also identified a need to formulate strategies to promote greater social capital in the geographic locations of Iran with populations exhibiting high rates of diabetes (Farajzadegan et al., 2013). Grimm et al. (2013) looked at the percent of census tracks without at least one healthier food retailer within the track or within ½ mile in the surrounding areas. It revealed that 36% of census tracks in the Midwest, which includes the Milwaukee and Dane County areas, were without at least one healthier food retailer as compared to 24.1% in the West (Grimm et al., 2013). In addition, sensitivity analysis revealed that access to chain supermarkets were lower in census tracks with predominately non-Hispanic Black residents than in tracks with non-Hispanic White residents (Grimm et al., 2013). It was concluded that because of the heterogeneity of the U.S. food environment, more in-depth evaluation of food access was required to determine whether interventions were needed for specific neighborhoods (Grimm et al., 2013; Leroy et al., 2015).

Vaughn et al. (2017) surveyed two low-income African American communities in Pittsburgh, PA to gain increased knowledge on the role of dietary and shopping habits. Using statistical modeling, they found a significant relationship between food shopping habits and the types of food selected, such as the level of fruits and vegetables purchased, or sugar-sweetened beverage intake based on age, male gender, educational achievement (e.g., with or without a college education), and whether participating in the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP). It was concluded that there was a need for initiatives at both the environmental and individual levels to impact the food patterns seen in neighborhoods with lower food access so that targeted strategies could be formulated (Vaughn et al., 2017).

In follow-up evaluations of a mixed-method faith-based study that looked to empower African American women to make healthy choices, by providing them both

89

healthy lifestyle coaching and social support through a group learning format, Tkatch et al., (2018) reported women felt that making their own personal promises (plan) for healthy practices led to a greater sense of commitment. They confirmed that having the social support of the women in the group was a key component to its success (Tkach et al., 2018). This intervention showed that through the tailoring of a wellness program, designed to be acceptable to the target group and providing social support, with common technology and conducted in a familiar faith-based setting, effective engagement of African American women could be accomplished (Tkatch et al., 2018).

Food Insecurity, Social Capital, and Health Equity

Some countries have identified hunger and food insecurity issues as obstacles to overcome to meet the health and wellness goals of the future (FAO et al., 2015; Odone et al., 2014; Prakash Upadhyay & Palanivel, 2011). In reports by Odone et al. (2014) and Prakash Upadhyay & Palanivel (2011) the obstacles to meeting the World Health Organization's future development goals were reviewed. Both concluded that due to the issues of hunger and food insecurity, many health goals, such as the reduction of TB, diabetes, and obesity rates, may not be achieved (Odone et al., 2014; Prakash Upadhyay & Palanivel, 2011). Prakash Upadhyay & Palanivel (2011) went on to point out that although India had one of the highest agricultural productions of all nations (2nd in the world), other factors, including cultural issues, social policies, and inequitable agricultural distribution, continued to affect the food insecurity problem. Economic inequities and lack of political will need to be addressed to impact the food insecurity problem and health improvement goals (Odone et al., 2014).

In children suffering from severe malnutrition, stunting of growth is a major health issue (Psaki et al., 2012). Life expectancy for these children is usually lower and a cycle of poor life achievement is perpetuated (Psaki et al., 2012). In an eight-country study by Psaki et al., (2012), a measurement tool entitled the Household Food Insecurity Access Scale (HFIAS) was tested to assess its efficacy in examining country-wide household food security and childhood malnutrition, particularly defined by the WHO's stunting and wasting criteria. One-hundred households with children were randomly selected from the census results for each country to participate in the survey. Although there was wide variability in food access insecurity between countries, only 37% of all households indicated no food access insecurity issues (Psaki et al., 2012). Examples ranged from the high food access insecurity rates reported by Brazilian household (46.9%) to the households in Nepal (73.0%) and Tanzania (66.7%) that indicated high food access security with sufficient access to the healthy food that is needed. In these countries, 42% (8-55%) of the children met the criteria for stunting, while 6% (0-17%) were classified as wasted (Psaki et al., 2012).

The US has implemented several safety net programs designed to address hunger and food insecurity. These programs have been shown to have positive effects on health outcomes from reducing iron deficiency anemia through participation in the school feeding programs (e.g., SBP, NSLP, Fruit & Vegetable Snack Program) to preventing low birth weight infants through participation in the Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) Supplemental Nutrition Program (Lu et al., 2016; The Nutrition-Cognition National Initiative, 1994; USDA FNS, 2013). WIC has continued to provide social support for positive parenting as well as breastfeeding education and a variety of other support services (USDA FNS, 2013). The supplemental food packages provided by WIC support the health and well-being of expectant mothers, infants, and children with a nutritional risk up to the age of 5 (USDA FNS, 2013). Yet, studies have found that for the very low food insecure households, it is not as effective, despite these supports.

It has been documented that although SNAP is the social program most often used by the food insecure with a positive return on investment dollars of both financial and health outcomes, almost one-third of eligible low-income families do not utilize the program (Paynter et al., 2014; Curtis et al., 2014). Differences in administration across the states, the complexity of the application process, stigma associated with obtaining assistance, eligibility with new work requirements, and lack of awareness of how to apply for services were all found to impact SNAP participation rates (Beck, 2015; Paynter et al., 2014). It was concluded that implementing strategies for increasing participation rates in SNAP can lead to positive health benefits for the at-risk families as well as economic benefits to the local economy through the increased jobs and sales taxes generated (Paynter et al., 2014; Curtis et al., 2014).

Dean et al. (2014) examined the relative importance of the various types of food assistance and acquisition used by food-insecure households through review of a sample of elderly US adults from the 2010 Brazos Valley Health Assessment of Central Texas households. The study was stratified by income eligibility for SNAP, below poverty, 130-
185% of poverty, and 200% poverty. SNAP participation was the only specific capital asset associated with all levels of food insecurity, for both SNAP-eligible and ineligible low-income groups (Dean et al., 2014). Other capital assets examined included personal vegetable gardens, family meals, animal raising, food gifts from family, food assistance, and place of residence, whether urban, rural, or suburban.

Results indicated that there was no significant difference seen between urban or rural areas, although there was a difference seen in the suburban region (Dean et al., 2014). There was a higher use of gardens and animal raising in rural areas with lower food assistance. Whereas for the urban areas, there was higher food assistance use with lower gardens and no animal raising. Both had similar uses of family meals and gifts from families (Dean et al., 2014). However, the very low-income family relations had fewer resources which limited their ability to provide gifted food (Dean et al., 2014). This study emphasized the continued importance of food assistance among poverty-level older adults (Dean et al., 2014).

Robin et al. (2017), conducted a qualitative study with the goal of gaining a greater understanding of low-income mothers' experiences in signing up for and maintaining SNAP participation. Findings from in-depth interviews and focus group inquiry revealed that although viewed as a necessary social program, there was on-going frustration concerning the steps for signing up for the program as well as continuing to receive services related to communication and service coordination issues (Robin et al., 2017). Participants viewed having a good rapport with case managers as well as having prior knowledge of the program's specifics led to continued participation in the program.

It was concluded that the SNAP program would benefit from better communication within the program, assisting participants in gaining a stronger relationship with their case managers, and establishing improved outreach and integration with other safety net and health programs (Robin et al., 2017).

Food Insecurity and High-Risk Groups

Food insecurity can still be seen when income is 2-3 times that of poverty, indicating that other factors that influence food insecurity are at play (Chilton & Doar, 2015; Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014). To gain a greater understanding of food insecurity, social capital, and equity issues, several studies have identified some specific groups and social structures that might put individuals and households at increased risk for food hardship (Anderson et al., 2016; Chilton & Doar, 2015).

Marital or Partnership Status

Family structures related to married couple parenting or single parenting can impact whether a household is at risk for hunger. The hunger rates for married households are a low of 3.2%; single mother households are the highest risk at 12.8%, followed by single father households at 7.0 % (Chilton & Doar, 2015). For low-income families, those in stepfamilies, the mother's work patterns predict food insecurity at higher rates than in 100% biological families. Moreover, the involvement of the noncustodial father – both in-kind and consistent cash support by fathers is, related to lower food insecurity for both children and adolescents, and less very low food insecurity among young children (Anderson et al., 2016). Using NHANES data, families experiencing very low food insecurity reported having significantly weaker social and emotional support networks (Anderson et al., 2016).

The effect of nonmarried childrearing related to fathers' involvement is moderated by increases in children born into cohabiting households. Martinez et al. (2016) reported that 23% of births to women aged 15–44 in 2006–2010 were to cohabiting couples, as compared to the 14% rates seen in 2002. Furthermore, it has been documented that cohabiting fathers (as well as non-cohabiting engaged fathers) who are active and engaged in their children's lives have a positive impact on their wellbeing (Jones & Mosher, 2013). The involvement of fathers has been shown to impact academic success, risk of delinquent behavior, and substance abuse (Jones & Mosher, 2013). Jones and Mosher (2013) found that for children ages 0-5 years, 70% of cohabiting non-Hispanic Black fathers were bathing, dressing, diapering, or helping their children go to the bathroom daily compared with 60% of non-Hispanic white fathers and 45% of Hispanic fathers. Of men and women who have ever had a child, 50% had a child outside of marriage (Martinez et al., 2016).

Single Parenting Females

Overall, 40% of US children are now born to single parents which points to the continued high rates of food insecurity and hunger (Chilton & Doar, 2015). Youth living in single-parent households or those living with an unmarried parent in a complex family partnership have a greater risk of food insecurity (Hoefer & Curry, 2012). According to Broussard (2010), research indicates that the lower social-economic status of single

mothers and their offspring leaves them susceptible to health risks due to inadequate finances and limited access to comprehensive medical insurance. The combination of limited finances and work instability can lead to issues of food insecurity (Broussard, 2010).

Other issues that can increase the stress of single parenting are working several jobs, inadequate childcare supervision, homelessness, moving frequently, living in crime-infested neighborhoods in sub-par accommodations, where environmental health issues such as lead poisoning are a risk (Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014; Hoefer & Curry, 2012). A high rate of single-parent, female-headed households have been seen in the African American population which has been shown to limit the household income level and the food budget (Hoefer & Curry, 2012; Lino et al., 2017). In looking at households at twice the poverty line and lower, these lower-income and food-insecure families are more likely to be headed by poorly educated single mothers and more likely to report maternal depression and substance abuse than food-secure families with similar income (Anderson et al., 2016).

In looking at social support, neglect and inadequate supervision of children were found in single mothers who received lower amounts of childcare support from their partners and relatives, but not their friends (Coohey, 2007). Coohey (2007) found that inadequate supervision is linked to several qualities of the mother's social network. Neglectful mothers only knew their partners for less than a year, had fewer relatives in their social network who provided adequate supervision (Coohey, 2007). It was recommended that professionals involved in providing social support for single mothers, evaluate and enlist support from a broader range of potential providers from informal and formal childcare (Coohey, 2007). They also stressed the importance of professionals helping mothers to evaluate their social networks and conflict-resolution skills (Coohey, 2007).

In a study that looked at the relationship between stress, coping, and social support, among single mothers versus mothers who are not single, Williams (2016) found that although there were significant differences in levels of perceived stress and social support between single women and non-single women, when social support was held consistent, there were no significant differences found between stress and coping strategies. The results pointed to the importance of assessing and building social support in single mothers (Williams, 2016).

Food Insecure Single Males

Food insecure single males (with and without children) are at high risk for health impairments (e.g., prediabetes, heart disease) as they are many times socially isolated, with limited social networks (Ding et al., 2014). Unlike single women, they usually are not directly connected to a food safety net program (Ding et al., 2014). Additionally, they may not have the nutritional knowledge or cooking skills necessary to prepare healthy home-cooked meals on their own, for themselves or for their children (Ding et al., 2014).

In a project report by Harley and Frazer (2011) that reviewed the outcomes of a follow-up initiative from the Milwaukee Linsey Heights Men's Wellness Council, recommendations for a more holistic health promotion initiative were formulated. The

Men's Wellness Council was formed in direct response to the Milwaukee's Lifecourse Initiative results that called for the strengthening of father's involvement in African American family life (Harley & Frazer, 2011; Lifecourse Initiative for Healthy Families, Milwaukee, 2014; Salinas-Mirandan et al., 2017). It had an initial aim of engaging African American men in the community to inspire greater physical activity and wellness practices (Harley & Frazer, 2011).

Through the ongoing monthly dialogue meetings over a year by 12 Men's Wellness Council members, a need for a broader program to address the emotional, mental, and financial hardship that was being experienced was realized (Harley & Frazer, 2011). This included the extreme levels of social isolation and perceived pressure African American fathers and men felt, which they described using the analogy of being "an island of one." (Harley & Frazer, 2011, pp.3) The Men's Council meetings were viewed as the safe space that allowed for expressions of true feelings. It was a place to work through life stressors, to learn positive parenting skills, and to gain knowledge from other men's experiences (Harley & Frazer, 2011).

As a result, the No Longer an Island peer-group evolved, and a tool kit was developed to guide the formation of similar men's peer groups throughout the city (Harley & Frazer, 2011). Four integrative objectives were formed to provide engagement and social support at the individual, interpersonal, and community spheres. Actions included: 1) a Porch-to-Porch (P2P) outreach initiative that connected men in the neighborhood to a support network; 2) providing safe spaces for men to gather; 3) enhance cross-generational interaction and mentoring; and 4) the creation and distribution of peer information resources to stimulate a cultural change in African American men's self-perceptions of their self-worth and value to society (Harley & Frazer, 2011).

The outcomes revealed that a social support intervention that was generated through the needs identified by the target community was able to go from a single concept intervention to a community-based initiative (Harley & Frazer, 2011). It impacted the social environment for engaged men and their children. Additionally, it built individual and collective capacity for community change and empowerment through the lifecourse perspective (Harley & Frazer, 2011; Salinas-Mirandan et al., 2017).

Adult Caregivers' Mental and Physical Health

Food secure low-income households are in better physical and mental health and are less likely to report intimate partner violence and substance use as compared with food insecure poor households (Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014; Leung et al., 2015). In considering mental health, social support networks and connections to medical and mental health assistance are key factors. Drug use in the last 30 days (particularly heroin) was strongly associated with food insecurity among children (Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014).

Residing in a household with an adult living with a disability, which includes 38% of all households that experience hunger, increases the likelihood of children experiencing very low food insecurity (Anderson et al., 2016; Chilton & Doar, 2015; Coleman-Jensen & Nord, 2013; Huang et al., 2013). In these households, food insecurity was shown to be almost 3 times as likely when all other factors remain constant (Anderson et al., 2016; Coleman-Jensen & Nord, 2013; Huang et al., 2013; Huang et al., 2013; Huang et al., 2013; Huang et al., 2013; Coleman-Jensen & Nord, 2013; Huang et al., 2013; Huang et al

Other Groups At Risk for Food Insecurity

Several other groups may be at increased for food insecurity. Elderly people who live alone may need the assistance of home-delivered meals to survive and stay socially connected (Chilton & Doar, 2015). Veterans of recent wars (Iraq and Afghanistan) were found to be food insecure (Windome et al., 2015). It has been documented that 12% of veterans reported hunger, while approximately 2% of active-duty members received SNAP benefits (USDA, Food and Nutrition Service, 2014; Windome et al., 2015).

Formerly incarcerated individuals may have problems finding employment, adequate shelter, issues related to social isolation, and reconnecting with family and friends, increasing risks of food hardship (Chilton & Doar, 2015). Children of an incarcerated parent may have a lower household income-to-need, increasing their eligibility for services; yet an increased probability of food insecurity due to the loss of the incarcerated parent's household contributions (Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014).

Indigenous and non-English speaking households may have issues with accessing healthy foods (Chilton & Doar, 2015). Children of immigrants are at high risk for very low food security. Children of foreign-born mothers were 3 times as likely to experience very low food security as compared to those having US-born mothers (Chilton & Doar, 2015; Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014).

For these diverse groups, outreach and advocacy strategies were called for to build self-efficacy, social capital networks, and community capacity to impact hunger and food insecurity risks (Anderson et al., 2016; Chilton & Doar, 2015; Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014).

Effects of Income, Household Food Budget, and Cost of Food

Extensive research has shown that household income level has a significant inverse relationship to household food insecurity such that as income goes up, food insecurity goes down (Gregory & Coleman-Jensen, 2017; Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014). Globalization and technological automation have led to fewer high paying jobs for individuals without a college education (Chilton & Doar, 2015). In lower-income households there may be significant unemployment or under-employment, which includes part-time jobs, fluctuating hours, and very low wages, resulting in income instability and fluctuations which increases risk of hunger or food insecurity (Chilton & Doar, 2015; Coleman-Jensen, 2011; Gregory & Coleman-Jensen, 2017). For example, in Wisconsin, approximately 30% of the workforce earn poverty-level wages (Curtis et al., 2014). Housing instability has been linked to food insecurity as well as mental and physical hardships that affect the overall wellbeing of all household members (Liu et al., 2014).

The effects of household income have been clearly illustrated by looking at the cost of raising a young child in a two-child household and the percentage of the household budget that was used for food based on income level (Lino et al., 2017). Table 3. reveals how the percent of the household budget allocated to food and other needs were influenced by the level of income in the family and family type (i.e., married, or single parenting) (Lino et al., 2017). It showed that the food budget is usually maintained at a constant level while other areas like childcare, education, and clothing show marked differences as income increases (Lino et al., 2017). The lower income households were

limited in having the income to adjust to meet additional needs that might occur in raising a child as they transitioned to older ages (Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014; Lino et al., 2017). This caused decisions to be made on how best to make ends meet, including buying lower cost foods, skipping bill payments, or selling or pawning household goods (Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014; Lino et al., 2017).

Table 3

Budget category	Low-income married & single parent households	Middle income married	Highest income Married
Housing	33%	29%	26%
Food	20%	18%	15%
Transportation	14%	15%	15%
Clothing	5%	6%	7%
Healthcare	9%	9%	8%
Childcare & Education	12%	16%	23%
Miscellaneous	7%	7%	6%

Household Budget for Raising a Young Child in a Two-Child Household at Various Income Levels

Adapted From: "Expenditures on Children by Families, 2015." Lino et al., (2017). [Miscellaneous Publication No. 1528-2015] U.S. Department of Agriculture, Center for Nutrition Policy, and Promotion.

It was estimated, using gross income, that low-income families (incomes less than \$59,200) spent 27-34 percent of their income on raising a child or from \$9,330 to \$9,980 annually; the middle-income group (incomes \$59,200 to \$107,400) spent 16 -25 percent

or from \$12,350 to \$13,900 annually; and the highest income group (incomes above \$107,400) spent 11-15 percent or from \$19,380 to \$23,380 annually (Lino et al., 2017).

It is important to note that although having the lowest percentage of their income used for household expenses, the highest income households spent, on average, more than twice the aggregate amount as spent by families in the lowest income group. This amount varied by budgetary component. In general, expenses spent on a child for goods and services that are viewed as necessities (e.g., housing, food, and clothing) were held stable as compared to the variability of those items deemed to be discretionary (e.g., childcare, educational expenses, miscellaneous expenses) among all household income groups (Lino et al., 2017). Some specifics per categories have been outlined.

Housing

Housing consumed the highest proportion of the total child-rearing budgetary allocation. Based on expenses incurred among all age groups, households in the lowest income groups spent 33 percent of their child-rearing allotment on housing, the middleincome group spent 29 percent, the highest income groups spent 26% (Lino et al., 2017). *Food*

The allocation of the food budget spent on children ranged from 17 to 25 percent per child in a two-child, married household. For a two-child, single-parent household, the allocations increased to 25 to 34 percent per child. This higher percentage reflects the lower household income from having one less wage earner in the household. The amount of the budget spent on children typically increases as children age with a higher percentage spent during the teen years with minimal variations by income level (Lino et al., 2017).

Transportation

Transportation was the third largest expense in raising a child for households with the lowest incomes, accounting for 14 percent of the total allocation. Transportation cost may increase in the teen years due to educational demands or when a teen starts to drive (Lino et al., 2017).

Clothing

Allocations for clothing showed the least amount of variability among groups, with a range of 6-7% for all income groups (Lino et al., 2017). However, the highest income group would have the most discretionary income once essential costs were met, which could be used for additional clothing desires (Lino et al., 2017).

Healthcare

The share of the health care budget ranged between 15 to 20 percent per child in a two-child, married-couple family and 23 to 26 percent per child in a two-child, single-parent family (again these amounts being higher for a three-person household). Health care budget shares generally increased by household income level (Lino et al., 2017).

Childcare and Education

Childcare and education accounted for the third-largest allocation for middleincome married-couple families (i.e., 16 percent), whereas food was the third-largest expense for families in the highest income group (15 percent of the total). Although a high percentage in the lowest income groups did not allocate any funds to this category, for those that did, childcare and education made up 12 percent of total child-rearing allocation. These lower-income households may be accessing lower-cost alternative childcare options or depending on family members, such as grandparents, with no payment provided (Lino et al., 2017).

Miscellaneous/Other

For miscellaneous goods and services allocations, such as videos and personal care items, the per capita method allocation was utilized as items are commonly shared by all household members. A range of 6-8 was noted in this category. Lower-income families have less ability to adjust to this level if unforeseen needs arise. This has been shown to impact being able to participate in extracurricular sports or school events, limiting a child's school experience (Lino et al., 2017).

Regional Child-Rearing Expenses

Region-specific child-rearing expenses reflected patterns similar to those observed in the overall United States for married-couple families. In each region, expenses for a child increased with household income level and typically with the age of the child. Overall, child-rearing expenses were highest in the urban Northeast, followed by the urban West and urban South. Child-rearing expenses were lowest in the urban Midwest and rural areas. Comparing the region with the highest expenditures to the lowest, child-rearing expenses were 27 percent lower in rural areas than the urban Northeast. Much of the regional difference in expenses for a child was related to housing costs and childcare and education expenses. Total housing expenses per child were highest in the urban Northeast and urban West and lowest in rural areas. Childcare and education expenses were highest for families in the urban Northeast (Lino et al., 2017).

The measure used to assess food insecurity might vary based on the definition of poverty used. Traditional definition using the federal poverty cutoffs versus newer Income to Needs which considers safety net services accessed will generate different rates (Federal Register, 2018; Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014). Current income such as the amount of income obtained through temporary work and aid versus permanent income from full-time employment averaged over several years affects food insecurity risk. Not having a consistent source of income adds to the stress of the household (Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014).

The level of financial management skills has been inversely linked to food insecurity. Households with the highest financial literacy had the lowest rates of food hardship (Gundersen & Garasky, 2012). Low financial literacy and lack of skills at managing the household budget has been linked to increased food insecurity as indicated by having a bank account versus no banking services (Gundersen & Garasky, 2012; Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014). In looking at long term food insecurity, 20 % who had extreme food hardship remained food insecure over one year (Gundersen & Garasky, 2012).

Household Food Budget and Food Cost

The cost of food has remained at high levels despite improvements seen in the US economy (Hoefer & Curry, 2012; Nord et al., 2014). There are wide regional variations in food prices due to the effects of climate change and extreme natural weather events

(Grimm et al., 2013). Extreme weather may present in various forms from excessive rainfalls events leading to flooding to prolonged droughts with precipitation rates below average for extended periods of time which can impact both people and the overall environment, including the regional food distribution supplies (CDC et al., 2010).

Recognizing the prediction of future extreme weather events due to global warming, the CDC as well as the other agencies (e.g., US Environmental Protection Agency [US EPA]; USDA) have developed several guidance documents to help public health administrators, health promotion practitioners, farmers, distributors, and concerned community partners in understanding and preparing to respond appropriately. In the case of droughts, the quality and quantity of the water and food supply could be affected resulting in low crop yields and higher food prices or shortages (CDC et al., 2010; Jerry et al., 2014). The food hardship endured by the at-risk population could lead to malnutrition and mental strain leading to anxiety and depression if not adequately addressed (CDC et al., 2010).

Geographic distribution of healthy fruits and vegetables in parts of the country directly affects the availability in other parts of the country (Hoefer & Curry, 2012; ODPHP, 2021). Additionally, the cost of food may also vary impacting the reach of the food safety net system (Brown et al., 2015; Hoefer & Curry, 2012). The higher cost of produce may affect the household's ability to meet the recommended healthy meal patterns for optimal health and well-being (Bhushan et al., 2017; Hoefer & Curry, 2012; ODPHP, 2021). Examples of healthy eating plans include the MyPlate, Vegetarian Eating Styles, the DASH Diet, or the Mediterranean Meal Pattern (American Diabetes Association, 2017; Bhushan et al., 2017; Darmon & Drewnowski, 2015; Greer, 2013; Hoefer & Curry, 2012; ODPHP, 2021).

These healthy eating plans have been used in various clinical trials (American Diabetes Association, 2017; Maruthur et al., 2013). Positive results were documented in reducing chronic diseases rates including prediabetes, diabetes, hypertension, heart disease, fatty liver disease, and various forms of cancer (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; American Diabetes Association, 2017; Maruthur et al., 2013). In addition, when the healthier (nutrient dense) foods were incorporated into daily meals, they promoted optimal growth, development, brain functioning, and longevity throughout the lifespan (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; American Diabetes Association, 2017; American Diabetes Association, 2017; American Diabetes Association, 2017; Aridi et al., 2017; Bhushan et al., 2017; Estruch et al., 2013; Gopinath et al., 2013; Herman et al., 2013; Johnson et al., 2010; Maruthur et al., 2013; ODPHP, 2021).

As a result of all meal planning guides' promotion of higher intakes of fruits and vegetables, whole grains, and healthy protein sources, those on a limited food budget may find it harder to achieve the healthy eating goals (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Darmon & Drewnowski, 2015; ODPHP, 2021). Therefore, targeted assessments of the local food environment were warranted to increase understanding of the influence that the local economy has on the low-income household's food budget, access to affordable healthy food, and risk factors of food insecurity in Milwaukee and Dane Counties (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Curtis et al., 2014; Greer et al., 2013; Grimm et al., 2013; Gundersen et al., 2018; Heckman, 2016; Hoefer & Curry, 2012).

Skill Building and the Food Insecure

Skill-building to enhance food resource management, food preparation, and selfconfidence in low-income populations for accessing and preparing healthy meals is essential (Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2017; Greer & Nelson, 2014; Hunter et al., 2014; Pooler et al., 2017). Nutrient-dense, healthy individual and family meal patterns have been recognized as key elements for inclusion in various nutrition education documents and interventions (Greer, 2013; Greer & Nelson, 2014; Hunter et al., 2014; Kaiser et al., 2015; Knoblock-Hahn et al., 2017; Mill et al., 2020; Pooler et al., 2017; Whitt-Glover et al., 2017; Young et al., 2014).

Food resource management involves such skills as the selection of healthy, nutrient dense fruits and vegetables, as well as comparison shopping for identifying the most cost-saving options (Greer, 2013; Greer & Nelson, 2014; Pooler et al., 2017). It also includes menu planning to meet nutritional needs within the household budget with taking advantage of coupons and store specials (Hunter et al., 2014; Kaiser et al., 2015; Pooler et al., 2017). These skills have the potential to improve the nutritional profile of the food brought into the home by enhancing food buying and acquisition skills (Pooler et al., 2017). They also employ empowerment strategies for stretching the food dollar (Hunter et al., 2014; Knoblock-Hahn et al., 2017; Pooler et al., 2017).

Developing a greater understanding of the specific needs of the food insecure targeted population, including how to access the food safety net system, was recommended to assures that tailored intervention and appropriate awareness and outreach messages were delivered by nutrition and health practitioners (Ivens & Edge, 2016; Minkler et al., 2003; NPC, 2011; National Research Council and Institute of Medicine, 2013; Nelson et al., 2015; Pooler et al., 2017). Most of the previously cited nutrition interventions provided some levels of social support through eating healthy meals together; while others facilitated knowledge exchange opportunities through participatory food preparation skill-building activities (Greer, 2013; Greer & Nelson, 2014; Hunter et al., 2014; Kaiser et al., 2015; Knoblock-Hahn et al., 2017; Pooler et al., 2017; Young et al., 2014). Yet, I found only one study that specifically included an evaluation of social networks and extent of community connectedness of their participants (Hunter et al., 2014). Lack of inclusion of an assessment of community social capital or connectedness to food safety networks utilized by program participants revealed another gap that this research study seeks to address (Greer & Nelson, 2014; Dean et al., 2014; Leischik et al., 2016; Pronk & Remington, 2015).

Transition and Summary

In Section 1, I introduced the issue of hunger and food insecurity from international, national, and local perspectives. I explored if there was a relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee and Dane County. An extensive examination of professional and academic literature was conducted to address how the study adds to the body of knowledge so that effective practice and advocacy strategies tailored to promote social change and empowerment could be formulated.

In Sections 2 and 3, I review the research project in specific detail, outlining the methodology, research design, population and inclusion criteria, and data analysis protocols. Results of findings and discussion are followed by a conclusion and future recommendations.

Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

The aim of this quantitative retrospective descriptive correlational research study was to explore if there was a relationship between four specific social capital types (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee and Dane County, WI. This also included looking at whether there was a relationship between income and social capital and risks of food insecurity in these two selected counties. In this section, I outlined the research design, rationale, and methodology, along with data collection and data analysis.

Specific SHOW variables were selected to address the research questions. Findings aided in identifying specific social capital enhancement strategies to address food insecurity risks and issues related to meeting healthy eating guidelines. In addition, a list of recommended tailored interventions and advocacy strategies were developed to be disseminated to Wisconsin practitioners and community stakeholders for incorporation into nutritional and health coaching interactions and community engagement initiatives to better address food insecurity, build community capacity, and increase self-efficacy for healthier eating and enhanced wellbeing.

Research Design and Rationale

This research study was designed as a quantitative retrospective descriptive correlational study involving cross-sectional secondary data from the 2014-2016 SHOW Phase II. Through SHOW survey data, which includes random sampling of individuals and households residing in all regions of Wisconsin who were asked a variety of questions involving specific health and social issues, this study was conducted to describe if a relationship exist between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and income and risk of food insecurity. My goal was to assess associations between variables to determine the effect size of the probable relationship for development of realistic strategies in order to address risks of food insecurity in at-risk households and communities in Milwaukee and Dane County, Wisconsin (see Figure 3).

Figure 3

Research Process Flow Diagram

Exclusion Criteria: Incarcerated, living in nursing or group homes (any age) with no control over the food served. Survey of the Health of Wisconsin (SHOW)-Phase II Data Set: N=1957 adults/635 Children Inclusion Criteria: 2014-2016 SHOW households within State of Wisconsin residing in Milwaukee and Dane Counties; adults, 18 and above, with/without children;

Milwaukee County SHOW Cohort N= 335

Data Analysis:

Primary Independent Variables:

Social Capital Types: Bonding Relations; Bridging Relations; Community Structural Formal Community Structural

Report of Findings:

.

.

•

Results, Tables, and Discussion

Implications for Social Change

Recommendations for Future Action

Conclusion and Limitations

Secondary Independent Variable:

Data Analysis:

Income (Federal Poverty Level)

Dependent Variable:

Risk of Food Insecurity

Demographics Variables:

Data Analysis:

Race/Ethnicity; Gender; Age; Household size; # of children; Education Attained; Transportation; Geography; Residence Type; & Employment Status

Data Analysis:

Confounding Variables:

Adverse/Stressf ul Life Events; Neighborhood Characteristics; Milwaukee Specific: Housing Issues; Trouble Making Ends Meet; Feeling Safe in Relationship

Adapted from: "The Survey of Health of Wisconsin (Show), a Novel Infrastructure for Population Health Research, Rationale, and Methods." F.J. Nieto et al. (2010). *BMC Public Health*, *10*:785. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-785</u>

Dane County

SHOW Cohort N= 235

There are limitations regarding use of experimental designs when examining populations given the lack of manipulation and randomization of variables such as race or gender. The cross-sectional design has been used for formative analysis of natural and real-world settings to examine relationships between properties and dispositions. Properties are the characteristics or qualities of a person, while dispositions are corresponding attitudes or inclinations that are present (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Soriano, 2013). In research that involves properties and dispositions, variables may occur over longer periods of time, are more general, and incorporate various factors, which make it harder to determine actual causes or time sequencing, especially when looking at factors that do not change (e.g., gender) (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). Yet, with the use of statistical analysis, patterns of relationships and probable inferences can be identified (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008).

Descriptive statistics enable data to be organized and analyzed in ways that are effective and meaningful. It involves using tools for describing collections of statistical observations and organizing information into understandable formats. Descriptive measures may include frequency tables, measures of central tendencies (e.g., mean, median, mode) and dispersion (e.g., range; Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Soriano, 2013).

Inferential statistics enable researchers to make decisions or inferences by comparing, analyzing, and interpreting data patterns regarding whether a potential relationship is found during observations. Inferential measures may include covariate or multiple regression analysis, logistic regression analysis, Lambda, or the Guttman coefficient of predictability, used for calculating relationships between nominal or interval variables (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Soriano, 2013).

Both descriptive and inferential statistics were used to formulate explanations for complex social and health issues resulting from the relationships found between variables. Statistical analysis used for comparison between or within social networks can assist in clarifying the extent of generalizations. It can also provide insight into events and processes such that effective social change strategies can be formulated (Creswell, 2009; Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Soriano, 2013). The cross-sectional design attempts to approximate the post-test control group by statistical data analysis techniques (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). The primary, confounding, and demographic control variables used in this research study are listed in Tables 4, 5, and 6, respectively.

Table 4

Bonding	Bridging	Community	Community	Income
social	social capital	structural –	structural –	levels
capital		formal	informal	
Intimate	Primary health	Food safety net	Emergency food	% Federal
family	care provider	agencies	assistance (e.g., food	Poverty:
relationships,	(e.g., physician,	accessed past	pantries, free meals)	
marital status	physician	year (e.g.,	Full-service	100% &
(e.g.,	assistant,	WIC, SNAP,	supermarkets/grocery	below
husband,	Other health	Head Start);	stores (distance to	101 -
wife, partner,	professionals		store, reasons for	200%
child);	(e.g., nurse		shopping there)	201 -
	practitioner)			300%

Primary Independent Variables

Importance of Living close to family and friends	Medical facilities used (e.g., hospital, community health clinic, urgent care) Health and Dental Insurance Coverage	Perceptions of government assistance (it helps, prevents hunger, humiliating, takes away freedom)	CSA Food Coop memberships; farmer's markets or local farms frequented	401% & above Milwaukee County Income levels
Importance of having Friendly Neighbors Bonding with neighbors	Seeking health information or advice through the internet for self or family	Job-status (e.g., not working, # hours worked/week, kind of work, #miles to work), Type of business or industry	Grow or produce own food; Eating at restaurants (fast food, casual style, all you can eat, sit down)	Dane County Income Levels
Feeling safe in my relationship	Health Literacy, needing assistance in understanding written materials (e.g., instructions, pamphlets) from your doctor or pharmacy	Politically involved (can affect what the government does, sent letter or call to affect policy, attended a meeting to affect change)	Active participation in the community (neighborhood meets needs, belong to neighborhood, attend meeting on neighborhood issues)	

Adapted From: "Survey of the Health of Wisconsin." *University of Wisconsin-Madison, School of Medicine and Public Health* (2017). <u>http://www.med.wisc.edu/show/about-survey-of-the-health-of-wisconsin/36193</u>

301 -400%

Table 5

Confounding Variables on Social and Environmental Issues

Adverse (stressful) life	Neighborhood characteristics	Milwaukee specific
events, past year		inquiry
Death of a spouse; the	Access by walking to various	Not enough money for
death of family member;	locations (e.g., parks, grocery store,	rent;
death of friend	church, community center)	Evicted by the landlord
Detention in jail or	Safe from crime, transportation	Trouble making ends
institution		meet
Major illness or injury	Affordable housing	Threatened with foreclosure

Adapted From: "Survey of the Health of Wisconsin." *University of Wisconsin-Madison, School of Medicine and Public Health* (2017). <u>http://www.med.wisc.edu/show/about-</u>survey-of-the-health-of-wisconsin/36193

Table 6

Demographic Variables

Household size	age group	Gender	Race/ethnicity	Education attained
Number of	Adults 18-44;	Male	White, Black,	Less than High
Persons in the	Adults 45-65;	Female	Asian, Native	School;
Households,	Adults 66 and		Hawaiian or	High School;
Number of	above		Islander Pacific,	Some College;
Children in the			American Indian	2-year Associate or
Households, 0-			or Alaska Native,	Technical Degree
17 years			More than one	College. 4-year
			race	Grad and above

Transportation Marital status		Geographic Residence type	
	(bonding SC)	location	
Own or lease	Married or	Urban or	Own home,
car or truck	Living with	Rural	Rent
	Partner, Single,		
	Divorced or		
	Widowed		

Adapted From: "Survey of the Health of Wisconsin." University of Wisconsin-Madison, School of Medicine and Public Health (2017). <u>http://www.med.wisc.edu/show/about-survey-of-the-health-of-wisconsin/36193</u>

My role in this study was to retrieve and merge data sources to comprehensively examine targeted variables related to the four social capital types and risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee and Dane County. In addition, I analyzed results and provided a summary of conclusions with recommended strategies for future practice, building community capacity, and public policy advocacy. Although I am also a nutrition practitioner, my role required objective gathering of data with clear reporting of findings based on descriptive and inferential statistical analysis (Creswell, 2009).

The conclusions and recommendations although generated from the objective findings were framed by my understanding of the practice-based application that could be enhanced such as nutritional coaching, service coordination, food access, policy reform, and advocacy. Using the IM, I proposed targeted strategies for nutrition and health practitioners to guide future food insecurity interventions that included a focus on social capital within Milwaukee and Dane County, Wisconsin to promote positive social change

119

towards greater household and community food security (Lundy, 2010; Pellmar, et al., 2002).

Methodology

This study was a cross-sectional secondary data analysis, using the primary data obtained by the Survey of Health of Wisconsin (SHOW) for the years 2014-2016 (i.e., SHOW Phase II). The SHOW is a series of health and social surveys patterned after the federal *National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys* (NHANES). They were designed to provide researchers an opportunity to take an in-depth examination into the health and well-being of Wisconsin residents (Nieto et al., 2010; School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). Although originally implemented by a prominent physician's group, the SHOW is now maintained by the University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health located in Madison, Wisconsin.

The SHOW included a total cohort (i.e., Phase I, II, & III) of approximately 6000 individuals, both adults, and children (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). There was no charge to download the data set, however, researchers were required to apply and meet requirements for use which included being able to demonstrate the ability to maintain data security and confidentiality protocols (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). (See Appendix B, SHOW Student Researcher Application and Approval, p. 294) A SHOW mentor was assigned, and IRB approval obtained before the data sets were downloaded for analysis. (See Appendix A, IRB Approval Notice, p. 291) In addition, a SHOW Committee must approve any manuscript developed before

submission for publication with acknowledgment of the SHOW listed in the document (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017).

Sampling and Sampling Procedure in Secondary Data

The SHOW collected voluntary individual and household non-duplicated survey data from 2008-2013 (Phase I) stratified by census track and income (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). In 2014-2016 (Phase II), mortality was added to the stratification, as well as analysis by county for ten sites, including Milwaukee and Dane Counties (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). Additionally, zip code stratification was added for enhanced analysis at the local level in some selected counties. In 2017 (Phase III), the first year of longitudinal data was collected on previous SHOW participants; however, this updated data year was not yet available at the start of this study (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). There was approximately 6000+ participants included in the multi-year SHOW cohort.

Several types of assessments were used in the SHOW to triangulate information including paper surveys, in-person interviews with visual hand cards, computer-generated surveys, physical exams, activity and sleep measures, and lab analysis (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). The SHOW provided a comprehensive snapshot of the health of Wisconsin residents such that appropriate resources and interventions were targeted towards the specific needs identified (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). The SHOW was previously used to assess Wisconsin's resident prevalence rates and health implications of obesity (Eggers et al, 2016).

SHOW Population

The SHOW collected household data on representative samples of the overall Wisconsin population from all regions of the State, to include small and large cities, rural areas, and the suburbs (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). All participants were free-living and non-institutionalized. Targeted households were provided with advanced notice by mail inviting them to be part of the study and a trained fieldworker scheduled a home visit to provide an on-site explanation of the program. A follow-up visit was planned to conduct screenings, labs, and to administer the surveys. Children interviews were included in the survey with parent's consent (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017).

Ethical Protection of SHOW Participants

Informed consent was obtained at the initial home visit prior to the follow-up home visit. All the identifiable information collected by the SHOW is kept confidential. SHOW findings are reported in aggregate form only. SHOW administrators maintain strict security during all phases of data collection and when used for research so as not to release confidential identifiable data and to assure the on-going integrity of the data set . As part of the study participant's prior permission, it is agreed that the data would be made available to qualified researchers for future evaluation(School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). To ensure ethical practice, participants are given copies of the assessment data generated as well as a stipend at the end of the survey period for their involvement.

Types of SHOW Data

The SHOW obtained a wide array of data on the health conditions, practices, and perception of individual and household members, primarily from self-reported data (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). Not only was information on health risks, such as hypertension and high cholesterol collected but also, through the computer-assisted survey, healthy eating and physical activity practices, access to medical care, neighborhood characteristics that support wellness (e.g., distance to grocery stores, access to fitness centers), community connections and engagement, and perceptions on the quality of their health were obtained (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). Participation in food safety net services such as WIC and SNAP were included as well as survey tools that examine the extent of food insecurity and economic hardship in the household were available, among others (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017).

Research Study Target Population and Study Cohort

The population from which the research cohort was drawn were the households located in the State of Wisconsin that participated in the 2014-2016 SHOW – Phase II (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). This included a total of 1957 adults and 645 children. Inclusion criteria consisted of SHOW household adults, 18 and above, with or without children residing in either Milwaukee or Dane County (cohort totals of 335 and 235, respectively). Children were included as part of the household counts. Exclusion criteria included those that were incarcerated, living in nursing or group homes (at any age), with no control of the food served. In looking at the 50 US metropolitan areas with the largest Black populations, Milwaukee County has held the designated as one of the most segregated areas for Black people in American, tied only with Detroit, MI (Logan & Stults, 2011). Furthermore, when looking at the dissimilarity index between black/white neighborhoods, there has been little change over the last thirty years, with Milwaukee being within the top five with the highest dissimilarity levels nationwide (Logan & Stults, 2011; Milwaukee Health Care Partnership, 2021).

The Index of Dissimilarity (D) is an established measurement for segregation that takes into account how much two racial groups are evenly distributed within a specified area of the locality, such as the census tracks of a metropolis. The D is listed from 0 to 100% and is an indication of how much movement one racial group would need to move to establish an evenly distributed residential pattern (Logan & Stults, 2011). Having a D of 60% or above is considered highly dissimilar or high segregation, whereas a measure of 30% or less is low segregation. In looking at the black-white D for the 50 metropolitan locations with the top African American residents, Detroit-Livonia-Dearborn, MI and Milwaukee-Waukesha-West Allis, WI leads the nation, tied at 76.6; whereas the Minneapolis-St Paul-Bloomington, MN-WI, has a D of 21.5, with a city ranking of 47th, with Phoenix-MesaGlendale, AZ having a D of 8,8%, the lowest of the 50 metro areas (Logan & Stults, 2011).

Therefore, given that Milwaukee County has a high urban population density centered around the City of Milwaukee, with the highest concentration of African American population in the State along with the highest rates of food insecurity and low socioeconomic status, an analysis specific to examining if there is a relationship between social capital types and risk of food insecurity was undertaken specific to this location (County Health Rankings & Roadmaps, 2022;Curtis et al., 2014; Greer et al., 2013; Milwaukee Health Care Partnership, 2021). This analysis also explored if there is a relationship between income levels and social capital and risk of food insecurity controlling for other variables included as confounders.

Dane County, although having the second-highest African American population in the State with high racial disparities in food insecurity and other health outcomes (e.g., high black maternal and infant mortality), boast a higher socioeconomic status than Milwaukee County. Despite including the city of Madison, WI, the State's Capital, Dane County has a significantly lower population size (almost half that of Milwaukee County) as well as a lower population density with higher rural areas and was also assessed in a similar manner (County Health Rankings & Roadmaps, 2022; Foundation for Black Women's Wellness, 2019; Heckman, 2016).

Using cohorts from both Milwaukee and Dane counties to examine if there was a relationship between social capital, income, and risk of food insecurity assisted in

targeting the results to the appropriate political representatives at both the state and national levels to advocate for effective public policy and environmental change strategies to impact food insecurity (Wisconsin State Legislature, n.d.). At the county level, local food safety net organizations and stakeholder groups, including nutrition and health coaches, were targeted to share research results with practical recommendations and actions for addressing the unmet social capital and food insecurity needs included (Baiden et al., 2014; Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2011).

To this end, the specified four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) as seen within the State of Wisconsin, with its high geographic, racial, and health disparities, were examined to determine if there was a relationship to risk of food insecurity using the SHOW cohorts of Milwaukee County, the State's largest county, located in the southeastern region of the Wisconsin, and Dane County, the State's second largest county, located in the south central region of Wisconsin (County Health Rankings & Roadmaps, 2022; Curtis et al., 2014; Feeding Wisconsin, 2015; Greer et al., 2013; Heckman, 2016). Table 7 shows the population totals for the state of Wisconsin, Milwaukee and Dane Counties, and their food insecurity rates. While Table 8 shows the target population SHOW totals from which study cohorts were stratified with demographic data illustrating some of the disparities assessed in this research project.

Table 7

Population Size and Food Insecurity Prevalence

Population	Population size	Food insecurity rate
State of Wisconsin ^a	5.711.767	11.6% Adult;
	-,,	20.4% Childhood
Milwaukee County ^b	956,586	22.1% Adults;
		26.9 Children
Dane County ^b	522,837	12.2 % Adult;
		19.1 % Childhood

Adapted From: a) "Hunger & Food Insecurity in Wisconsin and Dane County," N. Heckman (2016). *Public Health Madison & Dane County, Division of Policy, Planning, and Evaluation.* https://www.publichealthmdc.com/documents/foodSecurityWhitePaper.pdf; b) "Map the Meal Gap 2018: A Report on County and Congressional District Food Insecurity and County Food Cost in the United States in 2016," C. Gundersen et al., 2018. *Milwaukee, WI: Feeding America,* https://www.feedingwi.org/data___research/food_insecurity_rates.php

Table 8

Target SHOW Population, Poverty, and Race

Target SHOW populations	#SHOW surveys 2014-2016	Poverty levels	Race/ethnicity
2014-2016 State of Wisconsin	1957 Adults & 645 Children	Poverty ≤200% = 556 or 30.5%	Non-Hispanic White – 1623 or
		Poverty $\geq 200\% =$	85%
		1303 or 69.5%	Non-Hispanic Black – 151 or
			6.3%

Adapted From: "Survey of the Health of Wisconsin." University of Wisconsin-Madison, School of Medicine and Public Health (2017). <u>http://www.med.wisc.edu/show/about-survey-of-the-health-of-wisconsin/36193</u>

Guerrero et al. (2013) said although there were no statistical differences in food insecurity rates across the 5 regions of the States, whether urban or rural setting, there was pervasive food insecurity throughout all regions of Wisconsin. Food insecurity rates ranged from a high of 14.1% to a low of 8.7% (Guerrero et al., 2013). However, when looking at Wisconsin's food hardship rates (a measure of food insecurity) by Congressional Districts, data showed great disparities with Milwaukee County having the highest food hardship rate in Wisconsin (Curtis et al., 2014; Feeding Wisconsin, 2015; Heckman, 2016). Congressional District 4, which encompasses the inner city, low socioeconomic status, high African American neighborhoods of the city of Milwaukee, the largest city in the State, has an overall food hardship rate of 22.1% (Curtis et al., 2014; Greer et al., 2013; Gundersen et al., 2018).

Whereas, the lowest food hardship Congressional District in the State, District 5, which encompasses the outskirts of Milwaukee County (i.e., Milwaukee, Greenfield,) as well as the surrounding counties of Jefferson, Waukesha, Dodge, Walworth, and Washington, has an overall food hardship rate of 9.9% (Curtis et al., 2014; Greer et al., 2013; Gundersen et al., 2018). This illustrates the wide diversity that is seen in this geographic area of the State (Curtis, et al., 2014; Feeding Wisconsin, 2015; Greer et al., 2013; Heckman, 2016).

Dane County, which sits in the south-central region of the State, in Congressional District 2, has a food hardship rate of 12.2%. Although still high, this food hardship level is almost half that of Milwaukee County (Gundersen et al., 2018; Heckman, 2016). Dane County have the second-highest African American population in the State (Curtis et
al., 2014; Gundersen et al., 2018; Heckman, 2016). In addition, it differs from Milwaukee County in that its population is half that of Milwaukee County, with double the median income and a higher rural population (Curtis, et al., 2014; Feeding Wisconsin, 2015; Heckman, 2016).

Study Cohort Size Determination and Power Analysis

For this research study, utilizing the 2014-2016 SHOW dataset, all units meeting the inclusion criteria formed the Milwaukee County SHOW Cohort and the Dane County SHOW Cohort were used for analysis. The total population in each cohort was 335 units for Milwaukee County and 235 units for Dane County. Moreover, although the study utilized all possible cohort units, critical sample size calculations for statistical significance based on the type of analysis utilized were still necessary and have been included for review.

An adequate sample size for statistical significance can be determined by using a variety of methods from manually calculated equations to technological software packages (Walden University Academic Skills Center, 2014; Horse, 2019; Israel, 2003; Kim, 2015; Buchner et al., 2007; Soriano, 2013). All would involve the use of a selected level of precision, confidence level, and effect size to compute the minimum required sample size (Horse, 2019; Israel, 2003; Kim, 2015). However, in some cases the final sample size may need to be larger than what's calculated, considering other issues such as the types of statistics that will be used, the level of missing data, and when a high nonresponse rate is a concern (Israel, 2003).

For this research proposal, the sample sizes required to assure statistical significance for the research questions (i.e., RQ1, RQ2, RQ3, RQ4) were calculated using the G-Power statistical software package. G-Power is a free, statistical power assessment program developed by Faul et al. (2009), that has been widely used with reliable results (American Statistical Association, 2017; Faul et al., 2009). Yet, over the years, revisions have been made, which led to the 3.1 version used in this research study (American Statistical Association, 2017).

To answer the research questions, multiple linear regression analysis was conducted. In determining the minimum sample size, I utilized widely accepted standard ranges for the input parameters. The power parameter represents the probability that a test of the null hypothesis will correctly yield statistical significance when the null hypothesis is, in fact, false (Rose & Bowen, 2009). The power analysis must match the model for data analysis to assure an appropriate power level to prevent a type II error from being reached. The power was set at 80% or .80.

For the other parameters, a standard confidence level of 95%, which denotes a level of significance or alpha of 5% or .05, was used (Rose & Bowen, 2009). For the effect size, which represents the amount of difference between compared groups, an expression of the actual clinical effect and derived importance, the standard level for a medium effect size using multiple linear regression, .15, was used (American Statistical Association, 2017; Kim, 2015; Rose & Bowen, 2009). It is important to note, given that this research study is a secondary data study using the SHOW surveys, with access to a higher volume of records, the actual sample size utilized in the study is likely to exceed

the calculated required sample size. However, this higher case volume was not deemed warranted given the low level of missing data observed in the SHOW (Israel, 2003). Table 9 reveals the sample sizes required to assure statistical significance using the multiple linear regression statistic for analysis of the research questions for the selected counties.

Table 9

Research questions	Dependent variables (DV)/ Independent variables (IV)	Test family & test statistics	Input parameters	Calculated minimum sample size
RQ1 and RQ2	DV: Risk of food insecurity (scale) IVs: 1) Bonding SC, 2) Bridging SC, 3) Community Structural-Formal SC, 4) Community Structural-Informal SC	F tests Linear Multiple Regression: Fixed model, R ² deviation from zero	Alpha: .05, Power: .80, Effect Size: .15, Number of Predictors: 4	85 samples per county (Milwaukee and Dane Counties)
RQ3 and RQ4	DV: Risk of food insecurity (scale) IVs 3 & 4: Federal Poverty Level (ratio), social capital (scales)	F tests Linear Multiple Regression: Fixed model, R ² deviation from zero	Alpha: .05, Power: .80, Effect Size: .15, Number Predictors 2	68 samples per county (Milwaukee and Dane Counties)

Power Analysis: A priori to compute required sample size given alpha, power, and effect size

Adapted from: "G*Power 3.1 Manual." American Statistical Association (2017). *American Statistical Association*, 76, 27-32.

Instruments

SPSS version 25 was used to provide computer level statistical analysis of the research data. Data sets were imported into SPSS25 from the SHOW password protected data file, which served as the main data analysis technology for both the descriptive and correlational statistical analysis. SPSS offered the capability to accurately complete a variety of complicated mathematical calculations for greater understanding of the data, as well as the graphics needed to clearly present the findings. (Creswell, 2009; Green & Salkind, 2014). In additions, as mentioned earlier, G*Power was employed to determine the minimum required sample sizes to answer the research questions given the use of the multiple linear regression statistics (American Statistical Association, 2017).

Data Organization Techniques

To assure the quality and soundness of the data collection and analysis plan, meetings with SHOW Research Specialist and the Walden's Center for Research Quality Specialist were scheduled prior to file uploading to uncover any questions or issues that needed addressing. Furthermore, to assure accuracy and completeness, all data was evaluated after uploading and data cleaned, as needed. All supporting information was saved in a general research file and backed up on a flash drive for long term retrieval. All data sets will be properly disposed of within 6 months of manuscript development per SHOW agreement. (See Appendix A) A complete data dictionary table was included to guide the data analysis process. (See Appendix B) The relevant technical explanations from the SHOW are also included in the appendices to assure transparency in analysis and interpretation (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). (See Appendix D)

Operationalization of the Variables

The descriptions of the categories and survey questions from the SHOW dataset along with the operational measures and scoring that define the dependent, independent, income, confounding, and other demographic variables used in this research study are reviewed in this section (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). Given the use of the IM that promotes a comprehensive mapping of four specific domains, from the individual to the community context, the large number of factors as listed in each variable category (e.g., 27 elements for community-structural-informal social capital alone), was reviewed. It is important to note that in looking at the primary independent variable, social capital, the review was divided into the four sub-types of social capital of focus (i.e., bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) with both a sub-unit score and a combined composite score, to provide a consistent conceptual framework in keeping with the study design.

Food insecurity, the dependent variable, was operationalized through a series of questions, patterned after the CFSM from USDA, which were related to either having enough food or about the cost of food for the respondent or (his/her) household. Given that the survey questions were taken from the CFSM which should be interpreted as a measure of food security with the highest numbers indicative of high food security and the lowest numbers meaning low food security (or high food insecurity) adjustments were needed to enhance clarity of concept. Therefore, for this study, the numbers needed to be re-coded, so the higher numbers were consistent with risk of food insecurity.

As displayed in Table 10, four questions used ordinal level response measures that included: Was that often true; sometimes true; or never true for (you/your household) in the last 12 months? For each question, a continuous point score was assigned to each possible answer based on the extent of agreement to the food security question. Measures were then re-coded such that the higher the score, the higher the food insecurity risk. A composite score consisting of all positive responses to the survey questions, with a total possible maximum score of 12, was used to affirm a risk for food insecurity.

Table 10

SHOW Survey Questionnaire – Food Security

Food Security Survey Questions	Highest Score
FSQ002 "(<i>I/We</i>) worried whether (my/our) food would run out before (<i>I/We</i>) got money to buy more."	3
FSQ003 "The food that (I/We) bought just didn't last, and (I/We) didn't have money to get more."	3
FSQ004 "(I/We) could not afford to eat balanced meals."	3
FSQ080 "In the last 12 months, have you been concerned about having enough food for you or your family?"	
Ordinal response measures (*original scores) for all above: $1=often true, 2$ = sometimes true, $3 = never true$.	3
*Measures were re-coded and transposed such that the highest scores = high food insecurity: 3.) often true; 2.) sometimes true; 1.) never true for (you/your household) in the last 12 months?	
*Food Insecurity Highest Possible Score:	12

Social capital, the independent variable, is a multidimensional construct that can be measured through examining several indicator parameters (Pendley, Mock, & Theall, 2020; Stone, 2001). These may range from structural types of social connections (social networks from the individual to community context); engagement social capital parameters (extent of civic and political engagement); to cognitive social capital parameters (perceived trust/respectful relationships) (Stone, 2001). The approach and constructs of focus needed to be based on the intent of the research and the questions the researcher was attempting to answer (Pendley et al., 2020; Stone, 2001).

Heterogeneous was the term used to describe the state of measurements of social capital related to the numerous types of tools available and the number of items used (Agampodi et al., 2015; Stone, 2001). This held true whether looking at systematic reviews focused on tools to be used in low to moderate income countries or in those used in high income countries (Agampodi et al., 2015; Pendley et al., 2020; Stone, 2001). In addition to the common social capital constructs (e.g., social networks, trust, civic engagement), it was pointed out that "access to resources" and specifically, those relevant to the health issue at hand, should also be measured in developing a comprehensive assessment (Agampodi et al., 2015; Pendley et al., 2020). Access to resources as well as social influence were considered essential for inclusion in measuring social capital in low resource countries, which was not present in many measures of social capital reviewed (Agampodi et al., 2015; Pendley et al., 2020).

Social capital measurement scales that were reviewed included long survey's with multiple types of constructs, short surveys with more targeted constructs around bonding and bridging constructs, psychological constructs related to trust and power, health focused surveys related to health practices, mental health, and relationships with health care providers, surveys focused on the individual's social networks, and community wide focused surveys that keyed on community capacity and collective engagement (Agampodi et al., 2015; Chazdon et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2009; Grootaert et al., 2004; Lee & Kim, 2012; Magson et al., 2014; Pendley et al., 2020; Putnam, 2000; Williams, 2006). And, although at times the same validated tool was used, different researchers selected specific items from the tool to study, thus adding to the heterogeneity among the social capital measures (Agampodi et al., 2015).

To date, a "gold" standard for measuring social capital through refinement of a specific tool has not been established (Agampodi et al., 2015; Putnam, 2000; Stone, 2001). Some of the tools focused considerable attention on trust as a high priority versus bridging relationships or community linkages to resources (Agampodi et al., 2015). One study, the Adaptive Social Capital Assessment Tool (A-SCAT), a version of the original Social Capital Assessment Tool (SCAT) developed under the World Bank's social capital initiative, thoroughly assessed the concept with eleven different constructs, distinguishing between structural and cognitive dimensions, as well as eight factors representing different social capital constructs (Agampodi et al., 2015). However, it did not address linking social capital which is a key component of the current research proposal (Agampodi et al., 2015).

Several other validated models and measurement scales were reviewed that contained similar domains/constructs of social capital needed in this study (Agampodi et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2015; Grootaert et al., 2004; Williams, 2006). However, most were missing some major constructs that this research study deemed pertinent to examining the relationship to the health issue at hand, specifically risk of food insecurity. For example, the primary social capital categories (i.e., bonding, bridging, linking social capital) in the University of Minnesota (U of M) Extension Social Capital Model (2013) are similar to those in this research study and aided in defining the measuring framework (Chazdon et al., 2013; School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). However, the U of M Extension Model has an emphasis on evaluating trust and engagement with limited information on community formal or informal access to resources, which was included in this research study (Chazdon et al., 2013). The U of M Extension Model was found to be a valid and reliable measurement tool and its educational model centers on both structural types and cognitive aspects of social capital (Chazdon et al., 2013).

The current research study primarily involved examining the social capital networks and structures that are present in the two Wisconsin cohorts, Milwaukee, and Dane Counties, and if there is a relationship to risk of food insecurity. The examination of social networks is viewed as fundamental to the study of relational research. Networks form the structural framework of social capital (Stone, 2001). It centers on intimate bonds, levels of connectedness (both formal and informal), group membership, and civic participation that facilitates engagement of one individual with another (Stone, 2001).

Yet, it must be noted that measures of social capital through secondary data analysis are limited given that the reasons for the primary survey questionnaires were not created for the social capital analysis (Stone, 2001). Secondary data analysis can, however, reveal formative information on the extent of the social relations present. Thus, it may guide future qualitative inquiry for a more comprehensive, in-depth assessment, such as examining the quality or strength of the relationships identified (Stone, 2001).

In looking at the SHOW secondary data set and the types of social capital constructs available to be used for this research study, some important trust and engagement concepts, such as community belonging and civic engagement, were available (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). These parameters were included in the research. However, there was limited data on the cognitive aspects of social capital, such as perceptions of the quality or strength of the bridging relationship (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017).

The survey questionnaires were more inclusive of the various types of social networks and connections to resources (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). The SHOW data set contained community structural formal social capital questions (e.g., WIC program participation) that constitutes linking relationships to governmental food safety net resources. There were also questions related to community structural informal social capital resources (e.g., shopping at farmers markets) which depicts access to food sources that are open to the general public (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017).

Therefore, given that my research study is primarily concerned with examining the networks and structural types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural formal and informal social capital) as it relates to food insecurity risks using secondary survey data previously collected from the SHOW, the independent variables were operationalized through development of a measuring framework using selected survey questions that coincide with each of the four social capital types. For each question, a continuous point score was assigned to each possible answer based on the potential for connectedness such that the higher the points assigned, the higher the social capital. The questions were re-coded as needed and a total social capital composite score was calculated based on the sum of the highest positive response scores for each social capital type (see Table 11).

Table 11.

SHOW Survey Questionnaire – Social Capital

Social Capital Survey Questions	
Bonding Social Capital: Intimate connections within one's close social environment	Highest Score
<i>Marital Status (also considered a Demographic variable) –</i> Survey Question:	6
DMQ040 "What is your marital status?"	
Nominal response measures (*original scores) include: 1.) Married; 2.) Widowed; 3.) Divorced; 4.) Separated; 5.) Never Married; 6.) Living with Partner *Measures were recoded and rearranged such that higher scores = higher bonding SC (Married or Living with partner = highest bonding (1=6, 2=2, 3=2, 4=3, 5=1, 6=6)	

Residing close to family/friends – Survey Question:

NBRHD006_C_R2 "Thinking back to when you moved to your current residence, at that time, how important were each of the following factors in your decision to move to your current residence? Close to family/friends.

Ordinal response measures (original scores ok) include: 1.) Not at all important; 2.) Slightly important; 3.) Neutral; 4.) Moderately important; 5.) Very important.

5

Friendly Neighbors – Survey Question:

Bonding Subiolai: Bridging Social Capital: Connections outside of one's intimate social	23
Bonding Subtotal	23
*(Original lower scores = higher bonding) Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher bonding SC	
Nominal response measures (*original scores): 1.) Yes; 2.) No; 3.) Does not apply/not in a relationship.	-
Milwaukee120 "Do you feel safe in your relationship?	2
Safe in Relationship (Milwaukee Supplemental) – Survey Question:	
(Original lower scores = higher bonding) Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher bonding SC	
Ordinal response measures (*original scores): 1.) Strongly agree; 2.) Agree; 3.) Neutral; 4.) Disagree; 5.) Strongly disagree	5
Community150 "I have a bond with others in the neighborhood"	
Ordinal response measures (original scores ok) include: 1.) Not at all important; 2.) Slightly important; 3.) Neutral; 4.) Moderately important; 5.) Very important .	
NBRHD006_F_R2 "Thinking back to when you moved to your current residence, at that time, how important were each of the following factors in your decision to move to your current residence?" Friendly neighbors	5

Bridging Social Capital: Connections outside of one's intimate social environment that can be of influence or aid in establishing connections to health or food resources or services.

Connection to Medical Care – Survey Questions:

IUQ120 "Do you have a usual place where you go when you feel sick or need advice about your health?" (If you have more than one place you go, depending on the most often.)

Nominal response measures (*original scores) : 1.) Yes, I usually go to the hospital emergency room; 2.) Yes, I usually go to a hospital outpatient department; 3.) Yes, I usually go to a clinic or doctor's office; 4.) Yes, I usually go to a community health center; 5,) Yes, I usually go to some other place (specify;); 6.) No, I don't have a usual place of care. (don't know will be coded as missing)

*Measures recoded and rearranged such that the higher score = higher bridging sc. (3=4, 4=3, 2=3, 1=2, 5=2, 6=1)

IUQ128 "When you go to this health facility, do you usually see a general doctor, a specialist doctor, a nurse practitioner or physician assistant or someone else?"

Nominal response measures (*original score): 1.) General Doctor; 2.) Specialist Doctor; 3.) Nurse Practitioner/Physician Assistant; 4.) Someone else.

*(Original lower scores = higher bridging) Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher bridging SC (1=4, 2=3, 3=2, 4=1)

IUQ260_R2 "Sometimes people have problems getting health care when they need it. During the last 12 months, was there any time that you felt that you needed medical care or surgery but did not get it?"

2

4

Nominal response measures (original score ok): 1.) Yes; 2.) No.

Health Information/Health Literacy – Survey Questions:

IUQ100 "In the last 12 months, have you used the internet to seek information or advice on your health, or that of your family?"

2

Nominal response measures (*original score): 1.) Yes; 2.) No *Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher bonding SC (1=2, 2=1)

4

	142
IUQ115 "How often do you need to have someone help you when you read instructions, pamphlets, or other written material from your doctor or pharmacy? Would you say?"	5
Ordinal response measures (original score ok): 1.) Never; 2.) Rarely; 3.) Sometimes; 4.) Often ; 5.) Always.	
<i>Health and dental insurance coverage</i> (included as a bridge to health resources and its potential effect on the household income, if not covered). Survey question:	
IUQ020_R2_A "What kind(s) of health insurance or health care coverage do you have now, or did you have during the last 12 months?"	3
Nominal response (*original measures): 1.) Employer or union sponsored plan; 2.) Private individually purchased health plan; 3.) Medicare, for people 65 or older, or people with certain disabilities; 5.) Medicaid, Medical Assistance, MA, BadgerCare, BadgerCare-Plus; 6.) HIRS: Health Insurance Risk Sharing Plan-Wisconsin of Federal; 8.) Indiana Health Service; 9.) Military Care (TriCare,VA) ; 10.) Other plan (Specify).	
*Measures were recoded and rearranged such that higher scores = higher bridging SC (1=3, 2=3, 3=2, 5=2, 6=3, 8=2, 9=3, 10=1)	
IUQ030 "{Does/Did} your health insurance plan (including any supplemental coverage you might {have/have had}) cover the costs associated with prescription medications"	3
IUQ040 "{Does/Did} your health insurance plan cover the costs associated with preventive dental services (oral exam, cleaning, sealant, etc.)?"	3
IUQ050 "{Does/Did} your health insurance plan cover the costs associated with other preventive services for adults (checkups, immunizations, screenings)?"	3
Ordinal response measures (*original scores): 1.) All of the cost; 2.) Some of the cost; 3.) None of the cost	
*Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher bonding SC (1=3, 2=2, 3=1)	

Bridging Subtotal: 29

	143
Community Structural – Formal Social Capital: Formal governmental or private organizations that can provide a link to resources or support to assist in meeting needs.	
Access to formal food safety net sources. Survey Questions:	
FSQ162_R2 "In the last 12 months, did you receive benefits from the WIC program, that is, the Women, Infants and Children program?"	2
FSQ170_R2 "In the last 12 months, were you authorized to receive Food Stamps[Food Share], which includes a food stamp card or voucher, or cash grants from the State for food?"	2
Nominal response measure (*original score) for all: 1.) Yes; 2.) No.	
*Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community Formal SC ((1=2, 2=1)	
Head Start (Milwaukee Supplemental). Survey Questions:	
Milwaukee100 "Have any of your children participated in Head Start, preschool, or other early childhood enrichment?"	2
Nominal response measure(*original score): 1.) Yes; 2.) No; 3.) Don't apply, don't have children.	
*Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community Formal SC (1=2, 2=1, 3 = missing)	
Milwaukee110 "Do you now have a child participating in Head Start, preschool, or other early childhood enrichment?"	2
Nominal response measure (*original score): 1.) Yes; 2.) No; 3.) Don't have children/don't apply, don't have preschool children.	
*Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community Formal SC (1=2, 2=1, 3 = missing)	
<i>Perceptions of government assistance</i> . The following are some opinions other people have expressed about government assistance (for example, welfare, food stamps, WIC). Please tell us whether you apply to Survey Questions:	
FSQ180 "Government assistance helps people get on their feet when facing difficult situations such as unemployment, a divorce, or a death in the family."	5

		144
FSQ185 "Government assistance helps to prevent hunger and starvation."	5	
Ordinal response measures (*original score) for questions 180 & 185 above: 1.) Strongly agree; 2.) Agree; 4.) Disagree; or 5.) Strongly disagree.		
*Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community Formal SC (1=5, 2=4,3=3, 4=2, 5=1 for 180 & 185)		
FSQ190 "The application process to apply for government assistance is humiliating."	5	
FSQ195 "The rules of government assistance take away personal freedom."	5	
Ordinal response measures (original score ok) for questions 190 & 195 above: 1.) Strongly agree; 2.) Agree; 4.) Disagree; or 5.) Strongly disagree.		
<i>Political engagement</i> . The following set of questions requests information about your social and emotional connection to a variety of issues. Please rate your agreement with the following survey questions:		
Community050 "I enjoy political participation because I want to have as much say in running government as possible"	5	
Community060 "There are plenty of ways for people like me to have a say in what our government does."	5	
Ordinal response measures (*original scores) for above questions: 1.) Strongly agree; 2.) Agree; 3.) Neutral; 4.) Disagree; or 5.) Strongly disagree with each statement.		
*Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community Formal SC (1=5, 2=4, 3=3, 4=2, 5=1 for Comm 050-060)		
Community170 "Written a letter or made a telephone call to influence a policy issue."	5	
Community190 "Attended a meeting to pressure for city or county policy change."	5	
Ordinal response measure (*original score): 1) Very Frequently, 2) Frequently, 3) Sometimes, 4.) Rarely, 5.) Never		

*Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community-Formal SC (1=5, 2=4, 3=3, 4=2, 5=1 for both Comm 170 & 190))	
<i>Occupation/Job Status</i> . This category asks questions about work experience and provides details on the type of work performed. Survey questions:	
OCQ100 "Which of the following were you doing last week?"	4
Nominal response measures (*original scores): Working at a job or business (1); With a job or business but not at work (for example, on vacation or sick) (2); Not working but looking for work (3); Not working at a job or business & not looking for a job (4); Don't know (0).	
*Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community-Formal SC (1=4, 2=3, 3=2, 4=1, 0=missing)	
OCQ110 "What is the main reason you are not in the paid workforce?"	4
Nominal measures (*original scores): 1.) Taking care of house or family; 2.) Going to school; 3.) Retired; 4.) Unable to work due to health reasons; 5.) On layoff; 6.) Disabled.	
*Measures were transposed such that higher scores = higher Community- Formal SC (1=4, 2=3, 3=2, 4=2, 5=1, 6=2)	
OCQ127 "Do you usually work 35 hours or more per week in total at all jobs or businesses?"	2
Nominal response measures (*original score): 1.) Yes; 2.) No.	
*Measures were transposed such that higher scores = higher Community- Formal SC (1=2; 2=1)	
Community Structural Formal Subtotal:	58
Community Structural – Informal Social Capital: Various community- based organizations and informal entities, including the neighborhood, which may provide social support or connections to resources.	
Access to emergency food. Survey Question:	

FSQ151_R2 "In the last 12 months, did you ever get emergency food from a church, a food pantry, or a food bank, or eat in a soup kitchen?"

Nominal response measures (*original score): 1.) Yes; 2.) No.

*Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community-Informal SC (1=2, 2=1)

Farmer's markets/local farms. Survey Question: DIQ420 "How often do you shop at a farmer's market or local farms?" 4 Ordinal response measures (*original score): 1.) Regularly; 2.) Often; 3.) Seldom; 4.) Never. *Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community-Informal SC (1=4, 2=3, 3=2, 4=1) Community Supported Agriculture (CSA) Food Coops. Survey Question: DIQ430 "Over the past year have you been a member of a Community 2 Supported Agriculture or CSA group?" Nominal response measures (*original score): 1.) Yes; 2.) No. *Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community-Informal SC (1=2; 2=1) Grow or produce own food. Survey Question: DIQ440 "Over the past year have you grown or produced any of your own 2 food?" Nominal response measure (score): 1.) Yes; 2.) No. *Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community-Informal SC (1=2; 2=1) Eating at various food establishments. Survey questions: DIQ100 "During the last year, how frequently did you eat a meal at a fast-6 food restaurant? (For example: McDonalds, Pizza Hut, Burger King, KFC, Taco Bell, Subway, Culvers, and so on.) Would you say it was ...?" DIQ110 "During the last year, how frequently did you eat a meal at a fast-6

casual restaurant? For example: Noodles and Company, Panera Bread,

cafeterias, and so on; do not include all-you-can-eat meals.

146

	147
"DIQ115 "During the last year, how frequently did you have an "all-you- can-eat" meal? For example: Old Country Buffet, Ponderosa, all-you-can- eat Friday fish fries, and so on."	6
DIQ120 "During the last year, how frequently did you eat a meal at a sit- down restaurant? Family-style restaurants are included in this category."	6
Ordinal response measures (original score ok) for all: 1.) Never ; 2.) Rarely (less than once a month); 3.) Sometimes (between 1-3 times a month); 4.) 1-2 times per week; 5.) 3-4 times per week; 6.) 5 or more times per week.	
Sense of Community/Civic Engagement	
Community070 "It is important that I actively participate in my community"	5
Community090 "I can get what I need in this neighborhood"	5
Community 100 "This neighborhood helps me fulfill my needs"	5
Community110 "I feel I belong in this neighborhood"	5
Community 120 "I have a say about what goes on in this neighborhood"	5
Community130 "People in this neighborhood are good at influencing one another	5
Community140 "I feel connected to this neighborhood"	5
Ordinal response measure for all above (*original score): 1.) Strongly agree; 2.) Agree; 3.) Neutral; 4.) Disagree; 5.) Strongly disagree	
*Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community-Informal SC (1=5, 2=4, 3=3, 4=2, 5=1 for $070 - 140$)	
Community180 "Attended an event that provided information about community services"	5
Community200 "Attended a meeting to gather information about a neighborhood issue	5
Ordinal response measure (*original score): 1) Very Frequently, 2) Frequently, 3) Sometimes, 4.) Rarely, 5.) Never	
*Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Community-Informal SC (1=5, 2=4, 3=3, 4=2, 5=1 for 180 & 200)	

Community Structural Informal Subtotal:

79

Income was analyzed as a secondary independent variable to assess if there is a relationship between Federal Poverty level and social capital and risk of food insecurity for each county specified, with the confounding variables used as controls. It was

operationalized using the parameters in Table 12.

Table 12

SHOW Survey Questionnaire - Income

Income

Demographic characteristic data. The income for each county was calculated as part of the cohort description.

Personal and Household Income Levels. Survey questions:

INQ200 "Now, considering all the sources of income, can you tell me which letter on this card best represents the combined family income before taxes in the last 12 months or in the last month?"

Ratio response measures: Income listed in \$5,000 intervals starting at less than \$10,000, then 10,000-1499, continuing up to \$200,000 or above.

Household Members Support by Combined Family Income. Survey Question

INQ201 "How many people were supported by this combined family income in the last 12 months"?

Interval response measures: Range from 1 to 9 individuals.

Verification of Combined Family Income Above or Below Poverty Threshold (Autofill). SHOW Note: Federal poverty income ranges will be preprogrammed so that if a family income falls in a range containing the federal poverty level for that size family, the CAPI will generate an extra question to determine if household income is below the federal poverty level. Survey Question:

Poverty_100 "Is your income below or above \$(variable*) per {year/month}?"

Poverty_150 "Is your income below or above \$(variable*) per {year/month}?"

Poverty_200 "Is your income below or above \$(variable*) per {year/month}?"

Ordinal response measures for all above: 1.) Below; 2.) Above

In addition to the above computer-generated income calculation, using the mid-points of the combined family income, the families above or below 300%, and 400% of federal poverty level would be derived.

Confounding variables. In keeping with the IM which strives to gain a comprehensive, systematic gathering of facts surrounding an issue in order to inform which priority or targeted actions should be taken, three categories of potential confounding variables were also included in the measurement tool and scored based on the number of possible affirmative responses (Lundy, 2010). These confounding variables included several factors that may have an impact on the individual or household's neighborhood or home environments and potential risk of food insecurity. In addition, some Milwaukee specific issues were included based on past inquiries. Using the multiple regression analysis statistics, the composite scores for each of the confounding variables was used as controls in determining the extent of relationships between the independent variables (Federal Poverty Level and social capital) and the dependent variable (risk of food insecurity). Tables 13, 14, and 15 below outline the operational measures and scores related to three confounding categories: Neighborhood Characteristics, Adverse Life Events, and Milwaukee Supplemental Inquiry that was assessed in this research study.

Table 13

SHOW Survey Questionnaire – Neighborhood Characteristics

Neighborhood Characteristics: Provides insight into walking distances to specific destinations from home and perceptions about the neighborhood		
Walking distances to specific destinations from home. Survey questions:		
NBRHD001_E "About how many minutes would it take to walk from your home to the nearest of these facilities? Convenience or small grocery store?"	6	
NBRHD001_F "About how many minutes would it take to walk from your home to the nearest of these facilities? Supermarket?"	6	
NBRHD001_K "About how many minutes would it take to walk from your home to the nearest of these facilities? Fast food restaurant?"	6	
NBRHD001_L "About how many minutes would it take to walk from your home to the nearest of these facilities? Other restaurant?"	G	
NBRHD001_Q "About how many minutes would it take to walk from your home to the nearest of these facilities? Indoor fitness facility?"	0	
NBRHD001_S "About how many minutes would it take to walk from your home to the nearest of these facilities? Senior center?"	6	
The interval level response measures (*original scores) for all the questions include: 1.) 0-5 minutes; 2.) 6-10 minutes; 3.) 11-20 minutes; 4.) 21-30 minutes; 5.) More than 30 minutes; 6.) None within walking distance.	6	
*Measures were recoded and transposed such that higher scores = higher Neighborhood resources/access (1=6, 2=5, 3=4, 4=3, 5=2, 6=1)		
Rate your community asSurvey Questions:		
NRBHD003 "How safe from crime is your community for walking or riding a bike?"	4	
Ordinal measure (original score ok): 1.) Not at all safe; 2.) Not very safe; 3.) Somewhat safe; 4.) Very Safe.		

NRBHD005-D "I have easy access to fresh fruits and vegetables in my community."

Ordinal measure (original score ok): 1.) Strongly disagree; 2.); Disagree; 3.) Agree; 4.) Strongly agree (higher scores = higher neighborhood access/perceptions)

Neighborhood Characteristics Subtotal 44

Table 14

SHOW Survey Questionnaire - Adverse Life Events

Adverse Life Events: Stressful life events that can impact the individual and household functioning

Survey questions: "In the past 12 months, did you experience...

Life_1 "Death of spouse or partner"	2
Life_2 "Divorce"	2
Life_3 "Separation from spouse or partner"	2
Life_4 "Detention in jail or other institution"	2
Life_5 "Death of a close family member other than spouse or partner"	2
Life_6 "Major personal injury or illness"	2
Life_8 "Being fired at work"	2
Life_10 "Retirement from work"	2
Life_11 "Major change in the health or behavior of a family member"	2
Life_12 "Pregnancy"	2
Life_17 "Death of a close friend"	2
Life_21 "Foreclosure on a mortgage or loan"	2
Life_30 "Troubles with the boss"	2
Life_31 "Major changes in working hours or conditions"	2
Life_39 "Major change in number of family get-togethers"	2
Life_42 "Major holiday spent alone"	2
Life_44 "None of these events happened to me in the past 12 months"	2

A nominal response measure (*original score): 1.) Yes or 2.) No

*Measures recoded and transposed so that the highest score = an affirmative response for the Adverse Life Event (1=2, 2=1)

Adverse	Life	Events	Subtotal:	34
11u verbe	LIIU		Subtotun	· ·

Table 15

SHOW Survey Questionnaire - Milwaukee Supplemental

Milwaukee Supplemental Inquiry: Specific inquiry for the Milwaukee area that was added in 2016 by the Milwaukee Health Department	Score
Survey questions include:	
Milwaukee070 "Do you ever have trouble making ends meet?"	4
Ordinal measures (original scores ok): 1.) Never; 2.) Sometimes; 3.) Often; 4.) Always	
Milwaukee080 "Is housing ever a problem for you?"	2
Milwaukee090_A "Have you ever been threatened with foreclosure?"	2
Milwaukee090_B "Have you ever not had enough money to pay rent?"	2
Milwaukee090_C "Have you been evicted by your landlord?"	2
Nominal measures (*original scores): 1.) Yes; 2.) No.	
*Measure recoded so that the highest score is affirmative for Milwaukee Supplemental Inquire (housing adversity) (1=2, 2=1)	
Milwaukee Supplemental Inquiry Subtotal:	12
Confounding Variables - Highest Possible Combined Score	90

(Adverse Life Events+ Neighborhood Characteristics + Milwaukee Inquiry)

Demographic characteristic data. The demographic characteristics of the

research participants that were used in the analysis of this research study are

operationalized and outlined in Table 16.

Table 16

SHOW Survey Questionnaire - Demographics

Demographics

Age - Three ordinal categories of 18-44 years, 45-65 years, and 66-and above was formulated that assess the ages with the most influence on raising children (i.e., parents and grandparents)

Gender - A nominal value between 1.) male or 2.) female.

Marital Status - (will also be used as a bonding social capital component).

DMQ040 "What is your marital status?"

Nominal response (*original measures) include: 1.) Married; 2.) Widowed; 3.) Divorced; 4.)

Separated; 5.) Never Married; 6.) Living with a Partner

*Measures were recoded and rearranged such that higher scores = higher bonding SC (Married or Living with partner = highest bonding (1=6, 2=2, 3=2, 4=3, 5=1, 6=6)

Race/Ethnicity - For the overall demographic description of the cohorts, would use the *Race_Ethnicity_7CAT* variable which is a combination of race and ethnicity into four nominal categories that includes:1.) White (alone), 2.) Black (alone or in combination), 3.) Asian (alone), 3,) Native Hawaiian or Islander Pacific (alone), 5.) American Indian or Alaska Native, 6.) More than one race, 7.) Unknown or Unreported

For the purpose of looking at racial/ethnic disparities in social capital and income (given Wisconsin's historic racial equity/segregation issues), the variables (DMQ060_1) Non-Hispanic White (alone or in combination), (DMQ060_2) Non-Hispanic Black (alone or in combination), and (DMQ050) Hispanic or Latino would be used as confounding variables in statistical analysis.

Nominal measures for all: 1.) Yes; 2.) No.

Household Size - # of persons in the households as explained in determining the household income levels/percent poverty). NPERSONSHH

NKIDSHH - # of kids (children) in the household, 0-17 years.

Education Attained – Originally measured in 15 ordinal categories starting at 5th grade and continuing through to a doctorate. Survey question:

DMQ010 "What is the highest grade or level of school you completed or the highest degree you received?"

For this variable, I merged the data to make five ordinal categories of: 1) Less than high school; 2) High school; 3) Some college; 4.) Associate Degree/Technical Certificate; 5) College graduate and above.

Transportation - Nominal measure between two transportation choices. Survey Question:

DMQ100_rec "Do you currently own or lease a car or truck"?

Nominal response (original) *measures: 1.) Yes; 2.) No. (*recoded to 1=2, 2=1 for this study)

Geographic Location -

FMT_Urban_2CAT

Nominal response measures: 1) urban or 2) rural.

Residential Type - Nominal measure of housing type. Survey Question:

HOQ065_R2 "Is this (house, apartment, or mobile home) owned by you, owned by someone in this household, rented, or occupied without payment?

Nominal response measures: 1) Owned by you or someone in this household with a mortgage or loan?; 2) Owned by you or someone in this household free and clear without a mortgage or loan?; 3) Rented for cash rent; 4) Occupied without payment of cash rent.

Merging data sets, recoding and transposing variables, setting value levels,

revising the data table to match the selected variable categories of interest, conversion of string variables to numeric, and addressing missing data, all were conducted in getting the data ready for analysis (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Green & Salkind, 2014; Soriano, 2013; UCLA Institute for Digital Research and Education). In reviewing the missing data for this study, although questions presented with minimal missing values (10 or less), there was considerable variability by question and by cases answering the questions. Therefore, it was decided to include all questions with missing values of less than 25 to assure a missing value rate of no more than 3-5% for each question used. Those with higher missing response rates were excluded from the study.

Specifically, when I added up the total questions used in the study (Milwaukee + Dane County = 570 questions), then the 3-5% came out to be 17.1 - 28.5 missing response questions. If divided up per county cases, then the 3-5% for Milwaukee County would be 10-16.75 questions and for Dane County 7-11.75 questions with missing responses. Given the low levels of missing data found, and the remaining cases used for each question remained well over the critical sample size for statistical significance (n = 68-85 cases when using multiple linear regression analysis), no other corrections were deemed necessary (American Statistical Association, 2017; Kim, 2015; Rose & Bowen, 2009; Soriano, 2013; UCLA Institute for Digital Research and Education).

Although the original data set reported age in intervals of 10 starting at age 18, for this research study, ages were merged to create the new ordinal adult categories of 18-44 years, 45-65 years, and 66-years and above (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017; Soriano, 2013). The 18-44 age category was the group at the highest potential to influence the social environment of young children as it represents the largest reproduction period (Martinez et al., 2012).

Martinez et al. (2012) reported the mean age for having a first baby is 23 for women and 25 for men, with the majority (above 50%) of all births occurring to parents that are in their 20's. By 40 years of age, 85% of women and 76% of men are parents (Martinez et al., 2012). The 45-65 age category was highlighted given the role that grandparents and other family members (e.g., aunts) play in supporting parents in caring for children (Anderson Steeves et al., 2016).

Data Analysis Plan

The key purpose of this quantitative, retrospective, descriptive correlational research study is to obtain formative background information to assist in the development of targeted strategies to impact food insecurity in at risks populations in two counties in Wisconsin (Milwaukee and Dane County)(Curtis et al., 2014; Nguyen et al., 2015). The statistical analysis used in this study to address the research questions included descriptive statistics (e.g., frequency distribution) to describe the cohorts' demographic characteristics and used as control variables in the multiple regression analysis. Inferential statistical analysis (i.e., multiple linear regression analysis) was conducted to identify the extent of relationship between variables as shown in Table 17. The multiple linear regression model was used to assess if there's a relationship between variables given that there was one continuous level dependent variable, risk for food insecurity, and multiple continuous level independent variables, the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal). R^2 goodness-of-fit measures and residual scatter plots evaluations were conducted to test assumptions.

Table 17

Statistical Analysis Based on Research Questions

Research Questions	Statistical Analysis	Statistical Tool
Describing Cohorts Demographic Characteristics	Descriptive Statistics:	Frequency Distributions; Measures of Central Tendency (e.g., means, median, mode)
		Measures of Dispersion; (range)
RQ1 Is there a relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and the risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee County?	Inferential Statistics	For both questions, <i>Multiple Regression</i> <i>Analysis</i> with p<0.05 and 95% confidence; effect size .15 (medium for multiple linear regression)
RQ2. Is there a relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and the risk of food insecurity within Dane County?	1	Evaluations: R ² goodness-of-fit Residual scatter plots
RQ3. Is there a relationship between Federal Poverty Level and social capital and risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee County, controlling for neighborhood characteristics, adverse life events, and Milwaukee specific inquiry?	nInferential Statistics	For both questions, <i>Multiple Regression</i> <i>Analysis</i> with p<0.05 and 95% confidence; effect size .15 (medium for multiple linear regression)
RQ4. Is there a relationship between Federal Poverty Level and social capital and risk of food insecurity	1	Evaluations: R ² goodness-of-fit

The multiple regression analysis was also used to further assess if there is a relationship with the one continuous dependent variable, risk for food insecurity, and the continuous independent variables of social capital and Federal Poverty Level (ratio), while controlling for the confounding variables: neighborhood characteristics, adverse life events, and Milwaukee specific inquiry.

Covariations are considered nonspurious if the variations observed cannot be explained by another relationship (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Soriano, 2013; Creswell, 2009). Variables that are not considered which could be associated with both the independent variable and the dependent variable have the potential to bias the results. Therefore, in this study, other relevant variables such as age group, gender, household size, race/ethnicity, transportation, education attained, geographic location (rural or urban), and residential type were also included in the regression analysis as controls.

To assure that the multiple linear regression analysis will yield valid results, eight assumptions were evaluated and met (Laerd Statistics, 2018). The first two involved how the dependent and independent variables are measured. Assumption-one states that the dependent variable must be measured using a continuous scale; while assumption-two you must have two or more independent variables measured at either the continuous or categorical levels (Laerd Statistics, 2018). In examining the research, these first two assumptions have been met given that the dependent variable, risk of food insecurity, is measured on a continuous scale and the independent variables, four types of social capital and income level (e.g., Federal Poverty Level) is measured as a continuous scale and ratio level, respectively.

For assumptions 3-8, statistical analysis using SPSS was performed with corrections made, as needed. These tests of assumptions included: 3) Independence of observation using the Durbin-Watson statistics; 4) Testing for linear relationship between the dependent variable and the independent variables, singularly and combined, by creating scatterplots and partial regression plots to check for linearity using SPSS and visual observation; 5) Testing for homoscedasticity, wherein the variances along the line of best fit remain similar as you move along the line; 6) To rule out multicollinearity which can result from having two or more independent variables being significantly related to each other, data was evaluated using correlation coefficients and Tolerance/VIF values; 7) Using SPSS, test to assure that there are not any extreme outliers, high leverage points, or highly influential points through the use of "casewise diagnostics" and "studentized deleted residuals" as well as tests such as the Cook's Distance for influential points; and, 8) Check to confirm that the residuals (errors) are mostly normally distributed using histogram and a Normal P-P Plot or a Normal Q-Q plot of the studentized residuals (Laerd Statistics, 2018).

159

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: Is there a relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee County?

 H_01 : There is no significant relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee County.

 H_a1 : There is a significant relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity in Milwaukee County.

RQ2: Is there a relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity within Dane County?

 H_02 : There is no significant relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity within Dane County.

 H_a2 : There is a significant relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity in Dane County.

RQ1 and RQ2 were answered using multiple linear regression statistics to identify if a relationship exists between the one dependent variable (risk of food insecurity) and the four independent variables, social capital (SC) types (bonding SC, bridging SC, community structural-formal SC, community structural-informal SC), for each selected county (i.e., Milwaukee and Dane County). Descriptive statistics were used to describe the demographic characteristics of each cohort and the demographic variables were also used as controls in the multiple regression analysis. The level of significance to prevent a type 1 error was an alpha set at p \leq 0.05 or 5% and a 95% confidence interval. R² goodness-of-fit measures and residual scatter plot evaluations.

RQ3: Is there a relationship between federal poverty level ratio and social capital and risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee County, controlling for neighborhood characteristics, adverse life events, and Milwaukee specific inquiry?

 H_03 : There is no relationship between federal poverty level ratio and social capital and risk of food insecurity in Milwaukee County, controlling for neighborhood characteristics, adverse life events, and Milwaukee specific inquiry.

 H_a3 : There is a relationship between federal poverty level ratio and social capital and risk of food insecurity in Milwaukee County, controlling for neighborhood characteristics, adverse life events, and Milwaukee specific inquiry.

RQ4: Is there a relationship between federal poverty level ratio and social capital and risk of food insecurity within Dane County when controlling for neighborhood characteristics?

 H_0 4: There is no relationship between federal poverty level (ratio) and social capital and risk of food insecurity in Dane County when controlling for neighborhood characteristics.

 H_a 4: There is a relationship between federal poverty level ratio and social capital and risk of food insecurity in Dane County when controlling for neighborhood characteristics.

RQ3 and RQ4 was answered using multiple linear regression statistics to identify if a relationship exists between the one dependent variable (risk of food insecurity) and two independent variables (Federal Poverty Level (ratio) and social capital) for each selected county (i.e., Milwaukee and Dane County), controlling for neighborhood characteristics, adverse life events, and a Milwaukee specific inquiry. Demographic variables were used as controls in the regression analysis. The level of significance to prevent a type 1 error was an alpha set at p \leq 0.05 or 5% and a 95% confidence interval. R² goodness-of-fit measures and residual scatter plot evaluations (see Table 18).

Data Directory Table

The data tables from the SHOW data set contained numerous variables that were not needed for this social capital and food insecurity study (SCFIS). Therefore, a new data table was created by selecting the parameters needed first from the primary data set, the SHOW, and then merging the selected variables as needed to create the new SCFIS data set (Federal Register, 2018; School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). The SCFIS data table created displays the original variables, along with comments on the converted variables and other aspects needed to guide the computer analysis processing. Some data manipulation (recoding) was needed in order to address the research questions as well as to maintain the validity of the study given that the original data was not specifically collected for the new study's purpose (Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008; Soriano, 2013). Table B1, included in Appendix B., shows the new data dictionary table (SCFIS) that displays the data units and parameters for the research study. Findings were summarized and reported in a table that indicates the Integral Model Map categories with targeted recommendations listed for future consideration.

Reliability and Threats to Validity

Reliability

Given the SHOW guidelines for accessing the dataset that I had to abide by, specifically that I needed to do the analysis on a password secured network or personal computer where encrypted files could be uploaded from the University of Wisconsin in Madison, WI, and working under the direction of a SHOW mentor, I anticipated a high degree of reliability in the instrument used as well as in the consistency of data collection and analysis (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). Also, the data collection protocols used by the SHOW had both on-site interviews, concept cards (visuals) and computer-assisted questionnaires that served to assure reliable responses from study participants as well as consistency of the documentation of what makes up the data set (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017).

Validity

In looking at the content validity of the selected variables to examine if there's a relationship between social capital types and risk of food insecurity in two counties in Wisconsin (Milwaukee and Dane County), I concluded that the selected SHOW variables were well suited to answer the research questions that were examined. There is data for each of the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) as well as several other demographics and confounding variables (e.g., neighborhood characteristics) that provided a comprehensive picture of the social capital structures of interest and issues of connectedness (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017). The SHOW data set also has some information on the perceptions of individuals related to their overall health, mental health, and quality of healthcare; however, as mentioned earlier in this study, the quality of the social connections would need to be explored further in a future follow-up study.

A limitation of secondary data analysis is that the study is confined to the primary data that was previously obtained. Therefore, in considering external validity, interpretation of findings needed to consider that there were some unknowns still to be explored, such as, "who do you consider to be the most influential social connection that impacts your household food practices?" Nevertheless, the wealth of information on the types of social capital connections provided valuable insight on which to build targeted strategies and recommendations to promote positive social change to impact food insecurity risks (School of Medicine and Public Health, 2017).
Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I reviewed the plan for this quantitative retrospective descriptive correlational research study to address if there was a relationship between the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structuralinformal) and the risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee and Dane County, WI. Specific attention was also given to examining if there was a relationship between income level and social capital and risks of food insecurity in each specified county. The role of the researcher, research design, and methodology were outlined. Operationalization of dependent, independent, confounding, and descriptive variables and data analysis plan was also reviewed.

The SHOW dataset, housed at the University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health, was used with a discussion of data collection method and analysis plans. Reliability and threats to validity of the dataset to address research questions were described. Completion of this section led to the first oral defense and IRB approval prior to downloading research data.

In Section 3, I reported the findings. Tables, graphs, and figures were included to add clarity to the information presented.

Section 3: Presentation of Results and Findings

Wisconsin has been shown to have significant levels of food insecurity within all regions of the state (Guerrero et al., 2013; Gundersen et al., 2018). The highest rates are seen in Milwaukee County and Dane County (Curtis et al., 2014; Heckman, 2016; Greer et al., 2013; Gundersen et al., 2018). Although many issues have been shown to affect food insecurity rates (e.g., low income, single parenting, incarceration, drug use, being disabled, food access), there are still unknowns in terms of the interplay between social capital and risk of food insecurity that deserve further investigation).

Social capital refers to interconnections and bonding relationships that are created with people and networks both within and external to the familial or cohabitating group (Pellmar et al., 2002; Widmer et al., 2008). When residents of a neighborhood connect with each other, social capital is generated (Cattell, 2001; Pellmar et al., 2002; Widmer et al., 2008). Individuals with higher social capital have been shown to have better health outcomes (Hunter et al., 2011; Onyx & Leonard, 2010; Pellmar et al., 2002). Those who are socially isolated have higher health risks similar to those who smoke tobacco or are physically inactive (Cattell, 2001; Cruwys et al., 2013; Leung et al., 2015; Luke & Harris, 2007; Martino et al., 2017; Mertens et al., 201; Pantell et al., 2013, Pellmar et al., 2002). Interventions to enhance social connectedness are a cost-effective health promotion strategy for addressing health disparities (Givens et al., 2018; Hunter et al., 2011; Pinderhughes, 2017).

Overview of Study

In this study, I explored if there was a relationship between four specific social capital types (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal) and risk of food insecurity within Milwaukee and Dane County, WI. I also set out to determine if there was a relationship between social capital, income, and food insecurity risk while controlling for various confounding variables and demographics to aid in increasing understanding factors that influence food insecurity within specified locations. This study was designed as a quantitative retrospective descriptive and correlational study utilizing cross-sectional secondary data from the 2014-2016SHOW Phase II.

The SHOW is a databank of various surveys patterned after the NHANES to take a deeper look at the health and social environment of Wisconsin residents. Specific questions were selected from surveys based on their social capital potential to make up the new SCFIS dataset. Given that the survey in the SHOW was coded to look at food security and not food insecurity, this data needed to be recoded and transposed such that higher numbers were indicative of high food insecurity. The same was true for questions that involved types of social capital and confounding variables (neighborhood characteristics, adverse life events, Milwaukee specific inquiry) so that high values were indicative of high social capital or high affirmative for confounder.

Presentation of the Findings

I reported on results and findings from the descriptive analysis of demographic data along with results of correlational analysis using multiple linear regression statistics for each of the four research questions. . Interpretation of findings in narrative format is provided to add clarity to results.

Descriptive Analysis

There were 235 respondents in the Dane County sample and 335 respondents in the Milwaukee County sample collected as part II SHOW dataset between 2014 and2016. Among the Dane County sample, 48.5% were male and 51.5% were female, while 42.7% were male and 57.3% were female among Milwaukee County participants. 47.8% of respondents in Milwaukee and 48.9% in Dane County were between the ages of 18 and 44. Additionally, most respondents were White in both Dane (86.8%) and Milwaukee (54.9%) counties. 31.9% of Milwaukee County respondents were African American, as compared to only 1.7% of Dane County respondents.

About 55% of respondents in Dane County and 36.1% of Milwaukee respondents were college graduates. In addition, 5.1% of participants had less than a high school degree in Dane County, compared to 10.7% for Milwaukee County. In Milwaukee County, 39.1% of respondents were 200% below the federal poverty level, with 20.9% below 100%. For Dane, 14.9% of county respondents were below the 200% federal poverty level, with 3.8% below 100%. There were about three times as many individuals

in Milwaukee (29.3%) as compared to Dane County (13.6%) who did not own a car or truck.

There were also major differences in terms of distribution of residential types between Dane and Milwaukee County. There were higher numbers of respondents owning their home with a mortgage in Dane County (56.2%) compared to Milwaukee County (39.2%). 28.9% of residents in Dane County rented compared to 45% in Milwaukee County. The percentages among those owning their homes for free were the same for both counties (14.5%). 8.1% of respondents lived in rural communities in Dane County, with 91.9% living in urban settings. Rural information for Milwaukee County was not available. All 335 Milwaukee respondents resided in urban settings.

Finally, most respondents were married for both Dane (68.1%) and Milwaukee Counties (52.7%). 19.6% of participants in Dane County and 28.7% in Milwaukee County were never married. 11.5% of participants in Dane County and 17.1% in Milwaukee County were divorced or widowed. 0.9% of participants in Dane County and 1.5% of residents in Milwaukee County were separated (see Table 18).

Table 18

Demographics for Milwaukee and Dane Counties

	Dane	County	Milwaukee	e Country
	N	%	N	%
Gender				
Male	114	48.5%	143	42.7%
Female	121	51.5%	192	57.3%
Age Group				
18-44	115	48.9%	160	47.8%
45-65	82	34.9%	115	34.3%
66+	38	16.2%	60	17.9%
Race/Ethnicity				
White	204	86.8%	184	54.9%
African American	4	1.7%	107	31.9%
Asian	4	1.7%	7	2.1%
Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander	1	.4%	0	0.0%
Indigenous person	3	1.3%	1	0.3%
More than one race	14	6.0%	26	7.8%
Unknown	4	2.1%	10	3.0%
Education Attained				
Less than high school	12	5.1%	36	10.7%
High school	27	11.5%	65	19.4%
Some college	36	15.3%	70	20.9%
Associates degree	31	13.2%	42	12.5%
Bachelor's degree and higher	129	54.9%	121	36.1%

Federa	l Poverty	Level
--------	-----------	-------

Below 100% of federal poverty	9	3.8%	70	20.9%
Below 150% of federal poverty	24	10.2%	104	31.0%
Below 200% of federal poverty	35	14.9%	131	39.1%
Below 300% of federal poverty	35	14.9%	131	39.1%
Below 400% of federal poverty	72	30.6%	169	50.4%
Transportation (Own car or truck)				
Yes	203	86.4%	236	70.7%
No	32	13.6%	98	29.3%
Resident Type				
Owned with mortgage	132	56.2%	129	39.2%
Owned free and clear	34	14.5%	48	14.6%
Rented for cash rent	68	28.9%	148	45.0%
Occupied without rent payment	1	0.4%	4	1.2%
Geographic Location				
Urban	216	91.9%	335	100.0%
Rural	19	8.1%	0	0.0%
Marital Status				
Never married	46	19.6%	96	28.7%
Divorced or widowed	27	11.5%	57	17.1%
Separated	2	0.9%	5	1.5%
Married or Living with Partner	160	68.1%	176	52.7%

Table 19 revealed that there were few households in this dataset with children, (0-17 years). A mean of less than one percent of households reported children in both Dane

County and Milwaukee County (0.65, SD 1.14 and 0.84, SD 1.37, respectively). As for the number of persons in the household (household size), the average was 2.72 (SD 1.45) for Dane County and 3.0 (SD 1.93) for Milwaukee County, both showing similar levels in the study population.

Table 19

	Dane (County	Milwauk	ee County
	(<i>n</i> = 235)		(<i>n</i> =	335)
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Children in the household	.65	1.14	.84	1.37
Persons in the household	2.72	1.45	3.0	1.93

Mean Number of Children and Persons in Household

Report of Descriptive Statistics for the Key Variable

There were several variables used in this study. The main variables included social capital (bonding, bridging, community structural-formal, community structural-informal), and risk of food insecurity. There were several control variables associated with this study, also, including neighborhood characteristics, adverse life events, and Milwaukee supplemental inquire. The means and standard deviations for each of these scales were reported by Dane and Milwaukee counties (see Table 20).

Table 20

Key Variables for Milwaukee and Dane Counties

	Dane (Dane County (n = 235)		e County
	(n =			335)
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Risk of Food Insecurity	5.57	1.34	6.33	1.98
Bonding Social Capital	7.53	2.80	12.79	6.12
Bridging Social Capital	13.25	3.09	14.20	3.83
Community Structural-	23.31	14.55	31.38	14.52
Formal Social Capital				
Community Structural-	39.85	10.11	36.95	12.52
Informal Social Capital				
Neighborhood Characteristics	24.42	7.13	25.97	7.29
Adverse Life Events			18.57	1.55
Milwaukee Supplemental			6.01	1.36
Inquiry				

Correlational Analysis

For each research question listed, testing of assumptions were conducted prior to the multiple linear regression analysis. Results and findings are listed for each research question.

RQ1

There are several assumptions associated with multiple linear regression. First, the outcome variable must be continuous (Field, 2017, Pallant, 2020). This assumption was met as the dependent variable, risk of food insecurity, was measured on a continuous scale, where higher scores represented higher food insecurity risk.

Next, the predictor variables can either be categorical or continuous (Field, 2017, Pallant, 2020). There were four continuous predictor variables in this analysis. They were bonding social capital, defined as intimate connections within one's social environment; bridging social capital, defined as connections outside one's social environment that can be of influence of establishing aid or help to obtaining food resources; community structural-formal social capital, defined as formal governmental organizations that can assist in meeting needs; and finally, community structural-informal social capital, defined as and informal entities, that may provide social support in connection with resources. Increases in each of these variables' scores were associated with increases in the variables represented characteristic.

The third assumption of independence was evaluated using the Durbin-Watson test. Scores between 1.5 and 2.5 are considered acceptable, reflecting independence . The Durbin-Watson value was 1.85, so the assumption of independence was met.

The fourth assumption was linearity. A review of the plots of the standardized predicted values and the standardized residuals (see Figure 4) indicated that the plot pattern was not curvilinear. Therefore, there was no violation of linearity. The plot also revealed that there was no violation in the fifth assumption, which was homoscedasticity, as the plots were rectangular in shape.

The sixth assumption was normality. A review of the histogram of the residuals indicated that there was a slight positive skew (see Figure 5). However, the central limit theorem states that the distribution of sample means will be normally distributed, given large samples sizes (above 30) (Field 2017, Tabachnick & Fidell, 2018). Additionally, regression is robust against violations in normality, indicating that the p values are still reliably accurate, with \pm .02 of the true p value (Boneau, 1960; Field, 2017; Posten, 1984).

The seventh assumption of the multiple linear regression was no multicollinearity (Field, 2017, Pallant, 2020). Multicollinearity was measured using the variable inflation factor (VIF), where scores of 10 or above reflect high multicollinearity. The results of the VIF in table three indicated that there were no values above 2.6. So, there was no violation in multicollinearity.

The eighth and final assumption was no extreme outliers, measured by Cooks distance. Values of l or less are considered acceptable (Field, 2017; Tabachnick and Fidell, 2017). The highest value was .10, which was well below 1. So, there were no extreme outliers.

Figure 4

RQ1 Plots of Standardized Residuals and Standardized Predictive Values - Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Milwaukee County



Figure 5

RQ1 Histogram of Standardized Residuals - Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Milwaukee County



RQ1 Results and Findings

The results of the multiple linear regression indicated that the model was a significant predictor of food insecurity risk within Milwaukee county, F(4, 327) = 5.56, p < .001. The variability explained by the model was 6.4% ($R^2 = .064$), which was a small effect, based on Cohen's effect size standards (Cohen, 1988). A review of the coefficients table indicated that community structural-formal social capital made a significant contribution to the model ($\beta = .135$, p = .015), where increases in community structuralformal social capital scores were associated with increases in food insecurity risk. The size of community structural-formal social capital's effect on food insecurity risk was small, based on Cohen's (1988) standards of .1 (small), .3 (medium), and .5 (large). Community structural-informal social capital also made a significant contribution to the model ($\beta = -.190$, p = .028), where increases in community structural-informal social capital were associated with decrease food insecurity risk. The size of the effect on food insecurity risk was small. Bonding social capital ($\beta = -.042$, p = .624) and bridging social capital ($\beta = .002$, p = .978), did not make a significant contribution to the model. Based on the results of the regression analysis, the null hypothesis was rejected. See Tables 21, 22, and 23.

Table 21

RQ1 Model Summary Table - Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Milwaukee

County

R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	Durbin-Watson
.252	.064	.052	1.92456	1.849

Table 22

RQ1 Regression ANOVA Table – Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Milwaukee County

Model	Sum of Squares	def.	Mean Square	F	р
Regression	82.371	4	20.593	5.560	.000
Residual	1211.183	327	3.704		
Total	1293.554	331			

Table 23

RQ1 Regression Coefficients Table - Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Milwaukee County

	Unstanda Coeffic	rdized cients	Standardize d Coefficients			Collinearity Statistics	
Model	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	р	Tolerance VIF	

						T
(Constant)	7.037	.513		$\begin{array}{c}13.71\\2\end{array}.000$		
Bonding social capital	014	.028	042	491 .624	.386	2.594
Bridging social capital	.001	.026	.002	.028 .978	.949	1.054
Community Structural Formal SC	.019	.008	.135	2.448 .015	.944	1.059
Community Structural Informal SC	030	.014	190	.028 2.211	.387	2.582

First, the measurement assumption of the outcome variable was met, as the food insecurity was continuous. Second, the measurement assumption of the predictor variables was met as they were both continuous and categorical. The Durbin Watson value was 1.9, so there was no violation in the third assumption, as this was within the acceptable range of 1.5 and 2.5. There was also no violation in the fourth assumption, linearity, as the plot of the standardized residuals and the standardized predicted values (Figure 6) was not curvilinear. Additionally, the fifth assumption, homoscedasticity, was not violated as the scatter plots formed a relative rectangular structure. The histogram of the standardized residuals (Figure 7) had a slight positive skew, however, given the large sample size and the tenets of the central limit theorem, this slight violation will have no effect on the validity of the p values (Boneau, 1960; Field, 2017; Posten, 1984). No VIF values exceeded 2, so there was no violation in the sixth assumption of multicollinearity. Finally, the highest cook distance value among the cases was .21, which was below the 1.0 threshold. So, there was no violation in the seventh assumption of extreme outliers.

Figure 6

RQ2 Plots of Standardized Residuals and Standardized Predictive Values - Social

Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Dane County





RQ2 Histogram of Standardized Residuals - Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Dane County



RQ2 Results and Findings

The results of the multiple regression indicated that the model was significant, F(4, 226) = 5.58, p < .001, R² = .09. Based on the result, the null hypothesis was rejected, where the model accounted for 9% of the variability in food insecurity scores. The coefficients table indicated that bonding social capital was the only variable to make a significant contribution to the model (β = -.283, p <.001), where increases in bonding social capital were associated with decreases in food insecurity risk. Bridging (β = .094, p = .149), community structural-formal (β = .019, p = .769), and community structuralinformal social capital (β = -.047, p = .517) did not make significant contributions to the model.

Table 24

RQ2 Model Summary Table - Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Dane County

R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	Durbin-Watson
.300	.090	.074	1.28590	1.993

Table 25

County

RQ2 Regression ANOVA Table – Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Dane

Model	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	р
Regression	36.872	4	9.218	5.575	.000
Residual	373.699	226	1.654		
Total	410.571	230			

Table 26

RQ2 Regression Coefficients Table - Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Dane

County

	Uns Co	tandardized pefficients	Standar dized Coeffic ients			Collinea Statist	arity ics
Model	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	р	Toleranc e	VIF
(Constant)	6.26 4	.493		12.704	.000		
Bonding Social Capital	- .135	.035	283	-3.805	.000	.730	1.36 9
Bridging Social Capital	.040	.028	.094	1.448	.149	.958	1.04 4
Community Structural Formal SC	.002	.006	.019	.294	.769	.921	1.08 6
Community Structural Informal SC	- .006	.010	047	649	.517	.760	1.31 5

The assumptions of the multiple regression were met for this analysis. The predictor, control, and outcome variables were both measured appropriately to meet the assumptions. The Durbin-Watson value was 1.72, which is within the normal range of 1.5 to 2.5 (Field, 2017). There was no violation is linearity or homoscedasticity, as the shape of the plots of the standardized predicted values and the standardized residuals (Figure 8.) formed a rectangular shape. The histogram of the residuals (Figure 9.) was relatively normal in shape, so there was no violation in normality. All the VIF values were less than 2.5, which is below the threshold of 10. So, there was no violation in multicollinearity. The maximum Cook's distance value was .218, so there were no extreme outliers.

Figure 8

RQ3 Plots of the Standardized Residuals and Standardized Predictive Values - Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Milwaukee County



Figure 9

RQ3 Histogram of the Standardized Residuals - Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk

in Milwaukee County



RQ3 Results and Findings

After controlling for adverse life events, race/ethnicity, neighborhood characteristics, gender, federal income level, Milwaukee specific inquiry, and education attained, the model was a significant predictor of food insecurity risk, F(14, 153) = 11.00, p < .001. The model explained 50.2% ($R^2 = .502$) of the variability in food insecurity scores. The specific variables that made a significant contribution to the model were bonding social capital ($\beta = -.152$, p = .025), education attained ($\beta = -.187$, p = .013), and federal poverty level at the 200 percentile ($\beta = -.346$, p < .001). Increases in bonding social capital were associated with decreases in food insecurity risk. Those who were at or above the federal poverty 200% level had lower food insecurity than those who were below the federal poverty 200% level. Finally, those with higher education attained had lower food insecurity risk.

Table 27

RQ3 Model Summary Table - Social Capital, Income, and Food Insecurity Risk in Milwaukee County, Controlling for Neighborhood Characteristics, Adverse Life Events, and Milwaukee Specific Inquiry

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	Durbin-Watson
1	.628	.395	.360	1.49628	
2	.708	.502	.456	1.37955	1.716

Table 28

RQ3 Regression ANOVA Table – Social Capital, Income, and Food Insecurity Risk in Milwaukee County, Controlling for Neighborhood Characteristics, Adverse Life Events, and Milwaukee Specific Inquiry

Model	l	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	р
1	Regression	230.539	9	25.615	11.441	.000
	Residual	353.740	158	2.239		
	Total	584.280	167			
2	Regression	293.095	14	20.935	11.000	.000
	Residual	291.185	153	1.903		
	Total	584.280	167			

Table 29

RQ3 Regression Coefficients Table - Social Capital, Income, and Food Insecurity Risk in Milwaukee County, Controlling for Neighborhood Characteristics, Adverse Life Events, and Milwaukee Supplemental Inquiry

		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardize d Coefficients			Collinear Statistics	ity
	-		Std.		-		Toleranc	
Μ	lodel	В	Error	Beta	t	р	e	VIF
1	(Constant)	7.214	2.159		3.341	.001		
	Neighbor Characteristics	014	.017	055	802	.424	.814	
	Adverse Life Events	.015	.086	.012	.171	.865	.748	1.338
	Milwaukee Supplemental Inquiry	.306	.108	.215	2.831	.005	.663	1.509
	Age Group	209	.180	086	-1.161	.247	.700	
	Gender	.247	.247	.066	1.001	.318	.886	1.228
	White Alone or in Combination with Other Races	.814	.302	.201	2.695	.008	.691	1.447
	Hispanic or Latino	-1.258	.574	144	-2.191	.030	.892	1.122
	Number of People in the Household	050	.091	038	553	.581	.831	1.204
	Education Attained	365	.100	280	-3.643	.000	.650	1.538
2	(Constant)	10.585	2.202		4.808	.000		

					<u>. </u>		188
Neighbor Characteristics	010	.016	041	628	.531	.760	1.316
Adverse Life Events	001	.081	001	010	.992	.712	1.404
Milwaukee Supplemental Inquiry	.162	.106	.114	1.518	.131	.582	1.719
Age Group	.003	.174	.001	.020	.984	.639	1.565
Gender	.131	.240	.035	.546	.586	.800	1.250
White Alone or in Combination with Other Races	.395	.298	.097	1.325	.187	.604	1.654
Hispanic or Latino	724	.552	083	-1.312	.192	.820	1.219
Number of People in the Household	.041	.088	.031	.466	.642	.741	1.349
Education Attained	244	.097	187	-2.519	.013	.593	1.688
Below 200% of Federal Poverty Level	-1.642	.341	346	-4.816	.000	.632	1.581
Bonding Social Capital	082	.036	152	-2.269	.025	.725	1.380
Bridging Social Capital	.008	.034	.016	.249	.804	.742	1.347
Community Structural- Formal Social Capital	.001	.009	.007	.110	.913	.758	1.320

Community Structural-	- 028	018	- 103	-1 589 11/	772 1 204
Informal Social	020	.010	105	-1.567 .114	.772 1.27.
Capital					

RQ4

There were several assumptions of the multiple regression that were met for this analysis. First, the predictor, control, and outcome variables were all measured on a categorical or continuous scale. The Durbin-Watson value was .731, which is not within the normal range of 1.5 to 2.5 (Field, 2018). There was no violation is linearity or homoscedasticity, as the shape of the plots of the standardized predicted values and the standardized residuals (Figure 10.) formed a rectangular shape. The histogram of the residuals (Figure 11) was relatively normal, so there was no violation in normality. All the VIF values were less than 1.6, which is below the threshold of 10. So, there was no violation in multicollinearity. The maximum Cook's distance value was .440, so there were no extreme outliers.

Figure 10

RQ4 Plots of Standardized Residuals and Standardized Predictive Values - Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Dane County



Figure 11

RQ4 Histogram of Standardized Residuals - Social Capital and Food Insecurity Risk in Dane County



RQ4 Results and Finding

The results of the final multiple regression model indicated that the model was significant, after controlling for neighborhood characteristics and demographic variables, F(12, 175) = 7.21, p < .001, $R^2 = .331$, where the model accounted for 33.1% of the variability in food insecurity risk scores. A review of the coefficients table indicated that those who were below the 200% federal poverty level had higher food insecurity risk than those who were above the 200% federal poverty level ($\beta = -.418$, p < .001). The education attained also made a significant contribution to the model, where higher levels of education were associated with lower food insecurity risk ($\beta = -.157$, p = .021). Finally, bonding social capital had a negative relationship to food insecurity risk, where increases in bonding social capital were associated with decreases in food insecurity risk ($\beta = -.178$, p = .024). Based on these results, the null hypothesis was rejected.

Table 30

RQ4 Model Summary Table - Social Capital, Income, and Food Insecurity Risk in Dane County, Controlling for Neighborhood Characteristics and Demographic Variables

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	Durbin-Watson
1	.353	.125	.091	1.03739	
2	.575	.331	.285	.91986	.731

RQ4 Regression ANOVA Table – Social Capital, Income, and Food Insecurity Risk in Dane County, Controlling for Neighborhood Characteristics and Demographic Variables

Model		Sum of Squares	Df	Mean Square	F	р
1	Regression	27.564	7	3.938	3.659	.001
	Residual	193.712	180	1.076		
	Total	221.277	187			
2	Regression	73.202	12	6.100	7.209	.000 ^c
	Residual	148.074	175	.846		
	Total	221.277	187			

Table 32

RQ4 Regression Coefficients Table - Social Capital, Income, and Food Insecurity Risk in Dane County, Controlling for Neighborhood Characteristics and Demographic Variables

Model	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients			Colline: Statistic	arity cs
		Std.				Toleranc	
	В	Error	Beta	t	Р	e	VIF
(Constant)	8.795	1.150		7.649	.000		
Neighborhood Characteristics	010	.011	061	858	.392	.953	1.050
Adverse Life Events	312	.110	208	-2.824	.005	. 894	1.119

Milwaukee Supplemental Inquiry	.039	.153	.018	.254	.800	.983	1.018
Age Group	328	.307	082	-1.066	.288	.825	1.213
Gender	561	.448	098	-1.251	.213	.795	1.258
White alone or in combination with other Race	075	.057	097	-1.316	.190	.896	1.116
Hispanic or Latinx	250	.066	277	-3.790	.000	.911	1.098
(Constant)	10.895	1.104		9.871	.000		
Neighborhood Characteristics	005	.010	029	453	.651	.907	1.103
Age Group	194	.102	130	-1.899	.059	.822	1.217
Gender	029	.137	014	214	.831	.954	1.048
White alone or in combination with other Race	380	.274	095	-1.387	.167	.816	1.225
Hispanic or Latinx	262	.401	046	653	.515	.781	1.281
Number of People in the Household	.028	.057	.037	.493	.623	.694	1.440
Education Attained	142	.061	157	-2.321	.021	.831	1.203
Below 200% of Federal Poverty Level	-2.577	.404	418	-6.380	.000	.893	1.120

Bonding Social Capital	076	.034	178	-2.277	.024	.627	1.594
Bridging Social Capital	016	.023	045	692	.490	.907	1.103
Community Structural- Formal Social Capital	-4.486E- 5	.005	001	009	.992	.869	1.150
Community Structural- Informal Social Capital	006	.010	045	642	.522	.778	1.285

Transition and Summary

In Section 3, I conducted a descriptive correlational analysis of the modified SCFIS dataset which included testing of assumptions and multiple linear regression statistics to examine if there was a relationship between types of social capital and food insecurity in Milwaukee and Dane County, WI. Analysis was also conducted to examine if a relationship exists between social capital, income, and food insecurity risk while controlling for various confounding and demographic variables.

Findings revealed that in Milwaukee County, a significant positive relationship was found for community structural-formal social capital and risk of food insecurity, while a significant inverse relationship was seen for community structural-informal social capital and food insecurity risk. There was also a statistically significant inverse relationship between bonding social capital and food insecurity risk in both Dane and Milwaukee Counties. In addition, significant inverse relationships were found for education attained and food insecurity risk, as well as households below 200% of federal poverty level and food insecurity risk in both Milwaukee and Dane Counties.

Section 4 includes a discussion of applications to professional practice. Recommendations for action, social change, and future research were provided along with reflections and a final summary statement. Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

I examined if there was a relationship between social capital and food insecurity in Milwaukee and Dane County, WI and how this can be applied to professional practice. I looked at how nutrition and health practitioners can enhance their particular practice setting so it is more responsive to clients and patients who are experiencing food insecurity. I also addressed how the overall social support system may need to change to impact food insecurity in terms of healthcare, food safety net, and public policy systems. Advocacy through collective action to expand community capacity and interdisciplinary collaboration may be the best strategy to address those systemic issues to achieve positive social change.

It is important to point out that given demographic differences between the two counties, it would be prudent to use this research model to repeat the data analysis process in other counties as findings may not be representative of other counties in Wisconsin. Strategies to address social capital issues would need to be tailored based on factors such as having access to a full-service grocery store within walking distance versus living in a food desert, and adequate versus limited transportation. The Milwaukee metropolitan area has the highest D measurement of the 50 largest cities examined at 76.6, tied only with Detroit, with WI listed as one of the most racially segregated states in the nation (Logan & Stults, 2011). However, most WI regions have significant levels of food insecurity with varying degrees of food hardship (Guerrero et al., 2013; Gundersen et al., 2018; Tolzman et al., 2014).

Wisconsin has representative populations which include several Indigenous nations (Ho Chunk, Potawatomi, Menominee, Ojibwe), other racial/ethnic groups (e.g., African American, Latinx, Asian) and cultures with different spoken languages (e.g., Spanish, Croatian, Mandarin). Having a greater understanding of how social capital and income affects the risk of food insecurity within a particular county can help to promote targeted strategies that lead to a more responsive social support system and build community capacity. Findings showed that there was a significant inverse relationship between food insecurity risk and bonding social capital in both Milwaukee and Dane County.

In looking closer at the racial/ethnic diversity in WI, I reviewed the federal Diversity Index (DI) for the selected counties. The DI measure indicates the potential that two randomly selected individuals would come from a different race or ethnic population. The measure factors in seven racial/ethnic categories including Hispanic, White, Black or African American, American Indian or Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian and other Pacific Islander, some other race, and two or more races. According to the US Census Bureau (2021), the DI for WI was a low of 37%. While Milwaukee County had the highest DI in the state of 66.8%, which was higher than the US level of 61%. Although Dane County has the second largest population of African Americans residing in Madison, the WI state capital, it had a DI of just 40%. These wide disparities in racial and ethnic diversity in addition to geographical, educational, cultural, economic differences make it important to tailor any initiative to enhance social capital in WI to the specific county through further analysis. Using this model to assess cities or counties in the state may reveal valuable information to create specific and tailored strategies for other local WI communities to foster building social capital in this manner (Christens et al., 2016, Curtis et al., 2014; Jordan, 2013; Smith et al., 2013; UW Population Health Institute, 2022; WDHS, 2021).

Application to Professional Practice

Nutrition or Health Practitioner Enhancing Practice

Information on family history and the home environment is routinely gathered as part of the NCPM, a quality assurance care model used by all nutrition practitioners. However, to better understand and impact clients' social support and connectedness, specific assessment mechanisms and action initiatives may need to be put in place by nutrition and health practitioners. Building bonding social capital relationships and a sense of belonging have been shown through this study to impact food insecurity rates in both Milwaukee and Dane counties.

Healthy living programs targeting African Americans such as the healthy living program for breast cancer survivors who resided in Milwaukee which was based on group social support and integrative healthy skill-building and included relaxation and stress management, yoga endurance, and healthy food preparation education, were effective in developing a sense of belonging and sisterhood as well as achieving positive health improvements (Foley et al., 2012; Holder et al., 2018; Huntley et al., 2019). Bimonthly group meetings over a 6-month period motivated the healthy lifestyle program

participants to eat healthier, increased their physical activity, and led to losing weight (Holder et al., 2018; Huntley et al., 2019). Swierad et al. (2017) said enhancing social connectedness was a key factor identified by participants as promoting healthy behaviors. Individuals interviewed stated that they felt more motivated to eat healthy foods when they had a friend or family to support them. While Dunn et al. (2016) and Mckenna et al. (2020) said the emotional, motivational, and social environment of individuals living with diabetes and cardiovascular disease must be addressed before instructional learning about health management can be achieved whether looking at diabetes or cardiovascular disease. Emotional support was expanded to include levels of motivation, assessment of readiness for transformation, self-empowerment skill building, and willingness to participate. Examples of supportive environments included heart rehabilitation programs, diabetes workshops, and weight management group sessions, as well as online social connections such as being a member of a social media recipe sharing or exercise group. Providers and patients involved deemed these types of programs as essential to reducing stress, increasing self-confidence, and creating a support system to set the stage for learning about health (Dunn et al., 2016; Mckenna et al., 2020).

By adding ways to build social support through bonding relationships in their practice as well as promoting community connections to food resources, nutrition and health practitioners in Milwaukee and Dane counties may not only improve health outcomes due to improved nutritional intake, but patients' motivation for self-efficacy for managing their health may also be enhanced (Mettler et al., 2014). Trusting relationships would be developed as a result of respectful practitioner-client interactions (Bolin et al., 2003; Jordan, 2013; Leischik et al., 2016; Mettler et al., 2014). For communities experiencing heath disparities, implementing strategies to enhance social capital can function as a bridge to improving health outcomes (WDHS, 2018; Young et al., 2014). This can in turn be a positive factor to show cost-effective patient-centered care (Jordan, 2013; Mettler et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2013a; WDHS, 2018).

Support groups have been successful in faith-based and other community settings (e.g., neighborhood centers, community health clinics, online social media groups) and are recommended to provide the emotional support and motivation needed for positive health promotion outcomes, including in food security efforts (Pinderhughes, 2017; Pooler et al., 2017; Pronk, & Remington, 2015; Young et al., 2014). During COVID-19, new online nutritional support groups and programming that included food preparation skill building showed sustained popularity and community engagement (Greer et al., 2021; MCOPP, 2022). Through showcasing a healthy food demonstration out of the registered dietitian's kitchen with informal health and wellness conversations with local community health champions, this local social media program was recognized as a model program for presentation at the 2021 American Public Health Association Conference (Greer et al., 2021).

From the results of this study, specific types of social capital (bonding, community structural-formal, and community-structural informal) as well as level of education and wage earnings, above 200% of the federal poverty level, were shown to be significant issues for the practitioner to address in order to impact food insecurity as
identified in their practice and the broader community. Additionally, addressing these social factors to impact food insecurity would be in keeping with the Wisconsin State Health Plan priorities (Wisconsin Department of Health Services, 2021).

Collective Action for Systems Change

Being a part of a local coalition that is dedicated to promoting the health of communities through healthy eating and active living has led to success in changing policies and practices within the Milwaukee community through collective impact strategies (e.g., educational round robin afterschool staff trainings, collaboration on community-based participatory research grants, partnering on service provision, agency policy development for land use, staff education, healthy food access, and active living programming) (Adams et al., 2916; Amed et al., 2015; Behlmann, & Brennan, 2014; Chaskin, 2001; Christens et al., 2016; Greer, & Nelson, 2014; Harley, & Frazer, 2011; Hunter et al., 2014; Lifecourse Initiative for Healthy Families, MCOPP, 2022; Nelson et al., 2015; Pabalan et al., 2015; Young et al., 2014). MCOPP, through partnership with Tufts University Friedmans School of Nutrition and Policy, healthTIDE/University of Wisconsin, Y-EAT Right, and the Medical College of Wisconsin Cancer Center, have committed to working together to address cultural norms and public policy issues related to child health equity, which includes food insecurity and children eating healthy meals (Catalyzing Communities, 2021; MCOPP, 2022).

Using community-based systems dynamics tools and activities (e.g., hopes and fears assessment, future mental model. causal loop diagrams), a greater understanding of

enablers and inhibitors of the desired future system was gained (Catalyzing Communities, 2021; MCOPP, 2021; Mui et al., 2019; Nelson et al., 2015). Collective action recommendations were formulated for community engagement and health promotion skill-building. In addition, public policy reforms and advocacy initiatives to address the social determinants of health that impact food insecurity and achievement of healthy weights in children were proposed (Catalyzing Communities, 2021; MCOPP, 2021).

As a result of this work, MCOPP, in partnership with the WDHS CDPP, applied for and received funding from the CDC to develop a Closing the Gap, Social Determinant of Health (SDOH) Accelerator Plan for Milwaukee (CDC, 2021; MCOPP, 2022). This WI initiative adds to the body of health organizations (e.g., AMA, AAP, APA) that have committed to a focus on enhancing community-clinical linkages and social connectedness through a restorative justice (RJ) framework (American Medical Association, 2021; Foundation for Black Women's Wellness, 2019; MCOPP, 2022). The RJ framework centers on uplifting the voice of the community that has experienced historical and ongong harms, as the experts in uncovering root causes and development of solutions to be included in SDOH accelerator action plan which was presented to the CDC in September 2022 (CDC, 2021; Foundation for Black Women's Wellness, 2019).

As part of this community engagement process, practitioners and health systems acknowledged historic and systemic harms and have committed to working in collaboration with community member (experts) in creating an equitable, trusting, and inclusive health and wellness environment in which all can thrive (Best, & Holmes, 2010; Foundation for Black Women's Wellness, 2019; MCOPP, 2022). Several other initiatives have shown success in building social support, community capacity, and advocacy to create sustainable food security through enhancement of both formal and informal food systems (e.g., Milwaukee Market Match Programs), which supports the finding of this research (Ball et al., 2018; Christensen, & Phillips, 2016; Jose et al., 2020; King, 2017; McDaniel et al., 2021; UW Extension Milwaukee County, 2022).

Implications for Social Change

The implications for social change can be far reaching, not just for the clients and the public of today but also affecting generational health and well-being into the future (Burke et al., 2017; Chilton et al., 2017). As the quantity and quality of the food brought into the home improves, the motivation to cook healthier home cooked meals may in turn improve (Knoblock-Hahn et al., 2017; Kuxzmarski et al., 2017; Mill et al., 2020; Mills et al., 2017; O'Connor et al., 2009; Pooler et al., 2017). The impact may be seen through optimal health and growth patterns in at-risk childhood as well as enhanced academic achievement and school success (Benson et al., 2012; Gundersen & Ziliak, 2014; Hammami et al., 2020). This may exert a positive influence on their adult health and earning capacity throughout the life course as well as for the future children not yet born (Claridge, 2020; Martino et al., 2017; Whitmore Schanzenbach, 2016).

In nutrition and health settings low literacy and low health literacy has been shown to inhibit adherence to medication regiments, nutrition, and health outcomes (Dunn et al., 2016; McKenna et al., 2020). For example, reading the Nutrition Facts Food Label has been shown to require both a high literacy and health literacy level given the nutrition and health terms that are presented (Malloy-Weir et al., 2017; Rivera Rivero et al., 2021). It also requires a high numeracy level to understand the percentages and measurements that are listed as well as how the quantity in a serving matches up with the individual's actual amount consumed (Mulders et al., 2018). Nogueira et al. (2016) reported that in reading the Nutrition Facts Label, those with lower numeracy levels were correlated with the elderly, African American and Latinx cultures, those with limited education, the low wage earner and individuals residing in the southern US. Furthermore, both food facts numeracy and earning level were associated with about half of the disparities in fruit intake and degree of engagement, anxiety, worry, and anxiousness in obtaining medical guidance and literature.

Limited educational attainment coupled with lower household incomes was shown to have a significant effect on food insecurity in this capstone research study as well. Hunger and food insecurity effects a child's brain development and learning capacity (Halfon, 2009; Leischik et al., 2016; Lende, 2012). A lack of nutritional knowledge along with a limited food budget from living below poverty or not making a living wage, can affect the types of foods that are seen in the home due to attempting to stretch the food dollar (Burke et al., 2017; Coleman-Jensen, 2011). These foods then become a part of the individual's food culture regardless of their nutritional value (Anderson Steeves et al., 2016; Swierad et al., 2017).

As summarized in the County Health Rankings National Finding Report (2022), a living wage is essential to meeting the cost-of-living requirements for achieving a healthy lifestyle (County Health Rankings & Roadmaps, 2022). When considering the income variations throughout the nation, they found a mean of \$35.80 per hour for a family unit of three (one parent with two children) would be needed with a range of between \$29.81 and \$65.45 per hour depending on location. Given that the current federal minimum wage in the US is only \$7.25 an hour, most counties would need wage increases in the ranges of 73% to as much as 229% to achieve a living wage for all of their residence (County Health Rankings & Roadmaps, 2022; Federal Register, 2022). This research study has shown that household incomes below 200% of poverty carriers a higher risk for food insecurity.

As practitioners expand their practice to address issues of bonding social capital, education attainment, and adequate income to achieve a living wage, the potential to affect the quality of the food seen in the home as well as the motivation and skills to serve healthy and enjoyable home cooked meals may be enhanced (Hunter et al., 2014; Martino et al., 2017). In addition, increasing awareness of the opportunities to access healthier foods through formal and informal food ways such as community support agriculture (CSAs) and accessing food safety net resources such as the WIC Program, practitioners would expand the practitioner's bridging social capital abilities to better address the unmet needs of their clients (Chhabra et al., 2014; Ivens, & Edge, 2016; King, 2017; McDaniel et al., 2021; Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2011; Robin et al., 2017; Siegner et al., 2018).

Building trusting relationships with the individuals and parents in the practitioner's care will set the stage for greater self-efficacy and creating supportive

205

environments for children's optimal growth and development (Martin et al., 2016; Mettler et. al., 2014). Through supportive home and community environments, positive relational health and wellness will be fostered that can affect a child's entire life course (Chilton et al., 2017; Davies et al., 2006; Jose et al., 2020; The Nutrition-Cognition National Initiative, 1994; Walsh, & Theodorakakis, 2017). The positive social change strategies related to addressing social capital and food insecurity implemented today may also affect future generations through the healthy living practices that become incorporated into their client's family cultural and lifestyle traditions (Chilton et al., 2017; Christens et al., 2016; Salinas-Miranda et al., 2017).

Practitioners, through their bridging relationships, can be a catalyst for the creation of stronger bonding relationships and social connections which may also increase the individual's ability to cope with life's adversities (Cruwys et al., 2013; Mettler et. al., 2014; Williams, 2016). Enhancing their practice by assessing an individual's social connections and centering the individual in the creation of their own social connection action plan, will assist in developing a strong patient-healthcare provider relationship (Mettler et. al., 2014; Smith et al., 2013a). This may ultimately improve health and wellness outcomes.

To affect systemic changes such as increasing minimum wage or greater opportunities for higher education, the practitioner may have to partner or join in coalitions with others, such as MCOPP or local or State health departments, to foster a collective impact to create positive social change through advocacy and public policy reforms (Amed et al., 2015; Bateman et al., 2017; Behlmann, & Brennan, 2014; Givens et al., 2018). In the 2022 County Health Rankings National Finding Report, 41 strategies for impacting the racial wealth gap were offered that includes promoting a living wage, increasing job options, eliminating obstacles to educational attainment, and expanding home ownership (County Health Rankings & Roadmaps, 2022). Through collective engagement and advocacy efforts, society would benefit from well and economically sound individuals, less healthcare expenditures though reduced hospitalizations, and overall healthier and nutrition secure communities (Benson et al., 2012; Christens et al., 2016; County Health Rankings & Roadmaps, 2022; Givens et al., 2018).

Recommendations for Action

Table 33 provides a complete summary, using the IM map categories, of the findings and recommendations for action that have been formulated as a result of this research study. When speaking of practitioners, it is meant to include both nutrition and health practitioners that act as facilitators of bridging social capital and advocates for the health and well-being of their patients and society in general. Some efforts are directed at what the practitioner can individually do to enhance their own practice to empower the clients that they directly encounter. Whereas other recommendations are reflective of being part of a coalition working together with others to create positive social change in the health and public policy systems through collective actions.

Table 33

Food Insecurity: Integral Map Summary, Significant Findings, and Recommendations for Future Action

Food insecurity:	Significant findings	Recommendation for
Integral map summary		future action
Individual Inner:	Educational	 Practitioners should include level of educational attainment in their client risk profile with an understanding of the generational food insecurity implications that
Knowledge, Skills, & Abilities	Attainment was inversely correlated to food insecurity in Milwaukee and Dane County (RQ 3 & RQ4)	
Perceptions of Self &		
Quality of Life		 is at play which is shared with the client for holistic health coaching Practitioners to find ways to increase awareness of and/or partnerships with local community colleges and technical certificate programs that may assist the individual in enhancing educational attainment and earning a living wage as a long-term plan to combat food
		Need more qualitative research analysis on perceptions of self, social capital constructs (e.g., trust, motivation, and quality of life indicators) that affect food insecurity risk
Individual Outer:	200% of Federal	Practitioners and health systems
Food Hardship/ Hunger/Malnutrition	Poverty Level or below was inversely correlated to food	should establish a user-friendly on- site referral/application process to food safety net resources to assure
Medical Home/ Insurance	insecurity in both	the food insecure clients receives

		20
	Milwaukee and Dane Counties (RQ3 & RQ4)	the nutritious food needed. This process should have an option for either pick-up or delivery (e.g., healthy food box) given the transportation disparities
		Practitioners should join with others to advocate for public policy reforms to increase the minimum wage to meet the cost of living with particular attention to the cost of nutritious foods, nutrition security, and health equity
		Support efforts to conduct research to see how many employers in Wisconsin are not providing a living wage and how that is affecting the working poor and food hardship rates per WI Congressional Districts. This information could be shared with elected officials to advocate for a living wage and/or used to write grants to provide support for those experiencing food hardship who don't qualify for federal food safety net services
Community Inner:	Bonding Social Capital	Practitioners should assess client's
Social Connectedness	was inversely associated with food	social connectedness and social networks as a part of their routine

Social Co & Networks Group Membership/ Class

insecurity in both Milwaukee and Dane RQ4)

nutrition and health histories/assessments and include County (RQ2, RQ3, & actions developed with the client in care plans and counseling sessions

		210
		In addition to nutrition education counseling and classes, establish and offer monthly nutrition and health connections programming through social media groups or on-site nutritional support groups that promote the buddy system or team approach for sharing healthy recipes, healthy shopping tips or tours, stretching your food dollar, and eating together round robin outings to enhance bonding relationships and a sense of social connectedness and belonging Employ community health workers, nutrition outreach ambassadors, or navigators to provide follow-up calls, social media engagements, and/or visits on nutrition and health issues to enhance social connectedness, trust, and belonging
Community Outer:	Community Structural	Practitioners should form
Food Safety Net Participation Rates Access to Healthy Food Outlets	Formal SC had a positive correlation on food insecurity ^a ; while Community Structural Informal SC was inversely correlated to food insecurity, (RQ1 - Milwaukee County only)	relationships with local food safety net organizations to understand the process of applying for services so that you
		applying for services so that you can provide accurate guidance and support on accessing services Create user-friendly tools (Geo maps, links, handouts, posters) that highlights the informal resources where individual can get low-cost nutritious foods
		within the local community (e.g., CSA's, farmer's markets, mobile

fruit and vegetable trucks, affordable fresh food markets, pay what you can restaurants)

Establish or join a local Food Policy Council or Coalition to help advocate for community food needs and public policy reforms at the local, state, and national levels (e.g., Food Share Match Programs; Default Beverage Policies, Summer Meals Wavier Programs)

^a Note: Community structural formal SC represents the food safety net system (i.e., WIC, SNAP, Head Start) in which only income limited households at or below 200% of the Federal Poverty level could participate; therefore, as participation increases, so would individuals at risk for food insecure that now would be recognized as being connected to the food system.

Recommendations for Further Study

In the secondary dataset (i.e., SHOW) used in this study, the majority of households were married and had no children. Future research could focus on identifying the social capital constructs that are significant for single parents and food insecurity risks, whether headed by a female or male. Also looking at how the number of children in the household effect social capital and food insecurity risk. Female-headed single parenting households have been shown to have the lowest income levels with high rates of food insecurity (Broussard, 2010).

Examining the 2022 Wisconsin County Health Rankings and Roadmaps for Milwaukee County as compared to the State of Wisconsin and top United States performers, alarming disparities have been documented. Children living in single-parent householders were 41% for Milwaukee County compared to 23% for the State of Wisconsin and 14% for the top US performers. For Dane County, 21% of children live in single parent households, which is lower that the State average.

When looking at children living in poverty, Milwaukee County showed an average of 26% compared to 12% for the State of Wisconsin and 9% for the top US performers, while Dane County had 9% of children living in poverty. In breaking down the Milwaukee County childhood poverty level by racial/ethnic groups, the following was discovered: African American, 42%, Asian, 32%, Hispanic 28%, American Indian & Alaska Native, 26%, and White, 9% (UW Population Health Institute, 2022). Gaining a greater understanding of the social capital constructs that is most significant in lowincome households with children and single parenting segments may assist in providing equitable services to impact food insecurity in childhood (Anderson et al., 2016; Anderson Steeves et al., 2016; Burke et al., 2017; Curtis et al., 2014; Foundation for Black Women's Wellness, 2019; Kruger et al., 2015; Lifecourse Initiative for Healthy Families, Milwaukee, 2014; Walsh, & Theodorakakis, 2017).

A similar issue occurred when looking at racial and ethnic differences as there were not sufficient records from African Americans in the Dane County cohort to be able to assess if there were significant group differences in social capital constructs. With the exception of the city of Madison, WI, which resides in Dane County and boasts of having the 2nd largest population of African Americans in the State, there is a low density of racial/ethnic groups in the other municipalities of Dane county (Curtis et al., 2014; Heckman, 2016). For future studies, I would need to oversample in the African American as well as the Hispanic, Hmong/Asian, and Native Ingenuous groups to get a clearer picture of how social capital types and food insecurity risk manifest in each diverse population group (Foundation for Black Women's Wellness, 2019; Heckman, 2016).

Another limitation of the dataset that could be addressed in future research is the measurement of the respondents' perspectives related to the strengths or degree of influence of their bonding and bridging relationships, as well as the level of belonging they feel for their neighborhood (Baden et al., 2014). The constructs of trust, respect, and belonging have been shown to be related to a person's self-efficacy for managing their health condition, such as diabetes, which also has been shown to impact risk of food insecurity (Bandura, 1995; Farajzadegan et al., 2013; Mettler et al., 2014). A mixed

method study design using primary data analysis that would explore quantitatively the types of bonding and bridging relationships present, along with a qualitative assessment of the individual's perceptions related to which relationships were perceived as most positive or influential in promoting a sense of trust, respect, and belonging may provide valuable information to tailor programming.

Finally, although Milwaukee County is primarily an urban setting, the surrounding rural community was not represented in this dataset. Past studies of food insecurity have shown differences in characteristics between urban, rural, and suburban settings (Dean et al., 2011; Guerrero et al., 2013). This could be reexamined using a social capital focus to assess if targeted strategies are warranted.

Reflections

When I first embarked on this capstone research study, I envisioned a broad study that looked to examine not only the types of social capital and their impact of food insecurity risk, but also if low social capital could be viewed as a predictor of food insecurity in the African American population as well as how the cost of food impacts the nutritional quality of the low income, food insecure population, This would have been, in essence, three studies in one. I came to realize that focusing on just one priority, social capital and food insecurity using secondary data and the IM, was more than enough to focus my research on, with its large number of independent variables.

My overall knowledge as a researcher has grown as I now understand the benefits and shortcomings of using a secondary data source for conducting research. This includes the benefit of gaining a thorough understanding of the dataset in advance of selecting it for conducting your research so that you can anticipate the types of data cleaning and adjustments that would be required prior to conducting the statistical analysis. One thing that working with the SHOW dataset revealed that I had not anticipated, was that the dataset was originally analyzed using the SAS software which meant that the data would need to be adapted to the SPSS software that I was prepared to use. Although I did not think that this would be a problem, for some of the data, it did not easily transfer, which slowed down my data analysis until I realized what was the problem. In the future, if planning to utilize a secondary data source, I would take more time to thoroughly understand the dataset and how the surveys were configured, before starting the data analysis process. This would prevent having to rerun my statistical analysis due to needing to recode variables or for missing questions being identified late.

When thinking of the outcomes that were generated, I was not surprised that bonding social capital was shown to be significant given the large amount of research on this subject that I had uncovered (Baden et al., 2014; Dean et al., 2014; Givens et al., 2018; Olff, 2012; Pantell et al., 2013; Putnam, 2001; Tkatch et al., 2018). However, I did think that bridging social capital was going to be significant as well. But for both Milwaukee and Dane County it was not shown to be statistically significant. This might be because Milwaukee County has a high level of the population (overall, 89%), which includes individuals that are low income, which has some type of medical care coverage given the Affordable Care Act, Federally Qualified Health Centers, and the State's Badger Care Program (Milwaukee Health Care Partnership, 2021). Also, in Dane County, with the high educational achievement and higher incomes, there would also be more employer sponsored health insurance benefit packages (Givens et al., 2018).

And finally, the significance of the community structural social capital, both formal and informal, in Milwaukee County, was not a surprise. The outcomes were a validation as to what I was thinking prior to the study. Having access to nutrient dense and affordable fresh foods within one's own neighborhood has been shown to be a key factor in establishing healthy eating practices and achievement of optimal health and wellness (City of Milwaukee, 2019; Hunter et al., 2014; Johnson et al., 2010; Kaiser, 2013). Given the demographic disparities in income and transportation seen in Milwaukee County versus those seen in Dane County, coupled with the knowledge of lower access to full-service grocery stores in Milwaukee's inner-city neighborhoods, it was not surprising that community structural social capital would show up as significant for Milwaukee County (City of Milwaukee, 2019; Greer, et al., 2013).

In Dane County, distance to grocery stores would not be as much of a problem given that they were shown to have higher access to transportation. Moreover, with their higher incomes, they would be able to purchase the quality food needed regardless of cost or location. This research provided more evidence of the need for targeted initiatives and public policy advocacy to impact healthy food access and a living wage in Milwaukee County (City of Milwaukee, 2019; Furness, & Gallaher, 2018; Givens et al., 2018).

Summary and Study Conclusions

This study revealed a significant relationship between types of social capital and food insecurity risk in both Milwaukee and Dane County, WI. Specifically, key findings for Milwaukee County revealed a significant positive relationship for community structural-formal social capital and food insecurity risk which relates to at-risk individuals using the governmental food safety net system programs like WIC and SNAP. In addition, significant inverse relationships were also found in Milwaukee County related to bonding social capital and community structural-informal social capital and food insecurity risk, which correlates with strong ties to family, friends, and neighbors as well as access to informal community food resources (e.g., farmers markets and CSAs).

Dane County analysis also revealed a significant inverse relationship between bonding social capital and risk of food insecurity. For both Milwaukee and Dane County, significant inverse relationships were seen between incomes below 200% of the federal poverty level, level of education, and food insecurity risk, whereas incomes below 200% of the federal poverty level and low educational attainment were related to higher risk of food insecurity.

These findings informed new recommendations for future action by nutrition and health practitioners and public policy advocacy to impact social capital and food insecurity risk for achievement of optimal nutrition, health, and wellbeing. By incorporating targeted actions into nutrition and health practice that enhance the food

218

insecure's bonding relationships, sense of belonging, awareness of and access to community food resources, and self-efficacy, while promoting public policy reforms for greater education attained and a living wage, positive social change can be achieved for today's citizens as well as for the generations to come.

References

Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (2018). Evidence analysis library.

https://www.andeal.org/?auth=1

Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (2017). Position of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics: Food insecurity in the United States. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *117*(12), 1991-2002.

http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2017.09.027

- Adams, A. K., Christens, B. D., Meinen, A., Korth, A., Remington, P. L., Linberg, S., & Schoeller, D. (2016). The Obesity Prevention Initiative: A statewide effort to improve child health in Wisconsin. *Wisconsin Medical Journal*, *115*(5), 220-223.
 <u>https://www.wisconsinmedicalsociety.org/_WMS/publications/wmj/pdf/115/5/22</u>
 <u>0.pdf</u>
- Adams, S. R., Goler, N. C., Sanna, R. S., Boccio, M., Bellamy, D. J., Brown, S. D., Neugebauer, R. S., Ferrara, A., Wiley, D. M., & Schmittdiel, J. A. (2013).
 Perceived success with a telephone health coaching program: The natural experiments for translation in diabetes (NEXT-D) study, Northern California, 2011. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *10*, 1-12.

https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd10.130116

Agampodi, T. C., Agampodi, S. B., Glozier, N., & Siribaddana, S. (2015). Measurement of social capital in relation to health in low and middle-income countries (LMIC): A systematic review. *Social Science & Medicine, 128*(2015), 95-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socsimed.2015.011.05</u> Amed, S., Naylor, P. J., Pinkney, S., Shea, S., Mâsse, L. C., Berg, S., Collet, J. P., & Wharf Higgins, J. (2015). Creating a collective impact on childhood obesity:
Lessons from the SCOPE initiative. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 106(6), e426–e433. <u>https://doi.org/10.17269/cjph.106.5114</u>

American Academy of Pediatrics (2012). The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics*, 129(1), e232-246.

https://www.pediatrics.org/cgi/doi/10.1542/peds.2011-2663

- American Diabetes Association (2017). Promoting health and reducing disparities in populations. *Diabetes Care*, 40(Suppl. 1), S6-S10. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/dc17-</u> S004
- American Medical Association (2021). *Prioritizing equity spotlight series: Beyond an apology to restorative justice*. [Video]. <u>https://www.ama-assn.org/delivering-</u> <u>care/health-equity/prioritizing-equity-spotlight-series-beyond-apology-restorative</u>
- American Statistical Association (2017). G*Power 3.1 Manual. American Statistical Association, 76, 27-32.

https://www.academia.edu/40209362/G_Power_3_1_manual

Anderson, A. K., Damio, G., Chapman, D. J., & Perez-Escamilla, R. (2007). Differential response to an exclusive breastfeeding peer counseling intervention: The role of ethnicity. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 23(1), 16-23.

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/0890334406297182

Anderson, P. M., Butcher, K. F., Honeys, H. W., & Whitmore Schanzenbach, D. (2016). Beyond income: What else predicts very low food security among children? Southern Economic Journal, 82(4), 1078–1105.

https://doi.org/10.1002/soej.12079

- Anderson Steeves, E. T., Johnson, K. A., Pollard, S. L., Jones-Smith, J., Pollack, K.,
 Lindstrom Johnson, S., Hopkins, L., & Gittelsohn, J. (2016). Social influences on
 eating and physical activity behaviors of urban minority youths. *Public Health Nutrition*, 19(18), 3406-3416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980016001701</u>
- Aridi, Y. S., Walker, J. L., & Wright, O. R. L. (2017). The association between the Mediterranean dietary pattern and cognitive health: A systematic review. *Nutrients*, 9(7), 674. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9070674</u>
- Baden, P., den Dunning, W., Raku, G., & Mkandawire, P. (2014). The role of sense of community belonging on unmet health care needs in Ontario, Canada: Findings from the 2012 Canadian community health survey. *Journal of Public Health*, 22(5), 467-478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10389-014-0635-6</u>
- Ball, L., McCauley, A., Paul, T., Gruber, K., Haldeman, L., & Dharod, J. (2018).
 Evaluating the implementation of a farmers' market targeting WIC FMNP participants. *Health Promotion Practice*, *19*(6), 946–956.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839917743965
- Bandura, A. (Ed.). (1995). Self-efficacy in changing societies. New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511527692</u>
- Banks, A. R., Bell, B. A., Ngendahimana, D., Embaye, M., Freedman, D. A., & Chisolm,D. J. (2021). Identification of factors related to food insecurity and the

implications for social determinants of health screenings. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1), 1410. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11465-6</u>

 Banks, E., Paige, E., & Mather, T. (2013). *Developing a quantitative data analysis plan* for observational studies. Australian National University: Research School of Population Health.

https://nceph.anu.edu.au/files/Data_Analysis_Plan_Guide_20131125_0.pdf

- Baranowski, T., Cullen, K. W., Nicklas, T., Thompson, D., & Baranowski, J. (2003). Are Current Health Behavioral Change Models Helpful in Guiding Prevention of Weight Gain Efforts?**. *Obesity Research*, 11(Supplement 10), 23S–43S. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2003.222
- Bateman, L.B., O'Neal, L.J., Smith, T., Li, Y., Wynn, T.A., Dai, C., & Fouad, M.N.
 (2017). Policy, system and environmental correlates of fruit and vegetable consumption in a low-income African American population in the southeast. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 27(Suppl. 1):355-362; <u>https://doi.org/10.18865/ed.27.S1.355</u>
- Beck, M. (2015). Wisconsin Foodshare: Employment, training requirement shrinks rolls;
 15K dropped from food stamp program after not finding work. *Wisconsin State Journal*. <u>http://host.madison.com/wsj/news/local/govt-and-politics/k-dropped-</u> <u>from-food-stamp-program-after-not-finding-work/article_c43de9a2-a932-5b30-</u> 9df7-d5fd5d0fc7e3.html
- Behlmann T., & Brennan L.K., (2014). Milwaukee Childhood Obesity Prevention Project Case Report. St. Louis, MO: Transtria LLC. <u>http://www.transtria.com/hkhc</u>

- Benson, P. L., Leffert, N., Scales, P. C., & Blyth, D. A. (2012). Beyond the "village" rhetoric: Creating healthy communities for children and adolescents. *Applied Developmental Science*, *16*(1), <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2012.642771</u>
- Best, A., & Holmes, B. (2010). Systems thinking, knowledge and action: towards better models and methods. *Evidence & Policy: A Journal of Research, Debate & Practice, 6*(2), 145–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1332/174426410X502284</u>
- Bhushan, A., Fondell, E., Ascherio, A., Yuan, C., Grodstein, F., & Willett, W. (2018).
 Adherence to Mediterranean diet and subjective cognitive function in men. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 33, 223–234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-017-0330-3</u>
- Biswas, T., Garnett, S.P., Perving, S., & Rawal1, L.B. (2017). The prevalence of underweight, overweight and obesity in Bangladeshi adults: Data from a national survey. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(5): e0177395.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177395

- Blue, C. (2007). Does the theory of planned behavior identify diabetes-related cognition for intension to be physically active and eat a healthy diet? *Public Health Nursing*, 24(2): 141-150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1446.2007.00618.x</u>
- Bolin, K., Lindgren, B., Lindström, M., & Nystedt, P. (2003). Investments in social capital--implications of social interactions for the production of health. *Social Science & Medicine*, 56(12), 2379-2390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00242-3</u>

- Boneau, C. A. (1960). The effects of violations of assumptions underlying the t test. *Psychological Bulletin*, 57(1), 49-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0041412</u>
- Bourdieu, P. (1986). The forms of Capital. In J. Richardson (Ed.), *Handbook of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education* (pp. 241-258). Westport: Greenwood.
- Brennan Ramirez, L.K., Baker, E.A., & Metzler, M. (2008). Promoting health equity: A resource to help communities address social determinants of health. Atlanta: U.S.
 Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

https://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dch/programs/healthycommunitiesprogram/tools/p df/sdoh-workbook.pdf

- Briscoe, R.V., Mowery D., Berry, E., Berry, E.L., & Austin, D.A. (2014) Behavioral health outcomes: Strength-based strategies with Black Communities. In: Gullotta, T.P. & Bloom, M. (eds) *Encyclopedia of Primary Prevention and Health Promotion*. Springer, Boston, MA. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5999-</u>6 319
- Broussard, C. A., (2010). Research regarding low-income single mothers' mental and physical health: ,A decade in review. *Journal of Poverty*, 14(4): 443-451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10875549.2010.518003</u>
- Brown, M.E., Antle, J.M., Backlund, P., Carr, E.R., Easterling, W.E., Walsh, M.K., Ammann, C., Attavanich, W., Barrett, C.B., Bellemare, M.F., Dancheck, V., Funk, C., Grace, K., Ingram, J.S.I., Jiang, H., Maletta, H., Mata, T., Murray, A.,

Ngugi, M.,...Tebaldi, C. (2015). *Climate Change, Global Food Security, and the U.S. Food System*. [Report of the U.S. Department of Agriculture, the University Corporation for Atmospheric Research, and the National Center for Atmospheric Research]146 pages.

http://www.usda.gov/oce/climate_change/FoodSecurity2015Assessment/FullAsse ssment.pdf. doi. 10.7930/J0862DC7

- Bruening, M., Udarbe, A.Z., Jimenez, E.Y., Crowley, P.S., Fredricks, D.C., & Edwards Hall, L.A. (2015). Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics: Standards of practice and standards of professional performance for registered dietitian nutritionists (competent, proficient, and expert) in public health and community nutrition. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 115*(10):1699-1709. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2015.06.374
- Buchner, A., Erdfelder, E., Mayr, S., & Faul, F. (2007). A short tutorial of GPower. *Tutorials in Quantitative Methods for Psychology*, *3*(2), 51–59.

Burke, M.P., Martini, L.H., Blake, C.E., Bell, B.A., Liese, A.D., & Jones, S.J. (2017).
Stretching food and being creative: Caregiver responses to child food insecurity. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior, 49*(4): 296-303.
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2016.11.010

Buttriss, J. L., Briend, A., Darmon, N., Ferguson, E. L., Maillot, M., & Lluch, A. (2014).
Diet modeling: How it can inform the development of dietary recommendations and public health policy. *Nutrition Bulletin*, *39*(1), 115-125 11p.
https://doi.org/10.1111/nbu.12076

Byrd-Bredbenner, C., Maurer Abbot, J., & Cussler, E. (2011). Relationship of social cognitive theory concepts to mothers' dietary intake and BMI. *Maternal and Child Nutrition, 7*: pp. 241–252.

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/j.1740-8709.2009.00232.x

- Campinha-Bacote, J. (2009). A culturally competent model of care for African Americans. *Urologic Nursing*, 29 (1), 49-54.
- Catalyzing Communities (2021). *Communities: Milwaukee, WI*. [A ChildObesity180 Initiative at Tufts University] Milwaukee, WI | Catalyzing Communities
- Cattell, V. (2001). Poor people, poor places, and poor health: the mediating role of social networks and social capital. *Social Science & Medicine*, 52(10), 1501-1516. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(00)00259-8
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2013). Progress in increasing breastfeeding and reducing racial/ethnic differences— United States 2000-2008 births. *MMWR: Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 62*(5), 77-80.
- Chi, D. L., Masterson, E. E., Carle, A. C., Mancl, L. A., & Coldwell, S. E. (2014).
 Socioeconomic status, food security, and dental caries in US children: Mediation analyses of data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2007-2008. *American Journal of Public Health*, *104*(5), 860-864 5p.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301699
- Chilton, M., & Doar, R. (2015). *The National Commission on Hunger, hearing series: Past, present, and future of SNAP.* [Statement before the House Committee on Agriculture] Washington D.C.

https://agriculture.house.gov/uploadedfiles/11.18.15_chilton_and_doar_testimony .pdf

- Chilton, M., Knowles, M., & Bloom, S.L. (2017). The intergenerational circumstances of household food insecurity and adversity. *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition*, *12*(2): 269-297. doi:10.1080/19320248.2016.1146195 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19320248.2016.1146195
- Christens, B.D., Inzeo, P.T., Meinen, A., Hilgendrof, A.E., Berns, R., Korth, K., Pollard,

E., McCall, A., Adams, A., <u>& Stedman, J. (2016). Community-led collaborative</u> action to prevent obesity. *Wisconsin Medical Journal, Vol. 115*(5): 259-263.
https://wmjonline.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/115/5/259.pdf

Christensen, B., & Phillips. R. (2016). Local food systems and community economic development through the lens of theory. *Community Development*, 47:5, 638-651, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15575330.2016.1214609</u>

City of Milwaukee (2019). *Milwaukee Fresh Food Access Report*. Milwaukee, WI: Department of City Development.

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1VhWBF1wNX_F2Zl40oDbnbHeE69Y6EGBH/vi

ew?usp=sharing

<u>City of Milwaukee Health Department (2016). Community health assessment:</u> <u>Understanding the health needs of our community. Milwaukee, WI: Milwaukee</u> <u>Healthcare Partnership.</u> <u>https://city.milwaukee.gov/ImageLibrary/Groups/healthAuthors/ADMIN/PDFs/R</u> eports/MKEHealthDeptCommunityHealthAssessment2015-2016.pdf

- Claridge, T., 2004. Social capital and natural resource management: An important role for social capital? *Unpublished Thesis, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia*. https://www.socialcapitalresearch.com/literature/theory/types/
- Claridge. T. (2020). Social capital and poverty alleviation. Social Capital Research, 1-2. https://www.socialcapitalresearch.com/social-capital-and-poverty-alleviation/
- Cohen, J. (1988), *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, 2nd Edition.* Hillsdale, N.J.: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Coleman-Jensen, A. (2011). Working for peanuts: nonstandard work and food insecurity across household structure. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues, 32*:84–97. 7 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10834-010-9190-7
- Coleman-Jensen, A., Gregory, C., & Singh, A. (2014). *Household food security in the* United States in 2013. Washington, D.C.: US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. <u>www.ers.usda.gov/media/1565415/err173.pdf</u>.
- Coleman-Jensen, A., & Nord, M. (2013). *Food Insecurity Among Households with Working Age Adults with Disabilities*. [ERR-144] Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.

 $\underline{https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/45038/34589_err_144.pdf?v=0$

 Coleman-Jensen, A., Rabbitt, M.P., Gregory, C.A., & Singh., A. (2017). *Household food* security in the United States in 2016. [ERR-237] Washington, D.C.: U.S.
 Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.

https://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/pub-details/?pubid=84972

- Coleman, J. S. (1986). Social Theory, Social Research, and a Theory of Action. *American Journal of Sociology*, *91*(6), 1309–1335. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2779798
- Condon-Paoloni, D. (2011). Food costs, diet quality and risk of disease. *Nutrition* & *Dietetics*, 68(4), 244-245 2p. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-0080.2011.01563.x</u>
- Coohey, C. (2007). Social networks, informed childcare, and inadequate supervision by mothers. *Child Welfare*, *86*(6): 53-66. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18456982/</u>
- County Health Rankings & Roadmaps (2022). 2022 County Health Rankings National Findings Report: Strategies: Racial Wealth Building.

https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/take-action-to-improve-health/what-worksfor-health/strategies?f%5B0%5D=curated-

list%3ARacial%20Wealth%20Building&sort_by=search_api_relevance&preproc ess_id=2536

- Creswell, J. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. (Laureate Education, custom ed.).Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Cropley, L., & Herwehe, J.C. (2002). Evaluation of institutional support for breastfeeding among low-income women in the metropolitan New Orleans area. J Am Diet Assoc., 102(1): 94-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-8223(02)90028-3</u>

Cruwys, T., Dingle, G.A., Haslam, C., Haslam, S.A., Jetten, J., & Morton, T.A. (2013). Social group memberships protect against future depression, alleviate depression symptoms, and prevent depression relapse. *Soc Sci Med.*, *98*:179-186 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.09.013</u> Cunningham, T.J., Croft, J.B., Liu, Y., Lu, H., Eke, P.I., & Giles, W.H. (2017). Vital Signs: Racial disparities in age-specific mortality among Black people or African Americans -United States, 1999–2015. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6617e1

Curtis, K, Barfeld, J., & Lessem, S. (2014). Poverty and food insecurity in Milwaukee
 County. Wisconsin. Madison, WI: UW Extension.
 http://www.apl.wisc.edu/resource profiles/pfs profiles/milwaukee 2014.pdf

Darmon, N., & Drewnowski, A. (2015). Contribution of food prices and diet cost to socioeconomic disparities in diet quality and health: A systematic review and analysis. *Nutrition Reviews*, 73(10), 643–660.

https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuv027

Davies, W. H., Satter, E., Berlin, K. S., Sato, A. F., Silverman, A. H., Fischer, E. A.,
Arvedson, J. C., & Rudolph, C. D. (2006). Reconceptualizing feeding and feeding disorders in interpersonal context: the case for a relational disorder. *Journal of Family Psychology: JFP: Journal of The Division of Family Psychology of The American Psychological Association (Division 43)*, 20(3), 409-417.
https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.20.3.409

Dean, W.R., Sharkey, J.R., & Johnson, C.M. (2011). Food insecurity is associated with social capital, perceived personal disparity, and partnership status among older and senior adults in a largely rural area of central Texas. *Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 30(2):169–186.
https://doi.org/10.1080/21551197.2011.567955

Dean, W.R., Sharkey, J. R., Nalty, C. C., & Xu, J. (2014). Government capital, intimate and community social capital, and food security status in older adults with different income levels. *Rural Sociology*, *79*(4), 505-531.

https://doi.org/10.1111/ruso.12047

DeBiasse, M.A., Bowen, D.J., Pagoto, S.L., Massaro, J.M., Istfan, N., & Quintiliani,
L.M. (2017). The role of attitude, control, and intention to explain fruit and
vegetable intake among racial/ethnic minority women with low socioeconomic
status. *International Journal of Nutrition Science*, 2(1):1015.

https://austinpublishinggroup.com/nutritional-sciences/fulltext/ijns-v2-id1015.pdf

- Ding, M., Wilson, N. W., Garza, K. B., & Zizza, C. A. (2014). Undiagnosed prediabetes among food insecure adults. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 38(2), 225-233. https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.38.2.8
- Dube SR, Anda RF, Felitti VJ, Chapman DP, Williamson DF, Giles WH, Dube, S. R., Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Chapman, D. P., Williamson, D. F., & Giles, W. H. (2001). Childhood abuse, household dysfunction, and the risk of attempted suicide throughout the life span: findings from the Adverse Childhood Experiences Study. JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association, 286(24), 3089–3180. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.286.24.3089
- Dunn, P. L., Margaritis, V., & Anderson, C. L. (2017). Understanding health literacy skills in patients with cardiovascular disease and diabetes. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(1):33-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2017.2548</u>

Eggers, S., Remmington, P.L., Ryan, K., Nieto, F.J., Peppard, P., & Maleck, K. (2016).
Obesity prevalence and health consequences: Findings from the Survey of Health of Wisconsin, 2008-2013. *Wisconsin Medical Journal*, *115*(5): 238-243.
https://wmjonline.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/115/5/238.pdf

Elder, J. P., Ayala, G. X., Campbell, N. R., Arredondo, E. M., Slymen, D. J., Baquero,
B., Zive, M., Ganiats, T. G., & Engelberg, M. (2006). Long-Term effects of a communication intervention for Spanish-dominant Latinas. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *31*(2), 159–166.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2006.04.001

- Elmer, P. J., Obarzanek, E., Vollmer, W. M., Simons-Morton, D., Stevens, V. J., Young, D. R., Lin, P.-H., Champagne, C., Harsha, D. W., Svetkey, L. P., Ard, J., Brantley, P. J., Proschan, M. A., Erlinger, T. P., Appel, L. J., PREMIER Collaborative Research Group (2006). Effects of comprehensive lifestyle modification on diet, weight, physical fitness, and blood pressure control: 18-Month results of a randomized trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *144*(7), 485–495. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-144-7-200604040-00007</u>
- Ennis, G., & West, D. (2010). Exploring the potential of social network analysis in assetbased community development practice and research. *Australian Social Work* 63(4):404-417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0312407X.2010.508167</u>
- Estruch, R., Ros, E., Salas-Salvadó, J., Covas, M.-I., Corella, D., Arós, F., Gómez-Gracia, E., Ruiz-Gutiérrez, V., Fiol, M., Lapetra, J., Lamuela-Raventos, R. M., Serra-Majem, L., Pintó, X., Basora, J., Muñoz, M. A., Sorlí, J. V., Martínez, J. A.,

& Martínez-González, M. A. (2013). Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with a Mediterranean diet. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *368*(14), 1279–1290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/</u>

- FAO, IFAD, & WFP (2015). The state of food insecurity in the world 2015: Meeting the 2015 international hunger targets: taking stock of uneven progress. Rome, Italy:
 FAO. <u>http://www.fao.org/3/a-i4646e.pdf</u>
- FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP & WHO (2017). The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2017. Building resilience for peace and food security. Rome, Italy:
 FAO. http://www.fao.org/3/a-I7695e.pdf
- Farajzadegan, Z., Jafari, N., Nazer, S., Keyvanara, M., & Zamani, A. (2013). Social capital a neglected issue in diabetes control: a cross-sectional survey in Iran. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 21(1), 98-

103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2524.2012.01091.x</u>

- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4): 1149-1160. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149</u>
- Federal Register (2018). Annual update of HHS poverty guidelines. <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2018/01/18/2018-00814/annual-</u> update-of-the-hhs-poverty-guidelines
- Federal Register (2022). ``Low-income levels'' used for various health professions and nursing programs authorized in Titles III, VII, and VIII of the Public Health Service Act. <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2022/03/11/2022-</u>

05234/low-income-levels-used-for-various-health-professions-and-nursingprograms-authorized-in-titles-iii

Feeding America (2018). Map the meal gap. http://map.feedingamerica.org/

Feeding Wisconsin (2015). Food Insecurity Rates.

http://www.feedingwi.org/data research/food_insecurity_rates.php

Field, A. P. (2017). Discovering statistics using IBS SPSS Statistics, (5th ed.). Sage Publications.

Foley, P., Levine, E., Askew, S., Puleo, E., Whiteley, J., Batch. B., Heil, D., Dix, D., Lett, V., Lanpher, M., Miller, J., Emmons, K., & Bennett, G. (2012). Weight gain prevention among Black women in the rural community health center setting: The Shape Program. *BioMed Central Public Health*, 12(305):1-11.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-305

Foundation for Black Women's Wellness (2019). Saving our babies: Low birthweight engagement final report. Madison, WI: Dane County Health Council. https://uploads-

ssl.webflow.com/600213788dc79d719678000c/6009f1ad6f98f80f93e1fcf3_FFB WW-DCHC-Low-Birthweight-Report_April2019.pdf

Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2008). *Research methods in the social sciences* (7th ed.). New York: Worth.

Friedens Community Ministries (2017). About us. Milwaukee, WI.

http://friedenspantry.org/about-us/

Funk, K. L., Elmer, P. J., Stevens, V. J., Harsha, D. W., Craddick, S. R., Lin, P.-H.,

Young, D. R., Champagne, C. M., Brantley, P. J., McCarron, P. B., SimonsMorton, D. G., & Appel, L. J. (2008). PREMIER—A trial of lifestyle
interventions for blood pressure control: Intervention design and rationale. *Health Promotion Practice*, 9(3), 271–280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839906289035</u>

- Furness, W. W., & Gallaher, C. M. (2018). Food access, food security and community gardens in Rockford, IL. *Local Environment*, 23(4), 414–430. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/13549839.2018.1426561</u>
- Garcia, A., Pomykala, A., & Siegel, S. (2013). U.S. healthcare is moving upstream. *Health Progress: Journal of the Catholic Health Association of the United States*,
 7-13. <u>https://www.chausa.org/docs/default-source/health-</u>
 progress/94372d17b09f46278e47fb53e36bdcdf1-pdf.pdf?sfvrsn=0
- Garner, A., and Yogman, M. (2021). Preventing childhood toxic stress: Partnering with families and communities to promote relational health. [Policy

Statement] PEDIATRICS, 148 (2)

2021:e2021052582 https://publications.aap.org/pediatrics/article/148/2/e2021052 582/179805/Preventing-Childhood-Toxic-Stress-Partnering-With

- Garvin, C.C., Cheadle, A., Chrisman, N., Chen, R., & Brunson, E. (2004). A communitybased approach to diabetes control in multiple cultural groups. *Ethnicity & Disease*, 14(3 Suppl 1): S83-S92.
- Gilmer, T.P., Philis-Tsimikas, A., & Walker, C. (2005). Outcomes of Project Dulce: A culturally specific diabetes management program. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, 39(5): 817-822. <u>https://doi.org/10.1345/aph.1E583</u>
- Givens, M., Bergum, A., Tran Inzeo, P., & Johnson, S. (2018). What works for health in Wisconsin? Social and Economic Strategies to Improve Health and Equity.
 Madison, Wisconsin: University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute, School of Medicine, and Public Health. <u>http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/take-</u> action-to-improve-health/what-works-for-health
- Goldberg, J.P., Tansky, L.A., Sanders, E.A., & Edge, M.S. (2017). The IFIC Foundation food and health survey 2015: 10-year trends and emerging issues. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 117(3):355-360.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2016.05.012

- Gopinath, B., Rochtchina, E., Flood, V.M., & Mitchell, P. (2013). Diet quality is prospectively associated with incident impaired fasting glucose in older adults.
 Diabetic Medicine, 30(5); 557-562. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dme.12109</u>
- Green, S. B., & Sal kind, N. J. (2014). Using SPSS for Windows and Macintosh: Analyzing and understanding data (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Greer, D.M., Baumgardner, D.J., Bridgewater, F.D., Frazer, D.A., Kessler, C.L.,
 LeCounte, E.S., Swain, G.R., & Cisler, R.A. (2013). *Milwaukee Health Report*2013: Health disparities in Milwaukee by socioeconomic status. Milwaukee, WI:
 Center for Urban Population Health. <u>Milwaukee Health Report CUPH</u>
- Greer, Y. (2013). Diabetes and obesity: reducing your health risks. In: Real Life: The Hands-on, Pounds-off Guide, Milwaukee, WI: TOPS Club, Inc. https://www.amazon.com/Real-Life-Hands-Pounds-off-Guide/dp/1939560004
- Greer, Y. (2011) Evidence based nutrition recommendations for impacting health

disparities. [Presentation] American Public Health Association Conference, Washington D.C.

https://www.academia.edu/9580977/Impacting_Health_Disparities_Through_Evi dence_Based_Nutrition_Practice

- Greer, Y. & Longstreet, D. (2010). Impacting health disparities through evidenced based nutrition practice. [Presentation] *American Dietetic Association Food and Nutrition Conference and Expo*, Boston, MA.
- Greer, Y. & Nelson, D. (2014). Back to the Kitchen: Healthy cooking series builds capacity to impact childhood obesity. [Poster Presentation] *Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, Food and Nutrition Conference and Expo (FNCE)*, Atlanta, GA. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2014.06.295
 https://www.academia.edu/9580394/The Back to the Kitchen Healthy Cookin

g Series Builds Community Capacity to Impact Childhood Obesity

- Greer, Y., Nelson, D., Heindel, K., & Antczak, A. (2021). Days of learning: A podcast that bridges health, medicine, and community engagement to impact health disparities. *American Public Health Association National Conference*, Denver, CO, October 24th 28th. <u>https://www.facebook.com/milwcopp/videos/</u>
- Gregory, C.A., & Coleman-Jensen, A. (2013). "Do high food prices increase food insecurity in the United States?" *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy*, 35(4), 679–707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aepp/ppt024</u>

Gregory, C.A., & Coleman-Jensen, A. (2017). Food insecurity, chronic disease, and health among working-age adults. [ERR-235]

https://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/pub-details/?pubid=84466.

- Grimm, K. A., Moore, L. V., Scanlon, K. S., & Center for Control and Prevention (CDC) (2013). Access to healthier food retailers -- United States, 2011. MMWR.
 Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report supplements, 62(3), 20–26.
 https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/su6203a4.htm
- Grootaert, C., Narayan, D., Nyhan Jones, V., & Woolcock, M. (2004). Measuring social capital: An integrated questionnaire. [World Bank Working Paper No. 18]
 Washington, D.C: The World Bank. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/0-8213-5661-5</u>
- Guerrero, N., Walsh, M.C., Malecki, K.C., & Nieto, F.J., (2014). Urban-rural and regional variability in the prevalence of food insecurity: The Survey of the Health of Wisconsin. *Wisconsin Medical Journal*, *113*(4):133-138. https://wmjonline.org/113-4/
- Guidry, M. M. (2014). Food insecurity and supermarket service gaps in south and southwest Philadelphia. *International Journal for Human Caring*, 18(2), 47-60
 14p. DOI: 10.20467/1091-5710.18.2.47

 Gundersen, C., Dewey, A., Crumbaugh, A., Kato, M., & Engelhard, E. (2018). Map the Meal Gap 2018: A report on county and congressional district food insecurity and county food cost in the United States in 2016. Milwaukee, WI: Feeding America. https://www.feedingwi.org/data research/food insecurity rates.php Gundersen, C. G., & Garasky, S. B. (2012). Financial management skills are associated with food insecurity in a sample of households with children in the United States. *The Journal of nutrition*, *142*(10), 1865–1870.

https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.112.162214

- Gundersen, C., & Ziliak, J.P. (2014). Childhood food insecurity in the U.S.: Trends, causes, & policy options. *The Future of Children: Princeton-Brookings*, 1-19. <u>https://futureofchildren.princeton.edu/sites/futureofchildren/files/media/childhood</u> <u>food_insecurity_researchreport-fall2014.pdf</u>
- Halfon, N. (2009). Life course health development: A new approach for addressing upstream determinants of health and spending. *Expert Voices*. <u>http://www.nihcm.org/pdf/ExpertVoices_Halfon_FINAL.pdf</u>
- Hamm, M.W., & Bellows, A.C. (2003). Community food security and nutrition educators. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 35(1): 37-43.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S1499-4046(06)60325-4
- Hammami, N., Leatherdale, S. T., & Elgar, F. J. (2020). Does social support moderate the association between hunger and mental health in youth? A gender-specific investigation from the Canadian Health Behaviour in School-aged Children study. *Nutrition Journal*, *19*(1), 134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12937-020-00648-3</u>
- Harley, A., & Frazer, D. (2011). *No longer an island*. [Project Report] Milwaukee,Wisconsin: Center for Urban Population Health.

https://www.cuph.org/projects.html

Hasnain-Wynia, R., Baker, D. W., Nerenz, D., Feinglass, J., Beal, A. C., Landrum, M. B.,

Behal, R., & Weissman, J. S. (2007). Disparities in health care are driven by where minority patients seek care: examination of the hospital quality alliance measures. *Archives of internal medicine*, *167*(12), 1233–1239.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.167.12.1233

Healthy People (2018). *Social Determinants of Health*. Washington, D.C.: Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion.

https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/leading-health-indicators/2020-lhitopics/Social-Determinants

Heckman, N. (2016). *Hunger & food insecurity in Wisconsin and Dane County*. Madison,WI: Public Health Madison & Dane County, Division of Policy, Planning, andEvaluation.

https://www.publichealthmdc.com/documents/foodSecurityWhitePaper.pdf

Heimendinger, J., Uyeki, T., Andhara, A., Marshall, J.A., Scarbro, S., Belansky, E., & Crane, L. (2007). Coaching process outcomes of a family visit nutrition and physical activity intervention. *Health Education & Behavior*, *34*(1): 71-89.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198105285620

Herman, W. H., Edelstein, S. L., Ratner, R. E., Montez, M. G., Ackermann, R. T.,
Orchard, T. J., Foulkes, M. A., Zhang, P., Saudek, C. D., Brown, M. B., & The
Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group (2013). Effectiveness and costeffectiveness of diabetes prevention among adherent participants. *The American Journal of Managed Care*, *19*(3), 194–202.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3985133/pdf/nihms-565351.pdf

Hess, C., Ofei, A., & Mincher, A. (2015). Breastfeeding & childhood obesity among African Americans: A systematic review. *The American Journal of Maternal/Child Nursing*, 40(5): 313-319.
https://doi.org/10.1097/NMC.0000000000170

Hoefer, R., & Curry, C. (2012). Food security and social protection in the United States. Journal of Policy Practice, 11(1/2):59–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/15588742.2011.624062

Hoeft, T.J., Burke, W., Hopkins, S.E., Charles, W., Trinidad, S.B., James, R. D., & Boyer, B.B. (2014). Building partnerships in community-based participatory research: Budgetary and other cost considerations. *Health Promotion Practice*, *15*(2): 263–270. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839913485962

Holder, P., Huntley, J., & Greer, Y. (2018). Empowering African American families to achieve healthy lifestyles. [Poster Presentation] Sisters for Cure, Inc and Mount Mary University Live Well Program. *Wisconsin Public Health Association Conference*, Greer Bay, Wisconsin.

Horse, T. (2019). Statistics how to: Sample size in statistics (how to find it): excel, Cochran's formula, general tips.

https://www.statisticshowto.datasciencecentral.com/probability-andstatistics/find-sample-size/

Huang, J., Guo, B., & Kim, K. (2013). "Food Insecurity and Disability: Do Economic Resources Matter?" Social Science Research, 39(1): 111–124, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2009.07.002

- Hunter, B. D., Neiger, B., & West, J. (2011). The importance of addressing social determinants of health at the local level: the case for social capital. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, *19*(5), 522-530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2524.2011.00999.x</u>
- Hunter, P., Kessler, C., Frazer, D., Greer, Y. D., Nelson, D., Harley, A., Martinez, R., Thate, M., & Flynn, P. (2014). Nutrition education at mobile markets:
 Community-engaged, evidence-based interventions to address obesity in lowincome neighborhoods in Milwaukee. In Brennan, V. M., Kumanyika, S. K., & Zambrana, R. E. (Eds.), *Obesity interventions in underserved communities: Evidence and directions*. (pp. 325–336). Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Huntley, J., Holder, P., & Greer, Y. (2019). Changing health behaviors to manage chronic conditions in community-dwelling African American breast cancer survivors (AABCS). [Poster Presentation; 5-month, bi-weekly, Integrative Health Program of Mount Mary University, Sisters 4 Cure, Inc, and Y-EAT Right, Milwaukee, WI] AOTA Conference Abstract, *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, August 2019, Vol. 73/4_Supplement_1, 7311515339p,1.
 https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2019.73S1-PO4022
- Ivens, B.J., & Edge, M.S. (2016). Translating the dietary guidelines to promote behavioral change: Perspectives from the Food and Nutrition Science Solutions Joint Task Force. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *116*(10):1697-1702. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j/jand.2016.07.014</u>

- Israel, G.D. (2003). *Determining Sample Size*. [PEOD6] Gainsville, FL: Agriculture Education and Communication Department Florida Cooperative Extension Service, Institute of Food & Agriculture Sciences, University of Florida. <u>https://www.tarleton.edu/academicassessment/documents/Samplesize.pdf</u>
- Jackson, D. B., Johnson, K. R., Vaughn, M. G., & Hinton, M. E. (2019). The role of neighborhoods in household food insufficiency: Considering interactions between physical disorder, low social capital, violence, and perceptions of danger. *Social Science & Medicine*, 221, 58–67. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.12.013

- Jackson, D.B., & Vaughn, M.B. (2017). Parental history of disruptive life events and household food security. *Journal of Nutrition and Behavior*, 49(7): 554-560e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2017.04.010
- Jensen, G. L., Cederholm, T., Correia, M., Gonzalez, M. C., Fukushima, R.,
 Higashiguchi, T., de Baptista, G. A., Barazzoni, R., Blaauw, R., Coats, A.,
 Crivelli, A., Evans, D. C., Gramlich, L., Fuchs-Tarlovsky, V., Keller, H., Llido,
 L., Malone, A., Mogensen, K. M., Morley, J. E., Muscaritoli, M., ... Van
 Gossum, A. (2019). GLIM criteria for the diagnosis of malnutrition: A consensus
 report from the global clinical nutrition community. *JPEN. Journal of parenteral and enteral nutrition*, 43(1), 32–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jpen.1440</u>
- Jerry, M.M., Richmond, T.C., & Yohe, G.W., Eds. (2014). Climate change impacts in the United States: The third national climate assessment. Washington, DC: U.S.
 Global Change Research Program, 1-841 pp. doi:10.7930/J0Z31WJ2.

http://s3.amazonaws.com/nca2014/low/NCA3_Climate_Change_Impacts_in_the_ United%20States_LowRes.pdf?download=1

- Jilcott, S,B,, Keyserling, T., Crawford, T., McGuirt, J.T., & Ammerman A.S. (2011). Examining association among obesity and per capita farmer's markets, grocery stores, supermarkets, and supercenters in US counties. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 111(4):567-572. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2011.01.010</u>
- Johnson, C.M., Sharkey, J.R., & Dean, W.R. (2010). Eating behaviors and social capital are associated with fruit and vegetable intake among rural adults. *Journal of Hunger and Environmental Nutrition*, 5(3):302–15.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19320248.2010.504094

- Johnson, C.P., Williams, P.L., & Gills, D.E. (2015). The capacity building experience of women engaged in determining the cost and affordability of healthy food in Nova Scotia, Canada. *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition*, 10(3):356-378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19320248.2014.962769</u>
- Jones, J., & Mosher, W.D. (2013). Fathers' involvement with their children: United States, 2006–2010. *National Health Statistics Reports; No. 71*. Hyattsville, MD: CDC National Center for Health Statistics.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr071.pdf

- Jordan, M. (2013). Health coaching for the underserved. *Global Advances in Health & Medicine*, 2(3):75-82. https://doi.org/10.7453/gahmj.2013.025
- Jose, K., MacDonald, F., Vandenberg, M., Williams, J., Abbott-Chapman, J., Venn, A., & Smith, K. J. (2020). School breakfast club programs in Australian primary

schools, not just addressing food insecurity: A qualitative study. *Health Education* & *Behavior*, 47(4), 619–630. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198120920193</u>

- Kaiser, L., Chaidz, V., Algert, S., Horowitz, M., Martin, A., Mendoza, C., Neelon, M., & Ginsburg, D.C. (2015). Food resource management education with SNAP participants improves food security. *Journal of Nutrition Education & Behavior*, 47(4): 374-378.e1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2015.01.012</u>
- Kaiser, M. L. (2013). Prioritizing health and community food security through the farm bill. *Social Work in Public Health*, 28(5), 509-519.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2011.592088

Karhula, T., Vuorinen, A.-L., Rääpysjärvi, K., Pakanen, M., Itkonen, P., Tepponen, M., Junno, U.-M., Jokinen, T., van Gils, M., Lähteenmäki, J., Kohtamäki, K., & Saranummi, N. (2015). Telemonitoring and mobile phone-based health coaching among Finnish diabetic and heart disease patients: Randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *17*(6), e153.

https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.4059

- Kennedy, B.M., Champagne, C.M., Ryan, D.H., Newton, R. Jr., Conish, B.K., Harsha, D. W., Levy, E. J., Bogle, M.L., & Lower Mississippi Delta Nutrition Intervention (2009). The "Rolling Store:" An economical and environmental approach to the prevention of weight gain in African American women. *Ethnicity & Disease, 19*(1): 7-12. <u>https://www.ethndis.org/priorarchives/ethn-19-01-7.pdf</u>
- Khan Academy (2018). *Theories of Personality*. <u>https://www.khanacademy.org/test-</u> prep/mcat/behavior/theories-personality/v/humanistic-theory

Kim, K.H., Linnan, L., Campbell, M.K., Brooks, C., Koenig, H.G., & Wiesen, C. (2008) The WORD (wholeness, oneness, righteousness, deliverance): A faith-based weight-loss program utilizing a community-based participatory research approach. *Health Education & Behavior*, *35*(5): 634-650. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198106291985

King, C. (2017). Informal assistance to urban families and the risk of household food insecurity. Social Science & Medicine, 189, 105–113. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.07.030</u>

Knoblock-Hahn, A., Medrow, L., Hand, R. K., Murphy Gutuskey, L., & Brown, K. (2017). The RD Parent Empowerment and Supplemental Food Pilot Program for improved food security, nutrition, and family behaviors. *Journal of The Academy of Nutrition & Dietetics*, *117*(7), 1114-1119.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2016.09.020

Koltko-Rivera, M. E. (2006). Rediscovering the later version of Maslow's hierarchy of needs: Self-transcendence and opportunities for theory, research, and unification. *Review of General Psychology*, *10*(4), 302-317. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.10.4.302

Kruger, J. S., Kodjebacheva, G. D., Kunkel, L., Smith, K. D., & Kruger, D. J. (2015).
Caregiver financial distress, depressive symptoms, and limited social capital as barriers to children's dental care in a mid-western county in the United States. *Community Dental Health*, *32*(4), 252-256.
DOI: 10.1922/CDH 3532Kruger05

Kuxzmarski, M.F., Cotugna, N., Pohlig, R.T., Beydoun, M.A, Adams, E.L., Evans, M.K., & Zonderman, A.B. (2017). Snacking and diet quality are associated with the coping strategies used by a socioeconomically diverse urban cohort of African American and white adults. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *117*(9):1355-1374. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2017.02.010

Laerd Statistics (2018). Multiple regression analysis using SPSS Statistics. <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/multiple-regression-using-spss-</u> <u>statistics.php</u>

- Lee, C., & Kim, D. (2012). A comparative analysis of the validity of US State and county-level social capital measures and their associations with population health. *Social Indicators Research*, 111(1), 307–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-012-</u> 0007-y
- Leischik, R., Dworrak, B., Strauss, M., Przybylek, B., Dworrak, T., Schöne, D., Horlitz, M., & Mugge, A. (2016). Plasticity of health. *German Journal of Medicine*, 1:1-17. DOI: 10.19209/GJOM000001
- Lende, D.H. (2012). Poverty poisons the brain. *Annals of Anthropological Practice* 36(1), 183–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2153-9588.2012.01099.x</u>

Leroy, J. L., Ruel, M., Frongillo, E. A., Harris, J., & Ballard, T. J. (2015). Measuring the food access dimension of food security: A critical review and mapping of indicators. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, *36*(2), 167-195. https://doi.org/10.1177/0379572115587274

Lesley, M.L. (2007). Social problem-solving training for African Americans: Effects on

dietary problem-solving skills and DASH diet-related behavior change. *Patient Educ Couns*, 65(1):137-146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2006.07.001</u>

- Leung, C.W., Epel, E.S., Willett, W.C., Rimm, E.B., & Laraia, B.A. (2015). Household food insecurity is positively associated with depression among low-income Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program participants and income-eligible nonparticipants. *Journal of Nutrition, 145*:622–627.Liebman, J., Heffernan, D., & Sarvela, P. (2007). Establishing diabetes self-management in a community health center serving low-income Latinos. *The Diabetes educator, 33 Suppl 6*, 132S–138S. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721707304075
- Lifecourse Initiative for Healthy Families, Milwaukee (2014). No longer an island project. [Video] Madison, Wisconsin: University of Wisconsin, School of Medicine, and Public Health. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KkKCgwHHjlE</u>
- Lillioja, S., Neal, A. L., Tapsell, L., & Jacobs, D. J. (2013). Whole grains, type 2 diabetes, coronary heart disease, and hypertension: links to the aleurone preferred over indigestible fiber. *Biofactors (Oxford, England)*, *39*(3), 242-258.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/biof.1077
- Lino, M., Kuczynski, K., Rodriguez, N., & Schap, T. (2017). Expenditures on Children by Families, 2015. [Miscellaneous Publication No. 1528-2015] U.S. Department of Agriculture, Center for Nutrition Policy, and Promotion. <u>https://fns-</u> prod.azureedge.us/sites/default/files/resource-files/crc2015-march2017.pdf

- Liu, J., Leung, P., & Yang, A. (2014a). Breastfeeding and Active Bonding Protects against Children's Internalizing Behavior Problems. *Nutrients*, 6(1): 76-89; https://doi.org/10.3390/nu6010076
- Liu Y., Njai R. S., Greenlund K. J., Chapman D. P., & Croft J. B. (2014b). Relationships between housing and food insecurity, frequent mental distress, and insufficient sleep among adults in 12 US states, 2009. *Preventing Chronic Disease*. 11:130334. http://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2014/13_0334.htm
- Lo, Y., Chang, Y., Wahlqvist, M. L., Huang, H., & Lee, M. (2012). Spending on vegetable and fruit consumption could reduce all-cause mortality among older adults. *Nutrition Journal*, 11, 113-121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2891-11-113</u>
- Logan, J.R., & Stults, B. (2011). The persistence of segregation in the metropolis: New findings from the 2010 census. [Census Report for Project US2010] <u>https://s4.ad.brown.edu/Projects/Diversity/Data/Report/report2.pdf</u>
- Lohman, B.J., Stewart, S., Gundersen, C., Garasky S., & Eisenmann, J.C. (2009).
 Adolescent overweight and obesity: Links to food insecurity and individual, maternal, and family stressors. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 45(3): 230-237.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.01.003
- Lu, W., Lisako, E., McKyer, J., Dowdy, D., Evan, A., Ory, M., Hoelscher, D. M., Wang, S., & Miao, J. (2016). Evaluating the influence of the revised Special
 Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) food allocation package on healthy food availability, accessibility, and affordability in

Texas. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 116(2):292-301. http://dx.doi.org/10016/j.jand.2015.10.021

- Luke, D.A., & Harris, J.K., (2007). Network analysis in public health: History, methods, and applications. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 28:69-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.28.021406.144132</u>
- Lundy, T. (2010). A paradigm to guide health promotion into the 21st century: The integral idea whose time has come. *Global Health Promotion*, *17*(3), 44–53. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757975910375169
- Magson, N., Graven, R.G., & Bodkin-Andrews, G.H. (2014). Measuring social capital: The development of the social capital and cohesion scale and the associations between social capital and mental health. *Australian Journal of Educational & Developmental Psychology*, 14(2014):202-216.
 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1041672.pdf
- Malloy-Weir, L., & Cooper, M. (2017). Health literacy, literacy, numeracy, and nutrition label understanding and use: a scoping review of the literature. *Journal of human nutrition and dietetics : the official journal of the British Dietetic*Association, 30(3), 309–325. https://doi.org/10.1111/jhn.12428
- Martin, K.S., Colantonio, A.G., Picho, K., & Boyle, K.E. (2016). Self-efficacy is associated with increased food security in novel food pantry program. SSM *Population Health*, 2:62-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.01.005</u>
- Martin, K.S., Rogers, B.L., Cook, J.T., & Joseph, H.M. (2004). Social capital is associated with decreased risk of hunger. *Social Science & Medicine*, *58*(12):

2,645-2,654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2003.09.026

Martinez, G.M., Daniels, K., & Chandra, A. (2012). Fertility of men and women aged 15–44 years in the United States: National survey of family growth, 2006–2010.
National Health Statistics Reports, 51, 1-28.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr051.pdf

- Martinez-Donate, A.P., Espino, J.V., Meinen, A., Escaron, A.L., Roubal, A., Nieto, F. J., & Malecki, K., (2016). Neighborhood disparities in the restaurant food environment. *Wisconsin Medical Journal*, *115*(5): 251-258.
 <u>https://www.wisconsinmedicalsociety.org/_WMS/publications/wmj/pdf/115/5/25</u>
 <u>1.pdf</u>
- Martino, J., Pegg, J., & Frates, E.P. (2017). The Connection Prescription: Using the power of social interactions and the deep desire for connectedness to empower health and wellness. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 11(6), 466-475. https://doi.org/10.1177/1559827615608788
- Maruthur, N. M., Ma, Y., Delahanty, L. M., Nelson, J. A., Aroda, V., White, N. H., Marrero, D., Brancati, F. L., & Clark, J. M. (2013). Early response to preventive strategies in the Diabetes Prevention Program. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 28(12), 1629-1636. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-013-2548-4</u>
- Maslow, A. H. (1943). A theory of human motivation. *Psychological Review*, 50(4), 370-396. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0054346
- McCarthy, W.J., Yancey, A.K., Harrison, G.G., Leslie, J., & Siegel, J.M. (2007). Fighting Cancer with Fitness: Dietary outcomes of a randomized, controlled

lifestyle change intervention in healthy African American women. *Preventive Medicine.*, 44(3): 246-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2006.08.019</u>

- McDaniel, T., Mas, F.S., & Sussman, A.L. (2021) Growing connections: Local food systems and community resilience. *Society & Natural Resources*, 34:10, 1375-1393. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2021.1958965
- McKenna, V. B., Sixsmith, J., & Barry, M., (2020). Facilitators and barriers to the development of health literacy capacities over time for self-management. *HLRP: Health Literacy Research and Practice*, *4*(2):e104-e118.

https://doi.org/10.3928/24748307-20200221-01

- Mertens, F., Fillion, M., Saint-Charles, J., Mongeau, P., Távora, R., Passos, C. J. S., & Mergler, D. (2015). The role of strong-tie social networks in mediating food security of fish resources by a traditional riverine community in the Brazilian Amazon. *Ecology and Society 20*(3): 18. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5751/ES-07483-200318</u>
- Mettler, E.A., Preston, H.R., Jenkins, S.M., Lackore, K.A., Brooke L., Werneburg, B.L., Larson, B.G., Bradley, K.L., Warren, B.A., Olsen, K.D., Hagen, P.T., Vickers, K.S.[,] & Clark, M.M. (2014). Motivational improvements for health behavior change from wellness coaching. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 38(1):83-91 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.38.1.9</u>
- Mills, S.D.H., Wolfson, J.A., Wrieden, W.L., Brown, H., White, M., & Adams, J. (2020).
 Perceptions of 'home cooking': A qualitative analysis from the United Kingdom and United States. *Nutrients*, 12(1), 198. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12010198</u>

Mills, S., White, M., Wrieden, W., Brown, H, Stead, M., & Adams, J. (2017). Home food preparation practices, experiences, and perceptions: A qualitative interview study with photo-elicitation. *PLoS ONE 12*(8): e0182842.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0182842

Milwaukee County Organizations Promoting Prevention (2021). MCOPP healthy & fit

kids mini report. Milwaukee, WI.

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1zVNkwYZxLUgD-qIxpLkAW8Rg-

41MW_RJ/view?usp=sharing

- Milwaukee County Organizations Promoting Prevention (2022). *Healthy & fit MCOPP2: Sustaining work to promote child health equity in Milwaukee*. Milwaukee, WI. <u>https://drive.google.com/file/d/166HU5CQppjyG9SMbHoQkX965wVnMCzam/v</u> <u>iew?usp=sharing</u>
- Milwaukee Health Care Partnership (2021). *Milwaukee County community health needs assessment, 2021, Milwaukee, Wisconsin: Center for Urban Population Health* 2021_MHCP_Mke_Co_CHNA.pdf (healthcompassmilwaukee.org)
- Minkler, M., Glover Blackwell, A., Thompson, M., & Tamir, H. (2003). Communitybased participatory research: Implications for public health funding. *American Journal of Public Health* 93(8):1210-1213

http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/pdf/10.2105/AJPH.93.8.1210

Mui, Y., Ballard, E., Lopatin, E., Thornton, R.L.J, Pollack Porter, K.M., & Gittelsohn, J. (2019). A community-based system dynamics approach suggests solutions for

improving healthy food access in a low-income urban environment. PLoS ONE 14(5):e0216985. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0216985

Mulders, M.D., Corneille, O., Klein, O. (2018). Label reading, numeracy, and food & nutrition involvement. Appetite, 128: 214-222, ISSN 0195-6663 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2018.06.003

National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (n.d.). DASH eating plan.

https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/dash-eating-plan.

National Minority Consortium of Public Television & Joint Center Health Policy Institute (2008). Unnatural Causes: Is inequality making us sick? [Seven Part PBS Documentary Series] California Newsreel.

http://www.unnaturalcauses.org/about_the_series.php

National Prevention Council (2011). National Prevention Strategy. Washington, DC:

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Surgeon General. https://www.surgeongeneral.gov/priorities/prevention/strategy/report.pdf

National Research Council and Institute of Medicine (2013). *Research opportunities concerning the causes and consequences of child food insecurity and hunger: Workshop summary*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/18504</u>

Nelson, D.A., Simenz, C.J., O'Connor, S.P., Greer, Y.D., Bachrach, A.L., Shields, T.,Fuller, B.A., Horrigan, K., Pritchard, K., Springer, J. B., & Meurer, J.R. (2015).Using group model building to understand factors that influence childhood

obesity in an urban environment. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice, 21*, pS74-pS78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.00000000000219</u>

- Nguyen, B.T., Shuval, K., Bertmann, F., & Yaroch, A.L. (2015). The Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program, food insecurity, dietary quality, and obesity among US adults. *American Journal of Public Health*, *105*(7), 1453-1459 7p.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2015.302580
- Nieto, F.J., Peppard, P.E., Engelman, C.D., McElroy, J. A., Galvao, L. W., Friedman, E. M., Bersch, A. J., & Malecki, K. C. (2010). The Survey of the Health of Wisconsin (SHOW), a novel infrastructure for population health research: rationale and methods. *BMC Public Health*, *10*:785. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-</u>2458-10-785
- Nieuwenhuijsen, E.R., Zemper E., Miner, K.R., & Epstein, M. (2006). Health behavior change models and theories: Contributions to rehabilitation. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 28(5): 245–256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280500197743</u>
- Nogueira, L. M., Thai, C. L., Nelson, W., & Oh, A. (2016). Nutrition Label Numeracy: Disparities and Association with Health Behaviors. *American journal of health behavior*, 40(4), 427–436. <u>https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.40.4.4</u>
- Noland, A., and Richards, K. (2014). The relationship among transformational teaching and student motivation and learning. *The Journal of Effective Teaching*, 14(3), 5-20.
- Nord, M. (2013). *Effects of the decline in the real value of SNAP benefits from 2009 to 2011*. Economic Research Report No. 151. U.S. Department of Agriculture,

Economic Research Service. <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/pub-</u> details/?pubid=45102

Nord, M., Coleman-Jensen, A., & Gregory, C. (2014). Prevalence of U.S. Food Insecurity Is Related to Changes in Unemployment, Inflation, and the Price of Food. ERR-167, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/1489984/err167.pdf

O'Brien, D., Tornes Aldeen, H., Uchima, S., & Staley, E. (2004). *Hunger in America: The definitions, scope, causes, history, and status of the problem of hunger in the United States.* [2004 Hunger Forum Discussion Paper] Washington D.C.: The UPS Foundation and The Congressional Hunger Center, American Second Harvest. <u>https://www.hungercenter.org/publications/hunger-in-america-the-</u> <u>definitions-scope-causes-history-and-status-of-the-problem-of-hunger-in-the-</u> <u>united-states/</u>

O'Connor, T.M., Hughes, S.O., Watson, K.B., Baranowski, T., Nicklas, T.A., Fisher, J.
O., Beltran, A., Baranowski, J. C., Qu, H., & Shewchuk, R.M. (2009). Parenting practices are associated with fruit and vegetable consumption in pre-school children. *Public Health Nutrition*, *13*(1), 91–101.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980009005916

Odone, A., Houben, R. J., White, R. G., & Lönnroth, K. (2014). The effect of diabetes and undernutrition trends on reaching 2035 global tuberculosis targets. *The Lancet. Diabetes & Endocrinology*, 2(9), 754-764. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70164-0 Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (2021). *Dietary Guidelines for Americans*. <u>http://www.health.gov/dietaryguidelines/</u>

- Olff, M. (2012). Bonding after trauma: On the role of social support and oxytocin system in traumatic stress. *European Journal Psychotraumatology*, *3*:1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v3i0.18597</u>
- Onyx, J. & Leonard, R. (2010). The conversion of social capital into community development: An intervention in Australia's Outback. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, 34(2):381–97 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-</u> 2427.2009.00897.x
- Olsho, L. E., Klerman, J. A., Bartlett, S. H., & Logan, C. W. (2017). Rebates to Incentivize Healthy Nutrition Choices in the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, Volume 52, Issue 2, S161 -S170 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.08.023</u>
- Pabalan, L., Dunn, R., Gregori, K., Olson, E., Thomas, L., Willis, E., Simpson, P., & Broussseau, D. (2015). Assessment of food insecurity in Children's Hospital of Wisconsin's Emergency Department. *Wisconsin Medical Journal*, *114*(4):148-151. <u>https://wmjonline.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/114/4/148.pdf</u>
- Pallant, J. (2020). Factor Analysis. In SPSS survival manual (7th ed.). Two Penn Plaza, New York, NY: McGraw Hill. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003117452</u>
- Pan, S. & Jensen, H.H. (2008). Does the food stamp program affect food security status and the composition of food expenditures? *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics*, 40(1): 21-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1074070800027954</u>

Pantell, M., Rehkopf, D., Jutte, D., Syme, S.L., Balmes, J., & Adler, N. (2013). Social isolation: a predictor of mortality comparable to traditional clinical risk factors. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(11):2056-2062.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301261

Pascoe, J.M., Wood, D.L., Duffee, J.H., & Kuo, A. (2016). Mediators and Adverse
Effects of Child Poverty in the United States. Pediatrics. AAP Committee on
Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family Health, Council on Community
Pediatrics, 137(4):e20160340

http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/pediatrics/137/4/e20160340.full.pdf

Paynter, S.R., Jolley, G.J., & Nousaine, A.J. (2014). Policy implications of projecting the multiplier effects of social safety net programs using IMPLAN: Reevaluating the economic impact of the supplemental nutrition assistance program. *State and Local Government Review, Vol. 46*(1) 28-45.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0160323X14521430

Pellmar, T.C., Brandt, E.N., & Baird, M.A. (2002). Health and behavior: The interplay of biological, behavioral, and social influences: Summary of an Institute of Medicine report. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 16(4):206–219.

https://doi.org/10.4278/0890-1171-16.4.206

Pendley, S. C., Mock, N. B., & Theall, K. P. (2020). How you measure matters; defining social capital in drought-prone areas. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 50. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2020.101715</u>

- Pieterse, A.L., Todd, N.R., Neville, H.A., & Carter, R.T. (2011). Perceived racism and mental health among Black American adults: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 59(1):1-9. doi: 10.1037/a0026208 http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0026208
- Pinderhughes, H. (2017). The interplay of community trauma, diet, and physical activity: Solutions for public health. [Discussion Paper] *NAM Perspectives*. Washington, DC.: National Academy of Medicine. doi:10.31478/201708a <u>https://nam.edu/the-interplay-of-community-trauma-diet-and-physical-activity-solutions-for-public-health</u>.
- Pooler, J.A., Morgan, R.E., Wong, K., Wilkin, M. & Blitstein, J.L. (2017). Cooking Matters for Adults improves food resource management skills and self-confidence among low-income participants. *Journal of Nutrition Education & Behavior*, 49(7): 545-553. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2017.04.008</u>
- Posten, H.O. (1984). Robustness of the two-sample t-test. In D. Rasch and M. L. Tiku (Eds.), Robustness of statistical methods and nonparametric statistics (pp. 92-99).
 Dordrecht, Germany, Reidel. <u>https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-94-009-6528-7</u>
- Prakash Upadhyay, R. & Palanivel, C. (2011). Challenges in achieving food security in India. *Iranian Journal of Public Health*, 40(4):31-36. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3481742/pdf/ijph-40-31.pdf
- Pronk, N.P., & Remington, P.L. (2015). Combined diet and physical activity promotion programs for prevention of diabetes: Community Preventive Services Task Force

recommendation statement. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. doi:10.7326/M15-1029 http://annals.org/article.aspx?articleid=2395731

- Psaki, S., Bhutta, Z.A., Ahmed, T., Ahmed, S., Bessong, P., Islam, M., John, S., Kosek, M., Lima, A., Nesamvuni, C., Shrestha, P., Svensen, E., McGrath, M., Richard, S., Seidman, J., Caulfield, L., Miller, M., Checkley, W., & MALED Network Investigators (2012). Household food access and childhood malnutrition: Results from eight country Mal-ED Survey. *Population Metrics*, 2012; 20:24. https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-7954-10-24
- Putnam, R. (2001). Better Together: The report of the Saguaro seminar: Civic engagement in America. [Reprinted with new introduction post 9/11] <u>http://robertdputnam.com/better-together/</u>
- Putnam, R. D. (2000). Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American community. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Rivera Rivero, B., Makarova, A., Sidig, D., Niazi, S., Abddelgader, R., Mirza, S., Joud, H., Urfi, M., Ahmed, A., Jureyda, O., Khan, F., Swanson, J., Siddique, M., Weare-Regales, N., & Mirza, A. S. (2021). Nutritional Literacy Among Uninsured Patients With Diabetes Mellitus: A Free Clinic Study. *Cureus*, *13*(7), e16355. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.16355</u>

Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (2011). *Health care's blinds side: Unmet social needs leading to worse health.* <u>https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/articles-and-</u> <u>news/2011/12/health-cares-blind-side-unmet-social-needs-leading-to-worse-</u> <u>heal.html?cid=xsh_rwjf_em</u>

- Robin, S., Ettinger, A.K., Keefe, C., Riley, A., & Surkan, P.J. (2017). Low-income urban mothers' experiences with the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *117* (10):1538-1553. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2017.01.008
- Rose, D. (2007). Food stamps, the Thrifty Food Plan, and meal preparation: The importance of the time dimension for US nutrition policy. *J Nutr Educ Behav.*, 39(4): 226-232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2007.04.180</u>
- Rose, R., & Bowen, G.L. (2009). Power analysis in social work intervention research: Designing cluster-randomized trials. *Social Work Research*, 33(1): 44-52. https://doi.org/10.1093/swr/33.1.43
- Rummo, P. E., Meyer, K. A., Boone-Heinonen, J., Jacobs, D. R., Kiefe, C. I., Lewis, C.
 E., Steffen, L. M., & Gordon-Larsen, P. (2015). Research and Practice:
 Neighborhood availability of convenience stores and diet quality: Findings from
 20 years of follow-up in the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults
 Study. *American Journal of Public Health*, *105*(5), e65-e73.
 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302435
- Salinas-Miranda, A.A., King, L.M., Salihu, H M., Berry, E., Austin, D., Nash, S.,
 Scarborough, K., Best, E., Cox, L., King, G., Hepburn, C., Burpee, C.,
 Richardson, E., Ducket, M., Briscoe, R., & Baldwin, J. (2017). Exploring the life course perspective in maternal and child health through community-based participatory focus groups: Social risks assessment. *Journal of Health Disparities*

Research and Practice, 10 (1):143-165.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5959055/

- Salvador Castell, G., Pérez Rodrigo, C., Ngo de la Cruz, J., & Aranceta Bartrina, J.
 (2015). Household food insecurity access scale (HFIAS). *Nutricion Hospitalaria*, 31, Suppl 3, 272-278. <u>https://doi.org/10.3305/nh.2015.31.sup3.8775</u>
- Satter E.M. (1986-a). The feeding relationship. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* [serial online]. 86(3), 352-356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-8223(21)03940-7</u>
- Satter, E.M. (1986-b). Childhood eating disorders. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 86(3), 357-361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-8223(21)03941-9</u>

Satter, E.M. (2004). Children, the feeding relationship, and weight. *Maryland Medicine: MM: A Publication Of MEDCHI, The Maryland State Medical Society*, 5(3), 26-28. <u>https://www.ellynsatterinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Journal-</u> <u>Satter-MD-Med-2004-ChildWeight.pdf</u>

- Satter, E.M. (2014). Testing Satter's Division of Responsibility in Feeding in the context of restrictive snack-management practices. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 100(3), 986-987. <u>https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.114.091512</u>
- School of Medicine and Public Health (2017). Survey of the Health of Wisconsin. Madison, Wisconsin: University of Wisconsin-Madison.

http://www.med.wisc.edu/show/about-survey-of-the-health-of-wisconsin/36193

Scisney-Matlock, M., Glazewki, L., McClerking, C., & Kachorek, L. (2006).

Development and evaluation of DASH diet tailored messages for hypertension

treatment. Applied Nursing Research, 19(2): 78-87.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apnr.2005.05.005

- Siegner, A., Sowerwine, J., & Acey, C. (2018). Does urban agriculture improve food security? examining the nexus of food access and distribution of urban produced foods in the United States: A systematic review. *Sustainability*, 10(9), 2988. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su10092988</u>
- Sheffield, P. E., & Landrigan, P. J. (2011). Global climate change and children's health: threats and strategies for prevention. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *119*(3), 291-298. doi:10.1289/ehp.1002233 <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1002233</u>
- Smalls, B. L., Gregory, C. M., Zoller, J. S., & Egede, L. E. (2015). Assessing the relationship between neighborhood factors and diabetes related health outcomes and self-care behaviors. *BMC Health Services Research*, 15(1), 445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-015-1086-7</u>
- Smith, L.L., Lake, N.H., Simmons, L.S., Perlman, A., Wroth, S., & Wolever, R.Q.
 (2013a). Integrative health coach training: A model for shifting the paradigm toward patient-centricity and meeting new national prevention goals. *Global Advance in Health and Medicine*, 2(3): 66-74.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3833534/pdf/gahmj.2013.034.pd

Smith, M. L., Sunil, T. S., Salazar, C. I., Rafique, S., & Ory, M. G. (2013b). Disparities of food availability and affordability within convenience stores in Bexar County, Texas. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health*, 2013, 782756. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/782756

- Soriano, F. I. (2013). Conducting needs assessments: A multidisciplinary approach (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications. <u>https://us.sagepub.com/en-us/nam/conducting-needs-assessments/book232535</u>
- Stein, K. (2016). Propelling the profession with outcomes and evidence: Building a robust research agenda at the Academy. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 116(6):1014-1030. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2016.02.018</u>
- Stone, W. (2001). Measuring social capital: Towards a theoretically informed measurement framework for researching social capital in family and community life. [Research Paper No. 24] Melbourne 3000 Australia: Australian Institute of Family Studies – Commonwealth of Australia.

https://aifs.gov.au/research/research-reports/measuring-social-capital

- Swierad, E.M., Vartanian, L.R., & King, M. (2017). The influence of ethnic and mainstream cultures on African Americans' health behavior: A qualitative study. *Behavioral Sciences*, 7, 49. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs7030049
- Tabachnick, B.G., & Fidell, L.S. (2018). Using multivariate statistics (7th edn). Boston: Pearson Education.

Tarasuk, V., Cheng, J., de Oliveira, C., Dachner, N., Gundersen, C., & Kurdyak, P.
(2015). Association between household food insecurity and annual health care costs. *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association Journal = Journal De L'association Medicale Canadienne*, 187(14), E429-E436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.150234</u>

The Academy Quality Management Committee (2018). Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics: Revised 2017 Scope of Practice for the Registered Dietitian Nutritionist. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *118*(1):141-165. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2017.10.002</u>

- The Nutrition-Cognition National Initiative (1994). *The link between nutrition and cognitive development in children*, 1-16. Medford, MA.: Center on Hunger, Poverty and Nutrition Policy, Tufts University, School of Nutrition. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED374903.pdf</u>
- Tkatch, R., Musich, S., Draklellis, J., Hetzel, M., Banks, J., Dugan, J., Thompson, K., & Hawkins, K. (2018). Claim More[™]: Empowering African American women to make healthy choices. *Journal of Holistic Nursing*, 20(10): 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0898010117691167</u>
- Tolzman, C., Rooney, B., Duquette, D., & Keely Rees, K., (2014). Perceived barriers to accessing adequate nutrition among food insecure households within a food desert. Wisconsin Medical Journal, 113(04), 139-143. <u>https://wmjonline.org/wpcontent/uploads/2014/113/4/139.pdf</u>
- Turner, P., Eliot, K., Kent, S., Rusnak, S., & Landers, P. (2016). Level of implementation of the Institute of Medicine recommended core competencies among dietetic

education programs. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics,

117(11):1709-1716. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2016.09.017

UCLA Institute for Digital Research and Education. (n.d). *Missing data. SPSS Learning Module*. http://statistics.ats.ucla.edu/stat/spss/modules/missing.htm

University of Minnesota Extension (2022). *Back to the Kitchen: Healthy Cooking Series*. <u>https://extension.umn.edu/snap-ed-educational-offerings/back-kitchen-healthy-</u> <u>cooking-series</u>

United Nations. Take Action for the Sustainable Development Goals,

https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-development-goals/

US Census Bureau. B01001 SEX BY AGE, 2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates. U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey Office. Web. 6 December 2018. <u>http://www.census.gov/.</u>

US Census Bureau (2021). Wisconsin.2020 Census.

https://www.census.gov/library/stories/state-by-state/wisconsin-population-

change-between-census-decade.html

US Department of Agriculture (2015). *The Farm to School Program 2012-2015: Four years in review*. <u>https://fns-prod.azureedge.net/sites/default/files/f2s/Farm-to-</u>

School-at-USDA--4-Years-in-Review.pdf

US Department of Agriculture (2016). US household food security survey module.

https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-

us/survey-tools.aspx#household

- US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service (2018a). *Definitions of food security*. <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-</u> in-the-us/definitions-of-food-security/.
- US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service (2018b). Key Statistics & Graphics. <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-</u> <u>security-in-the-us/key-statistics-graphics/</u>
- US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service (2022). *Key statistics* & *graphics*. <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-</u>security-in-the-u-s/key-statistics-graphics/
- US Department of Health and Human Services (2019). Profile of Black and African

Americans. Rockville, MD: Office of Minority Health.

https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl=3&lvlid=61

US Food and Nutrition Service (2013). Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act.

https://www.fns.usda.gov/school-meals/healthy-hunger-free-kids-act

- USDA Food and Nutrition Service (2013). *About WIC how WIC helps women, infants, and children program.* http://www.fns.usda.gov/wic/about-wic-helps
- USDA Food and Nutrition Service (2018). *Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program*. <u>https://www.fns.usda.gov/ffvp/fresh-fruit-and-vegetable-program</u>
- USDA, Food and Nutrition Service (2014). Quick facts: SNAP participation among members of the Armed Forces. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service.

http://mldc.whs.mil/public/docs/report/qol/SNAP_and_Military_Quick_Facts_Fe

b_2014_update_w_20102012_ACS.pdf.

- Utz, S.W., Williams, I.C., Jones, R., Hinton, I., Alexander, G., Yan, G., Moore, C.,
 Blankenship, J., Steeves, R., & Oliver, M.N. (2008). Culturally tailored
 intervention for rural African Americans with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Educ.*,
 34(5): 854-865. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721708323642
- UW Extension Milwaukee County (2022). Milwaukee Farmers Market Coalition: The Milwaukee Match Program 2022 Season.

https://milwaukee.extension.wisc.edu/foodwise/milwaukeefarmersmarketcoalition

- UW Population Health Institute (2022). County Health Rankings and Roads Maps. https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/
- Vaughn, C.A., Collins, R., Glosh-Dastidar, M., Beckman, R., & Dubowitz, T. (2017).
 Does where you shop or who you are predict what you eat?: The role of store and individual characteristics in dietary intake. *Preventive Medicine*, *100*(2017): 10-16. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.03.015</u>
- Villalonga-Olives, E., Adams, I., & Kawachi, I. (2016). Article: The development of a bridging social capital questionnaire for use in population health research. SSM *Population Health*, 2613-622. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.08.008</u>
- Walden University Academic Skills Center (2014). The importance of power and sample size to research conducted.

http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/ld.php?content_id=2828808

Walsh, M.E., & Theodorakakis, M.D. (2017). The impact of economic inequality on children's development and achievement. *Religions* 8(4), 67. https://doi.org/10.3390/rel8040067

- Weaver, R.R., Lemonde, M., Payman, N., & Goodman, W.M. (2013). Health capabilities and diabetes self-management: The impact of economic, social, and cultural resources. Social *Science & Medicine*, *102*(2014): 58-68. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/jsocscimed.2013.11.033
- Weber, K. (2000). A Theory of Everything: An Integral Vision for Business, Politics, Science and Spirituality, p. 153. Boston: Shambhala Publications.
- Weinfield, N.S., Mills, G., Borger, C., Gearing, M., Macaluso, T., Montaquila, J., & Zedlewski, S. (2014). *Hunger in America 2014: National report*. <u>http://help.feedingamerica.org/HungerInAmerica/hunger-in-america-2014-full-report.pdf.</u>
- Whitley, S. (2013). Changing Times in Rural America: Food Assistance and Food Insecurity in Food Deserts. *Journal of Family Social Work*, *16*(1), 36–52.
 <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/10522158.2012.736080</u>
- Whitmore Schanzenbach, D. (2016). Strengthening SNAP to reduce food insecurity and promote economic growth. The Brookings Institute, Washington, D.C. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/up-front/2016/04/21/strengthening-snap-toreduce-food-insecurity-and-promote-economic-growth/</u>
- Whitt-Glover, M. C., Hunter, J. C., Foy, C. G., Quandt, S. A., Vitolins, M. Z., Leng, I.,Hornbuckle, L. M., Sanya, K. A., & Bertoni, A. G. (2013). Translating theDietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet for use in underresourced,

urban African American communities, 2010. *Preventing chronic disease*, *10*, 120088. <u>https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd10.120088</u>

- Widmer, E. D., Orita, A., Gauthier, J.-A., Sénac, N., Cucchia, A. T., Stekel, K., & Grasset, F. (2008). How central and connected am I in my family? Bridging and bonding social capital in family configurations of young adults with psychiatric disorders. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 54(6), 550–561.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764008091437
- Williams, D. (2006). On and off the 'net: Scales for social capital in an online era. Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 11(2006):593–628. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2006.00029.x
- Williams, N.Y. (2016). The relationship between stress, coping strategies, and social support among single mothers. Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies. 2338. <u>https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/2338</u>
- Willis, D. E., & Fitzpatrick, K. M. (2019). Food insecurity and social capital among middle school students. *Youth & Society*, 51(8), 1127–1144. <u>https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0044118X17725460</u>
- Windome, R., Jensen, A., Bangerter, A. (2015). Food insecurity among veterans of the US wars in Iraq and Afghanistan. *Public Health Nutrition*, 18(5):844-849. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S136898001400072X</u>
- Winston, C. N. (2016). An existential-humanistic-positive theory of human motivation. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, 44(2), 142-163. https://doi.org/10.1037/hum0000028

Winston, C. N., Maher, H., & Easvaradoss, V. (2017). Needs and values: An

exploration. The Humanistic Psychologist, 45(3), 295-311.

https://doi.org/10.1037/hum0000054

Wisconsin Department of Health Services (2021). Healthiest Wisconsin 2020: State Health Plan. <u>https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/hw2020/index.htm</u>

Wisconsin Department of Health Services (2019). Milwaukee County Population.

Madison, WI. https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/population/milwaukee.htm

- Wisconsin Department of Health Services (2011). The epidemic of chronic disease in Wisconsin: Why it matters to the economy and what you can do to help. Madison,
 WI: The Surveillance and Epidemiology Ad Hoc Workgroup Report. <u>https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/publications/p0/p00238.pdf</u>
- Wisconsin Department of Health Services, (2018). About us: Wisconsin state health improvement plan: 2018 addendum. Madison, Wisconsin: Division of Public Health. <u>https://healthy.wisconsin.gov/content/about-us</u>
- Wisconsin Department of Public Instructions (n.d.). *National School Lunch Program*. https://dpi.wi.gov/school-nutrition/national-school-lunch-program
- Wisconsin State Legislature (n.d.). Wisconsin State Legislature Home.

https://legis.wisconsin.gov/

Wong, J. B., Coates, P. M., Russell, R. M., Dwyer, J. T., Schuttinga, J. A., Bowman,
B.A., & Peterson, S. A. (2011). Economic analysis of nutrition interventions for chronic disease prevention: methods, research, and policy. *Nutrition Reviews*, 69(9), 533-549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2011.00412.x</u>
Wong, J. C., Scott, T., Wilde, P., Yin-Ge, L., Tucker, K. L., & Gao, X. (2016). Food insecurity is associated with subsequent cognitive decline in the Boston Puerto Rican Health Study. *Journal of Nutrition*, *146*(9), 1740-1745.

https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.115.228700

- World Health Organization (2015). Health in 2015 from MDGs, millennium development goals to SDGs, sustainable development goals. WHO Press, Geneva, Switzerland. <u>http://www.who.int/gho/publications/mdgs-sdgs/en/</u>
- World Food Programme (2017). *Refugee influx Emergency Vulnerability Assessment* (*REVA*) - Summary report. Cox's Bazar, Bangladesh.

https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/WFP-0000050429/download/

World Food Programme, Food and Agricultural Organization, & Shushilan (2011). A rapid food security assessment at Satkhira in the context of recent flood and water logging. Satkhira, Bangladesh. <u>http://www.un-bd.org/Docs/Publication/Rapid%20Food%20Security%20Assessment%20-</u>

%20Satkhira%20Floods%20and%20Water%20Logging%205.9.11.Pdf

- Young, S., Patterson, L., Wolff, M., Greer, Y., & Wynne, N. (2015). Empowerment, leadership, and sustainability in a faith-based partnership to improve health. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 54(6), 2086-2098. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10943-014-9911-6
- Zhang, Q, Jones, S., Ruhm, C.J., & Andrews, M. (2013). Higher food prices may threaten food security status among American low-income households with children. *Journal of Nutrition*, 143(10): 1659-1665 <u>https://doi.org/10.3945/jn.112.170506</u>

Appendix A: Notification of Approval to Proceed to Final Study Stage

workflow@laureate.net

To: Yvonne Greer

Cc: Patrick A. Tschida; Vibha Kumar

Wed 2/3/2021 5:57 PM

Congratulations! Your Walden Institutional Review Board application has been approved. As such, you are approved by Walden University to proceed to the final study stage.

If you have questions about the final study process, please contact drph@mail.waldenu.edu.

Notification of Approval to Conduct Research - Yvonne Greer

IRB irb@mail.waldenu.edu

To: Yvonne Greer

Cc: Patrick A. Tschida

Wed 2/3/2021 5:53 PM

Dear Ms. Greer,

This email confirms receipt of the documentation for the partner organization and also serves as your notification that Walden University has approved BOTH your doctoral study proposal and your application to the Institutional Review Board. As such, you are approved by Walden University to conduct research with this site.

Congratulations!

Libby Munson

Research Ethics Support Specialist, Office of Research Ethics and Compliance

Leilani Gjellstad IRB Chair, Walden University

Information about the Walden University Institutional Review Board, including instructions for application, may be found at this link: <u>http://academicguides.waldenu.edu/researchcenter/orec</u>

IRB Approval Granted, Conditional upon Partner Approval - Yvonne Greer



This email is to notify you that the Institutional Review Board (IRB) has approved your application for the study entitled, "Social Capital and Food Insecurity in Two Counties in Wisconsin," <u>conditional</u> upon the approval of the research partner, as documented in the notification of approval, which will need to be submitted to the Walden IRB when obtained. You may not commence the study until the Walden IRB confirms receipt of that notification of approval. Our records indicate that you will be analyzing data provided to you by The University of Wisconsin Madison as collected under its oversight. Since this study will serve as a Walden doctoral capstone, the Walden IRB will oversee your capstone data analysis and results reporting. The IRB approval number for this study is 12-08-20-0541808, which expires when your student status ends.

This confirmation is contingent upon your adherence to the exact procedures described in the final version of the documents that have been submitted to <u>IRB@mail.waldenu.edu</u> as of this date. This includes maintaining your current status with the university and the oversight relationship is only valid while you are an actively enrolled student at Walden University. If you need to take a leave of absence or are otherwise unable to remain actively enrolled, this is suspended.

If you need to make any changes to your research staff or procedures, you must obtain IRB approval by submitting the IRB Request for Change in Procedures Form. You will receive confirmation with a status update of the request within 10 business days of submitting the change request form and are not permitted to implement changes prior to receiving approval. Please note that Walden University does not accept responsibility or liability for research activities conducted without the IRB's approval, and the University will not accept or grant credit for student work that fails to comply with the policies and procedures related to ethical standards in research.

When you submitted your IRB materials, you made a commitment to communicate both discrete adverse events and general problems to the IRB within 1 week of their occurrence/realization. Failure to do so may result in invalidation of data, loss of academic credit, and/or loss of legal protections otherwise available to the researcher.

Both the Adverse Event Reporting form and Request for Change in Procedures form can be obtained on the Tools and Guides page of the Walden website: <u>https://academicguides.waldenu.edu/research-center/research-ethics/tools-guides</u>

Doctoral researchers are required to fulfill all of the Student Handbook's <u>Doctoral</u> <u>Student Responsibilities Regarding Research Data</u> regarding raw data retention and dataset confidentiality, as well as logging of all recruitment, data collection, and data management steps. If, in the future, you require copies of the originally submitted IRB materials, you may request them from Institutional Review Board.

Please note that this letter indicates that the IRB has confirmed your study meets Walden University's ethical standards. You may not begin the doctoral study analysis phase of your doctoral study, however, until you have received the **Notification of Approval to Conduct Research** e-mail. Once you have received this notification by email, you may begin your study's data analysis.

Both students and faculty are invited to provide feedback on this IRB experience at the link below:

http://www.surveymonkey.com/s.aspx?sm=qHBJzkJMUx43pZegKlmdiQ_3d_3d

Sincerely, Libby Munson Research Ethics Support Specialist Office of Research Ethics and Compliance Walden University 100 Washington Avenue South, Suite 1210 Minneapolis, MN 55401 Email: irb@mail.waldenu.edu Appendix B: SHOW Student Research Application and Approval Letter

7/20/2018

Walden University Doctoral Candidate in Public Health

Goal: To use SHOW data as the basis for doctoral capstone research. To look more specifically at the differences in the types of social capital present (bonding, bridging, informal and formal community structural) within the highest food hardship versus lowest food hardship congressional districts so that tailored recommendations can be formulated to guide nutritional coaching of high-risk households in Milwaukee County.

Model similar to Social Ecological Model

Individual internal, individual external, community internal and community external factors as evaluation points for intervening to bring about change. Social Capital – need social structure, social support, social connectedness to bring about social change

MONTH	WHO	WHAT
July	SHOW	1. Share relevant codebooks for instruments with potential data points of interest and begin to map out variables for request
August	YG	2. Provide zip code groupings to SHOW for congressional districts of interest so SHOW can determine N available for main comparisons.
	YG	3. Confirm key variables of interest and map out structure of target dataset (1 record per household or multiple records for household, etc.) for addressing research questions. May require additional consultation with SHOW.

Steps/timeline

	SHOW	4. Determine N with data available in Milwaukee by zip code groupings identified for key research question/s (SHOW).
Sept	YG/SHOW	5. Work with mentors/collaborators/SHOW to map out plans for data analysis (de-identified vs. limited dataset) including where data will be stored/analyzed (SPSS vs. SAS/SHOW servers* vs. elsewhere depending on nature of dataset).
	YG	6. Complete LOI student data request form to describe the project for approval and for identifying potential additional collaborator(s)/mentor(s). Submit to SHOW.
	SHOW	7. Build dataset once approved by SHOW Directors
Oct	YG	8. Obtain IRB approval for the project.
Nov	SHOW	9. Deliver dataset once receive IRB approval.

*If working on SHOW servers – once have IRB approval, request UW NetID and SHOW login (takes 1-2 weeks)

Notes. Has worked with Amy Meinen and Pat Remington (Health Tide)

Targeting SHOW 2014-2016 data

Interested in working with data at SHOW site? – if needed/if can't work with dataset otherwise. Discuss whether SHOW will have remote data access by fall.

Survey of the Health of Wisconsin (SHOW) 1300 University Ave, Room 1097 Medical Sciences Center 610 N. Walnut St., Room 628 WARF Bldg. tjlecaire@show.wisc.edu



School of Medicine and Public Health

UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN MADISON

SHOW Student Project Proposal and Data Request Form

College Affiliation: Walden University, School Public Health Department Health Sciences

Project type:

Undergraduate Project MPH Capstone Cl MS Thesis C] PhD Dissertation Other, specify: DrPH Candidate from Walden University, Capstone Research Project

1) Title of Project

Examining Social Capital and Food Hardship Disparities in Milwaukee County

2) Advisors & SHOW Mentor(s) (Name(s) / Affiliation(s))

Tammy LeCarie, SHOW Associate Director; My Walden DrPH Committee Chair, Dr. Patrick Tschida

Committee member, Dr. Vibha Kumar, & URR reviewer, Dr. Michael Furukawa.

Addressing hunger and food insecurity has been recognized as a global public health issue. In the United States, approximately 48 million people struggle with food insecurity, which is significantly higher than the level seen in 2006 (i.e., 35 million) prior to the recent recession period (Food Research & Action Center, 2015). Today, there are more than 15 food assistance programs that make up the US food safety net system (FRAC, 2017). Yet, it was reported that the food assistance system was still not sufficient to elevate households experiencing very low food insecurity out of food hardship, leading to the greater use of food pantries and meal assistance programs (Friedens Community Ministries, 2017). Moreover, State reforms, such as the work requirement for SNAP recipients enacted in 2015 by the State of Wisconsin, have led to thousands of individuals being deemed ineligible for assistance, resulting in capacity concerns by the private food assistance networks (Beck, 2015; Friedens Community Ministries, 2017). Hunger advocates concluded that other influencing factors need to be addressed such as social connectedness and community support capacity with continued public policy and environmental strategies/innovations, if we are to achieve food security for all (Anderson, Butcher, Hoynes, & Whitmore Schanzenbach, 2016).

4) Aims/Specific Objectives (or hypotheses to be addressed)

A. How does the four types of social capital (bonding, bridging, community structuralformal, community structural-informal) differ between households within the highest food hardship district versus the households within the lowest food hardship district within Milwaukee County?

B. Does the level of social capital offset the effects of lower income on food hardship households in Milwaukee County?

- C. Is the level of social capital predictive of food hardship in African Americans households within Milwaukee County?
- D. How does the perceptions of health and health practices differ between households within the highest food hardship district versus the households within the lowest food hardship district within Milwaukee County?

281

5) Keywords (up to five)

Food Hardship, Social Capital, Health Promotion, Food Insecurity

6) Type of Study

The project is based on the following (check one or both): SHOW core data [\$ Ancillary Study (please specify) City of Mil. Comm. Health Assessment

7) Data Needed (Please list the variables by name, rather than by topic only. See the SHOW codebooks at <u>https://show.wisc.edu/data/</u>for variable names and descriptions. Feel free to email us at <u>data@show.wisc.edu</u> if you have any questions. You may attach a separate listing/spreadsheet if needed.

Years of data collection:

2014-2016

Main Outcome(s):

Disparities in WI's highest & lowest food hardship districts by zip

Main Exposure(s):

Four types of Social Capital Variables: Bonding, Bridging, Community Structural Formal & Informal Connections (See Attached)

Other data [Confounders, Modifiers]:

Other variables: age, gender, educational level, income, race, family size, job status, perceptions of health & health practices examined to determine the relationship effect size (See Attached)

8) Anticipated type of publication (check all that apply) Peer reviewed journal

Presentation at a scientific conference

Lay press/media
To be determined
Other (please specify): Presentation at Coalition Meeting/Community
Town Hall

9) IRB Status

[3 SHOW Core Team Member Separate IRB protocol by investigator: Walden IRB protocol #

C] IRB approved IRB pending

I request to be a SHOW core team member for the duration of the project

10)Proposed Timeline/Milestones:

Expected time frame during which you will be analyzing the requested data:

11/2018 -12/2019

Expected date for destruction of data files*:

5/31/2020

Notes/Special Requirements

May need assistance with SAS statistical analysis software.

Walden provides SPSS training/software. Willing to learn SAS, if necessary.

Data Use Agreement

By submitting this application, I agree to the below conditions of use:

I understand that via my application I am agreeing to the following statements and terms (please check each box):

I agree to use data only for the purpose outlined in this Request for Data form. If a secondary use is desired, I will complete a new data request/agreement form.

I agree to document IRB approval for proposed use of the SHOW data prior to release of the data by SHOW.

I agree that I will maintain the confidentiality of the data and not share any SHOW data with persons not noted on this form. I assume responsibility for ensuring that my research team listed on this form is aware of confidentiality requirements and will adhere to all IRB and data privacy and security requirements. No attempts to identify individuals, families, or households may be made. We will not disclose or publish data whereby a sample unit or survey respondent could be identified or related to any particular individual, family, or household.

I agree that data must be stored on a password-protected drive (personal computer or server). Data should be transferred directly to this drive using UW-Box or other secure method with the assistance of the SHOW Data Team. No other copy of the data is allowed. I agree to permanently delete/destroy dataset files after completion of this project, per the expected date of destruction of data files as noted in the data request.

I agree to submit a manuscript proposal form to the SHOW Publication Committee should I wish to produce a publication based on the requested data and to adhere to the policies outlined in the SHOW Publication Policy. This includes review of a manuscript or abstract at least 2 weeks prior to the submission deadline for publication, if requested by the Publication Committee at the time of approval.

I agree to cite the "Survey of the Health of Wisconsin" as a source of the data in all publications proceeding from the proposed study.

I understand that failure to adhere to these terms by me or anyone on my research team will be deemed non-compliant with SHOW policies as well as UW-Madison rules and regulations and at minimum could result in the loss of the opportunity to use SHOW data in the future.

* SHOW policy on Data Management:

SHOW has devised the most stringent data security plan that is feasible given the complex nature of the survey design. All data and specimens collected on human subjects in the

Survey of the Health of Wisconsin are protected from technical and physical loss and damage and from disclosure of identifiable data from the initial point of collection through interim storage, transport, transmissions, downloads, processing, final storage, and distribution of datasets and specimens. Per SHOW policies datasets obtained via this request cannot be shared with persons not listed on this request. After completion of your project, we request that dataset files are permanently deleted/destructed.

Please send completed form electronically to <u>data@show.wisc.edu</u>





January 26, 2021

Yvonne D. Greer, MPH, RD, CD Nutritional Consultant for Healthy Living Doctor of Public Health Candidate Walden University

Dear Yvonne Greer:

We are writing to express our enthusiastic support and collaborative commitment to the use of the Survey of the Health of Wisconsin (SHOW) data. SHOW is a state-wide public health survey infrastructure, funded by the Wisconsin Partnership Program. SHOW is funded with the intent of providing data and services to researchers, practitioners, and other interested parties in order to improve our understanding of health and health equity in the state of Wisconsin and beyond.

We are excited and eager to provide data to Yvonne to support her research interests on social capital and food insecurity. This research project is well-aligned with the overall mission of the SHOW program to support and promote public health in the state of Wisconsin. All participants in SHOW completed an informed consent at the in-home recruitment visit, as approved by the University of Wisconsin-Madison Institutional Review Board. SHOW participant health data shared with Yvonne and her research team will be coded and de-identified.

Thank you for including the SHOW project in your research proposal. We look forward to our continued collaborations and a favorable review of this proposal.

Sincerely,

angdelight

Amy Schultz, PhD, MS Assistant Director - Survey of the Health of Wisconsin (SHOW) Department of Population Health Sciences University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health

Appendix C: Number of Children and Number of People in the Household

Dane County (FIPS 25) and Milwaukee County (FIPS 79)

Table C1

Number of Children 0-17 Living in the Household

			Dane M	filwaukee	Total
Number of children age	0	Count	163	206	369
0-17 living in the household		% within FIPS	69.4%	61.5%	64.7%
	1	Count	24	50	74
		% within FIPS	10.2%	14.9%	13.0%
	2	Count	25	39	64
		% within FIPS	10.6%	11.6%	11.2%
	3	Count	13	23	36
		% within FIPS	5.5%	6.9%	6.3%
	4	Count	10	12	22
		% within FIPS	4.3%	3.6%	3.9%
	5	Count	0	1	1
		% within FIPS	0.0%	0.3%	0.2%
	7	Count	0	2	2

		% within FIPS	0.0%	0.6%	0.4%
	8	Count	0	2	2
		% within FIPS	0.0%	0.6%	0.4%
Total		Count	235	335	570
		% within FIPS	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

Adapted From: "Survey of the Health of Wisconsin." University of Wisconsin-Madison, School of Medicine and Public Health (2017). <u>http://www.med.wisc.edu/show/about-</u> survey-of-the-health-of-wisconsin/36193

Table C2

Number of People of Any Age Living in the Household

			Dane	Milwaukee	Total
Number of people of	1	Count	39	64	103
household		% within FIPS	16.6%	19.1%	18.1%
	2	Count	96	111	207
		% within FIPS	40.9%	33.1%	36.3%
	3	Count	42	56	98
		% within FIPS	17.9%	16.7%	17.2%
	4	Count	25	45	70
		% within FIPS	10.6%	13.4%	12.3%

	5	Count	21	30	51
		% within FIPS	8.9%	9.0%	8.9%
	6	Count	6	10	16
		% within FIPS	2.6%	3.0%	2.8%
	7	Count	6	1	7
		% within FIPS	2.6%	0.3%	1.2%
	8	Count	0	15	15
		% within FIPS	0.0%	4.5%	2.6%
	9	Count	0	1	1
		% within FIPS	0.0%	0.3%	0.2%
	13	Count	0	2	2
		% within FIPS	0.0%	0.6%	0.4%
Total		Count	235	335	570
		% within FIPS	100.0 %	100.0%	100.0%

Adapted From: "Survey of the Health of Wisconsin." University of Wisconsin-Madison, School of Medicine and Public Health (2017). http://www.med.wisc.edu/show/aboutsurvey-of-the-health-of-wisconsin/36193

Table D1.

Data Dictionary Table for the Social Capital and Food Insecurity Survey (SCFIS) Analysis

Variable	Working	Variable	Field	Field	Comments/
category	file	description	range	level	adjustments
Demographics					
School/ Educational level	DMQ010	Highest level of school completed, or highest degree received	1-15, starting at r ^{6th} grade through Doctoral degree	Ordinal	Would merge to create five ordinal categories
Marital Status	DMQ040	What is your marital status?	1-6	Nominal	Also includes never married and living with a partner
Race	DMQ060_1	White alone or in combination	2	Nominal	
	DMQ060_2	Black alone or in combination	2	Nominal	
	Race_Ethnicity _4CAT	Combination of race and ethnicity into 4 categories	4	Nominal	Used for demographic review

Transportation	DMQ100	Currently, own or lease a car or truck	2	Nominal		292
Gender	Adm data	Female, male	2	Nominal		
Age of Adults	Adm data	18 years of age and up to 98	1-6 categories	Interval	Will also merge ages to create two additional categories, 18-44 and 45- 65	
Ages of Children in the household	Adm data	In 2-year intervals	0-17	Interval	Will use only total of households with 0-17 children in analysis	
Income	INQ200	The combined income of all household members	1-18	Ratio	Before taxes	
	INQ201	# People in Household supported by the combined income	1-9	Interval		
*Poverty levels Federal Poverty Levels updated Annually	B Poverty_100	Annual combined family income above or below 100% of	2	Ratio		

	Federal Poverty Guidelines			
Poverty_150	Midpoint of annual combined household income range above or below 150% of Federal Poverty Guidelines	2	Ratio	
Poverty_200	Midpoint of annual combined household income range above or below 200% of Federal Poverty Guidelines	2	Ratio	
Poverty Level	Annual federal poverty guidelines from HHS based on number of people in the household	1-9	Ratio	Would need to develop Poverty categories for midpoint above or below 300% & 400% of Federal Poverty Guidelines

Residence	HOQ065_R2	Residence: Ownership of home or Renting	1-4	Nominal
Geography	FMT_Urban_2 CAT	Urban or Rural	2	Nominal
Insurance/ Medical Coverage	IUQ020_R2_A	What kind(s) of health insurance or health care coverage do you have now	1-3	Nominal
	IUQ030	Prescription medication cost covered	1-3	Ordinal
	IUQ040	Cost of preventive dental care covered	1-3	Ordinal
	IUQ050	Cost of other preventative care covered for adults	1-4	Ordinal
Connections to healthcare or health information	IUQ100	Used the internet for information on health	2	Nominal

IUQ115	Need help when reading written instructions from doctor or pharmacy	2	Nominal
IUQ120	Have a usual place to go when feeling sick	7	Nominal
IUQ128	At this health facility usually see: General doctor, specialist doctor, nurse practitioner, physician assistant, or someone else	1-5	Nominal
IUQ180	Last 12 months, # of times went to an emergency room	Frequency of all respondents	Ratio
IUQ190	Last 12 months, # of times a patient in the hospital for one night or longer	Frequency of all respondents	Ratio
IUQ260_R2	Any time needed	2	Nominal

					296	
		medical care but did not get it				
	IUQ265	Main reason did not get health care	10	Nominal		
Food Security	FSQ002	Worried food would run out	1-5	Nominal		
	FSQ003	Food did not last through the month	1-5	Nominal		
	FSQ004	Could not afford balanced meals	1-5	Nominal		
	FSQ080	Not enough food for the family	1-3	Nominal		
	FSQ151_R2	Emergency food last year	1-4	Ordinal		
	FSQ170_R2	Food Stamps last year	1-4	Ordinal		
	FSQ162_R2	WIC last year	1-4	Ordinal		
	FSQ180	Government assistance helps with difficult situation	1-6	Nominal		
	FSQ185	Government assistance	1-6	Nominal		

		helps prevent hunger			
	FSQ190	Application process is humiliating	1-6	Nominal	
	FSQ195	Government assistance rules takes away personal freedom	1-6	Nominal	
Diet	DIQ100	Times eaten at fast food	1-6	Ratio	
	DIQ110	Times eaten at fast-casual restaurants	1-7	Ratio	
	DIQ115	Times eaten at All-U-Can- Eat	1-7	Ratio	
	DIQ120	Times eaten at sit down restaurants	1-7	Ratio	
	DIQ410M	Grocery store distance	Text response	Ratio	
	DIQ410N	Grocery store name	Text response	Nominal	
	DIQ415	Percent of groceries purchased there	Frequency of all respondents	Interval	

	DIQ416_A	Reasons for shopping at this store	1-14	Nominal	
	DIQ420	How often shopping at farmer's market or local farms	1-4	Ratio	
	DIQ430	Membership in CSA group	1-3	Nominal	
	DIQ440	Grown or produced any of your own food	1-2	Nominal	
Occupation	OCQ100	Job status, last week	1-5	Nominal	
	OCQ110	Not working, reason out of work	1-8	Nominal	
	OCQ125	Worked past week, hours in past week	Frequency of respondents	Interval	
	OCQ127	Worked past week, normal work hours <u>>35 hours</u>	2	Interval	Will address high missing data using mean worked
	OCQ130	Current job: Kind of work done, Code	Text Code	Nominal	

						299
	OCQ130_TEX T	Current job: Kind of work done, Text	Text Response	Nominal		
	OCQ150	Current job: Type of business or industry, Code	Text Code	Nominal		
	OCQ150_TEX T	Current Job: Type of business or industry, Text	Text Response	Nominal		
	OCQ175	Current Job: On average, hours per week worked	Frequency of Respondents	Interval	Will address high missing data using mean worked	
	OCQ14020	Current Job: Distance from home to place of work (miles)	Frequency of Distance	Ratio	Will address high missing data using mean of distance	
Sense of Community/Ci vic Engagement	Community050	Political Participation	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – formal SC	
	Community060	Have a say in what government does	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – formal SC	
	Community070	Actively participates	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – informal SC	

in my community

Community090 Can get what I need in my neighborhood	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – Informal SC
Community100 Neighborhoo d fulfills my needs	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – Informal SC
Community110 Belong to neighborhood	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural - Informal
Community120 Have a say about what goes on in neighborhood	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – Informal SC
Community130 Influence one another	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – Informal SC
Community140 Connected to the neighborhood	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – Informal SC
Community150 Bond with others in the neighborhood	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – Informal SC
Community170 Sent a letter or call to influence policy	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – formal SC
Community180 Attended community services event	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – Informal SC

Community190 Attended a meeting to pressure for change	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – formal SC
Community200 Attended a meeting about neighborhood issues	1-5	Nominal	Comm. Structural – Informal SC

Neighborhood Characteristics	NBRHD001_A	Walk to the park	1-6	Ratio
	NBRHD001_B	Walk to the recreation center	1-6	Ratio
	NBRHD001_C	Walk to the trail	1-6	Ratio
	NBRHD001_D	Walk to the public pool	1-6	Ratio
	NBRHD001_E	Walk to the grocery store	1-6	Ratio
	NBRHD001_F	Walk to the supermarket	1-6	Ratio
	NBRHD001_H	Walk to library	1-6	Ratio
	NBRHD001_K	Walk to fast food	1-6	Ratio
	NBRHD001_L	Walk to other restaurant	1-6	Ratio

NBRHD001_ M	Walk to pharmacy	1-6	Ratio
NBRHD001_O	Walk to other type of store	1-6	Ratio
NBRHD001_P	Walk to place of worship	1-6	Ratio
NBRHD001_Q	Walk to fitness facility	1-6	Ratio
NBRHD001_S	Walk to senior center	1-6	Ratio
NBRHD002	Rate your community as physically active	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD003	Safe from crime	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD004	Safe from traffic	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD005_C	Community well maintained	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD005_D	Access to fruits and vegetables	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD006_A _R2	Close to work/job	1-4	Ordinal

NBRHD006_B _R2	Lots of trees and other greenery	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD006_C _R2	Close to family and friends	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD006_E _R2	Affordable housing	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD006_F _R2	Friendly neighbors	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD006_G _R2	Safe, low crime area	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD006_K _R2	High racial or ethnic diversity	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD006_ M_R2	Lots of things to do	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD006_N _R2	Outdoor recreational opportunities	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD006_O _R2	Easy access to public transportation	1-4	Ordinal
NBRHD006_P _R2	Easy access to healthcare or other	1-4	Ordinal
	services		

	NBRHD006_R	Opportunities for outdoor activities during free time	1-4	Ordinal	
	NBRHD006_S	Easy access to gym or other workout facilities	1-4	Ordinal	
Milwaukee Supplemental	Milwaukee070	Trouble making ends meet	1-4	Nominal	
	Milwaukee080	Housing a problem	2	Nominal	
	Milwaukee090 _A	Threatened with foreclosure	2	Nominal	
	Milwaukee090 _B	Not enough money for rent	2	Nominal	
	Milwaukee090 _C	Evicted by landlord	2	Nominal	
	Milwaukee090 _D	None of the above	2	Nominal	
	Milwaukee100	Child in Head Start – Ever	1-3	Nominal	Comm. Structural – Formal SC
	Milwaukee110	Child in Head Start/Prescho ol – Now	1-4	Nominal	Comm. Structural – formal SC

	Milwaukee120	Do you feel safe in your relationship	1-3	Nominal	Bonding SC
Adverse Life Events in past 12 months	Life_1	Death of a spouse	2	Nominal	
	Life_2	Divorced	2	Nominal	
	Life_3	Separated	2	Nominal	
	Life_4	Detention in jail or institution	2	Nominal	
	Life_5	Death of a family member (not including spouse)	2	Nominal	
	Life_6	Major illness or injury	2	Nominal	
	Life_7	Marriage in last 12 months	2	Nominal	
	Life_8	Being fired	2	Nominal	
	Life_9	Reconciliatio n with spouse	2	Nominal	
	Life_10	Retirement from work	2	Nominal	
	Life_11	Major change in health or behavior of a family member	2	Nominal	

Life_12	Pregnancy	2	Nominal
Life_14	New family member	2	Nominal
Life_17	Death of a friend	2	Nominal
Life_18	Change in work	2	Nominal
Life_19	Arguments	2	Nominal
Life_21	Foreclosure on a mortgage or loan	2	Nominal
Life_23	Son or daughter leaving home	2	Nominal
Life_30	Trouble with boss	2	Nominal
Life_39	Family get togethers	2	Nominal
Life_40	Eating habits	2	Nominal
Life_41	Vacation	2	Nominal
Life_42	Holiday spent alone	2	Nominal
Life_44	None of these events	2	Nominal

Adapted From: "Survey of the Health of Wisconsin." *University of Wisconsin-Madison, School of Medicine and Public Health* (2017). <u>http://www.med.wisc.edu/show/about-</u> survey-of-the-health-of-wisconsin/36193

Dataset information:

Created for: YDGCreated by: Andy BerschEmail contact: abersch@show.wisc.eduDate created: 2021-01-07Date request number: 361

Dataset metadata:

Years included: 2014 - 2016

Data populations included: civilian, non-institutionalized adults in WI age 18 years or older

Sub-group population variables created for analysis:

None, but we recommend coding a categorical variable based on county of residence with categories for Milwaukee, Dane, and all other counties.

Main Outcome(s): Food Insecurity

Recommended survey design variables to use:

In SAS, use the proc survey functions (surveylogistic, surveymeans, surveyreg etc.).

In SPSS, use the Complex Samples Analysis Preparation Wizard to create an analysis plan.

https://www.ibm.com/support/knowledgecenter/en/SSLVMB_26.0.0/statistics_casestudie s_project_ddita/spss/tutorials/prepwiz_nhis_howto.html

Weight = WEIGHT_SAQ

Cluster = PSU

Strata = STRATA_FINAL

Domain = to be determined (see sub-group population variable described above)

*In SAS if you do any sub-population analyses, you must use the domain statement as well. For example, if you stratify your analysis into 2 age groups, create a binary variable (0,1) for the 2 age groups and put that variable into the domain statement.

Questions to think about when analyzing these data?

- When were the data collected in the survey, in-home questionnaire (aka IHQ or time 1), self-administered questionnaire (aka SAQ or time2) or exam appointment / biological sample collection (aka BSC or time 3)? This information is summarized in SHOW Instruments Time Table.xlsx. The answer to this question may help you understand patterns of missing data and is needed to decide which sampling weight variable(s) to use in your analysis.
- The spreadsheet, dr361_contents_20210107.xlsx, contains the list of variables in the analytic data set (in the 'Variables' sheet), as well as the value labels (what each value means) for each custom format defined for the variables in this data set (in the 'Formats' sheet).
- A few instruments changed over time from 2014 thru 2016. The 'Variables' sheet in dr361_contents_20210107.xlsx contains columns named IN_2014, IN_2015, and IN_2016 indicating whether or not a given variable is present in the data set for the specified survey year.
 - A useful way to identify these changes over time is to cross-tabulate the variable you are interested in with the variable SURVEY_YEAR. If you see an usual number of missing values or a strange pattern of missing values, then there is a good chance that something about that variable changed or maybe there is skip pattern that you need to take a closer look at.
 - Several food insecurity variables, FSQ162R2, FSQ180, FSQ185, FSQ190 and FSQ195, were only collected in 2016.
 - Similarly, IUQ128 was only collected in 2016.
 - LIFE was not administered in 2014 so that explains the odd pattern of missing data for that instrument.
 - A few different changes occurred in the neighborhood questionnaire (NBRHD). A potentially major change was the elimination of response
option 'Neutral' in 2015 and 2016 (Note: this change is connected to the change in variable name adding _R2 and format). The other changes are the addition of a few items in 2016.

• SHOW data collected from 2014 through 2016 are from one sample collected over a three-year period. The distinction of survey year was made primarily for logistical reasons related to data collection and processing. For statistical purposes it is best to treat these data as one sample where the results are interpreted as averages spanning 2014 through 2016.